# FOSTERING RAPID ADVANCES IN HEALTH CARE



LEARNING

System

FROM

**DEMONSTRATIONS** 

INSTITUTE OF MEDICINE
OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES

# Fostering Rapid Advances in Health Care

**Learning from System Demonstrations** 

Committee on Rapid Advance Demonstration Projects: Health Care Finance and Delivery Systems

Janet M. Corrigan, Ann Greiner, Shari M. Erickson, Editors

Board on Health Care Services
INSTITUTE OF MEDICINE OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES

#### THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES PRESS 500 FIFTH STREET, N.W. Washington, DC 20001

NOTICE: The project that is the subject of this report was approved by the Governing Board of the National Research Council, whose members are drawn from the councils of the National Academy of Sciences, the National Academy of Engineering, and the Institute of Medicine. The members of the committee responsible for the report were chosen for their special competences and with regard for appropriate balance. Support for this project was provided by the National Academy of Sciences. The views presented in this report are those of the Institute of Medicine Committee on Rapid Advance Demonstration Projects: Health Care Finance and Delivery Systems and are not necessarily those of the funding agencies.

International Standard Book Number 0-309-08707-4

Additional copies of this report are available from the National Academies Press, 500 Fifth Street, N.W., Lockbox 285, Washington, DC 20055; (800) 624–6242 or (202) 334–3313 (in the Washington metropolitan area); Internet, http://www.nap.edu.

For more information about the Institute of Medicine, visit the IOM home page at: www.iom.edu. Copyright 2003 by the National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved.

Printed in the United States of America.

The serpent has been a symbol of long life, healing, and knowledge among almost all cultures and religions since the beginning of recorded history. The serpent adopted as a logotype by the Institute of Medicine is a relief carving from ancient Greece, now held by the Staatliche Museen in Berlin.

"Knowing is not enough; we must apply.

Willing is not enough; we must do."

# -Goethe



INSTITUTE OF MEDICINE

OF THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES

**Shaping the Future for Health** 

iv

# THE NATIONAL ACADEMIES

National Academy of Sciences National Academy of Engineering Institute of Medicine National Research Council

The **National Academy of Sciences** is a private, nonprofit, self-perpetuating society of distinguished scholars engaged in scientific and engineering research, dedicated to the furtherance of science and technology and to their use for the general welfare. Upon the authority of the charter granted to it by the Congress in 1863, the Acade my has a mandate that requires it to advise the federal government on scientific and technical matters. Dr. Bruce M. Alberts is president of the National Academy of Sciences.

The **National Academy of Engineering** was established in 1964, under the charter of the National Academy of Sciences, as a parallel organization of outstanding engineers. It is autonomous in its administration and in the selection of its members, sharing with the National Academy of Sciences the responsibility for advising the federal government. The National Academy of Engineering also sponsors engineering programs aimed at meeting national needs, encourages education and research, and recognizes the superior achievements of engineers. Dr. Wm. A. Wulf is president of the National Academy of Engineering.

The **Institute of Medicine** was established in 1970 by the National Academy of Sciences to secure the services of eminent members of appropriate professions in the examination of policy matters pertaining to the health of the public. The Institute acts under the responsibility given to the National Academy of Sciences by its congressional charter to be an adviser to the federal government and, upon its own initiative, to identify issues of medical care, research, and education. Dr. Harvey V. Fineberg is president of the Institute of Medicine.

The National Research Council was organized by the National Academy of Sciences in 1916 to associate the broad community of science and technology with the Academy's purposes of furthering knowledge and advising the federal government. Functioning in accordance with general policies determined by the Academy, the Council has become the principal operating agency of both the National Academy of Sciences and the National Academy of Engineering in providing services to the government, the public, and the scientific and engineering communities. The Council is administered jointly by both Academies and the Institute of Medicine. Dr. Bruce M. Alberts and Dr. Wm. A. Wulf are chair and vice chair, respectively, of the National Research Council.

www.national-academies.org

**GAIL L.WARDEN** (*Chair*), President and Chief Executive Officer, Henry Ford Health System, Detroit, Michigan

ANNE M.BARRY, Acting Commissioner, Minnesota Department of Finance, St. Paul

ROBERT A.BERENSON, Senior Advisor, AcademyHealth, Washington, D.C.

DONALD M.BERWICK, President and CEO, Institute for Healthcare Improvement, Boston, Massachusetts

**BRUCE E.BRADLEY,** Director, Health Plan Strategy and Public Policy, General Motors Corporation, Detroit, Michigan

**CHRISTINE K.CASSEL,** Dean, School of Medicine and Vice President for Medical Affairs, Oregon Health and Science University, Portland

KAREN DAVIS, President, The Commonwealth Fund, New York, New York

**DON E.DETMER,** Dennis Gillings Professor of Health Management, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom, and Professor Emeritus and Professor of Medical Education, University of Virginia, Charlottesville

**ARTHUR GARSON, JR.,** Dean, School of Medicine and Vice President, University of Virginia, Charlottesville **LARRY A.GREEN,** Professor of Family Medicine, University of Colorado, Denver, and Director, The Robert Graham Center, American Academy of Family Physicians, Washington, D.C.

**JOSEPH P.NEWHOUSE,** John D.MacArthur Professor of Health Policy and Management, Harvard University, Cambridge, Massachusetts

WILLIAM L.ROPER, Dean, School of Public Health, The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill

WILLIAM M.SAGE, Professor of Law, Columbia University School of Law, New York, New York

**MARLA E.SALMON,** Dean and Professor, Nell Hodgson Woodruff School of Nursing, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia

**WILLIAM W.STEAD,** Associate Vice Chancellor for Health Affairs, Director of the Informatics Center, and Professor of Medicine and Biomedical Informatics, Vanderbilt University, Nashville, Tennessee

**EDWARD H.WAGNER,** Director, W.A.McColl Institute for Healthcare Innovation, Center for Health Studies, Group Health Cooperative of Puget Sound, Seattle, Washington

# **IOM Council Liaison**

MICHAEL M.E.JOHNS, Executive Vice President for Health Affairs and Director, Robert W.Woodruff Health Sciences Center, Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia

# Study Staff

JANET M.CORRIGAN, Director, Board on Health Care Services ANN GREINER, Deputy Director, Board on Health Care Services SHARI M.ERICKSON, Research Associate

# **Special Consultants**

**RICK CURTIS,** President, Institute for Health Policy Solutions, Washington, D.C. **RONA BRIERE,** Briere Associates, Inc.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution.

# REVIEWERS

This report has been reviewed in draft form by individuals chosen for their diverse perspectives and technical expertise, in accordance with procedures approved by the NRC's Report Review Committee. The purpose of this independent review is to provide candid and critical comments that will assist the institution in making its published report as sound as possible and to ensure that the report meets institutional standards for objectivity, evidence, and responsiveness to the study charge. The review comments and draft manuscript remain confidential to protect the integrity of the deliberative process. We wish to thank the following individuals for their review of this report:

**GERARD F.ANDERSON,** Professor, Department of Health Policy and Management Medicine and Director, Center for Hospital Finance and Management, The Johns Hopkins University

RANDALL R.BOVBJERG, Principle Research Associate, The Urban Institute

**DAVID C.CLASSEN,** Associate Professor of Medicine, University of Utah and Vice President, First Consulting Group

**ROBERT M.CRANE**, Director, Kaiser Permanente Institute for Health Policy, Kaiser Foundation Health Plan, Inc.

SHERRY GLIED, Assistant Professor of Public Health, Columbia University

BONNIE LEFKOWITZ, Consultant

**DENISE LOVE,** Executive Director, National Association of Health Data Organizations

BLACKFORD MIDDLETON, Clinical Informatics R&D, Partners HealthCare System

**ALAN NELSON,** Special Advisor to the Executive Vice President, American College of Physicians-American Society of Internal Medicine

LEN NICHOLS, Vice President, Center for Studying Health System Change

JANET OLSZEWSKI, Vice President, Government Programs and Regulation, MCARE, University of Michigan

NANCY A.WHITELAW, The National Council on the Aging

Although the reviewers listed above have provided many constructive comments and suggestions, they were not asked to endorse the conclusions or recommendations nor did they see the final draft of the report before its release. The review of this report was overseen by **ELAINE L.LARSON**, Professor of Pharmaceutical and Therapeutic Research, Columbia University, School of Nursing and **BRADFORD H.GRAY**, Editor, The Milbank Quarterly and Director, Division of Health & Science Policy, New York Academy of Medicine. Appointed by the National Research Council and Institute of Medicine, they were responsible for making certain that an independent examination of this report was carried out in accordance with institutional procedures and that all review comments were carefully considered. Responsibility for the final content of this report rests entirely with the authoring committee and the institution.

About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution.

# **Foreword**

In June 2002, Health and Human Services Secretary, Tommy Thompson, met with leaders from The National Academies, including the Presidents and selected members from the Institute of Medicine, the National Academy of Sciences and the National Academy of Engineering. Paramount among his concerns were the serious problems confronting the health care delivery system, including rapidly rising health care costs, serious quality and safety shortcomings, growing numbers of uninsured, racial and ethnic disparities in access and quality of care, and workforce shortages.

The Secretary challenged the National Academies to identify several bold ideas that might change conventional thinking about the most serious problems facing the health care system. Throughout our history, the Academies have welcomed tough assignments. Since our founding in 1863, we have called upon leading scientists to examine difficult problems and produce original insights or solutions. The recent report, *Making the Nation Safer*, describes a wide range of threats to homeland security and recommends actions to protect the nation against terrorism. The current crisis confronting the nation's health care delivery system is no less important to our long-term national interests.

The IOM responded to the Secretary's challenge through the Committee on Rapid Advance Demonstration Projects: Health Care Finance and Delivery Systems. The committee was charged with identifying a set of demonstration projects that have the potential to lead fundamental change in the health care system. The ideas presented are bold, and testing them will require resources. However, the scale of the problem requires not only paradigm shifting ideas, but a rigorous and full scale testing of those ideas before they are considered for national implementation. Under current assumptions, the Medicare trustees project that in 75 years, health care could account for 40 percent of GNP. Changing that trajectory will require wide ranging reforms and changes on the part of consumers, employers and health care professionals alike. The Secretary's request to the National Academies and others to think creatively and unconventionally is an important step in creating alternative paths to assure quality health care for the American people without preempting other vital national interests.

Sharing the Secretary's sense of urgency, the IOM committee has moved expeditiously to identify a set of demonstration projects intended to produce model delivery systems within 5 years. As a country, we must now begin the challenging task of building a health care system for the 21<sup>st</sup> century.

Harvey V.Fineberg, M.D., Ph.D. *President, Institute of Medicine* November 2002 About this PDF file: This new digital representation of the original work has been recomposed from XML files created from the original paper book, not from the original typesetting files. Page breaks are true to the original; line lengths, word breaks, heading styles, and other typesetting-specific formatting, however, cannot be retained, and some typographic errors may have been accidentally inserted. Please use the print version of this publication as the authoritative version for attribution.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS xi

# Acknowledgments

The Committee on Rapid Advance Demonstration Projects wishes to acknowledge the many people whose contributions made this report possible. First and foremost, **special thanks goes to the consultants listed below** who provided their insight, support, and expertise to the project.

**DAVID W.BATES,** Chief, Division of General Medicine, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, Massachusetts

MOLLY JOEL COYE, President, Health Technology Center, San Francisco, California

ARNOLD S.MILSTEIN, William M.Mercer, Inc., San Francisco, California

**PATRICIA SALBER,** Medical Director, Managed Care Health Care Initiatives, General Motors Corporation, Larkspur, California

**EDWARD H.SHORTLIFFE,** Professor and Chair, Department of Medical Informatics, Columbia University College of Physicians and Surgeons, New York, New York

Several other individuals also made important contributions to the committee's work. They include David Doolan of Hunter Health in New South Wales, Australia; Christopher Koppen of the National Association of Community Health Centers; Freda Mitchem of the National Association of Community Health Centers; Patricia Rutherford of the Institute for Healthcare Improvement; David M. Stevens, Health Resources and Services Administration; Kenneth E.Thorpe of the School of Public Health at Emory University; Tricia Trinite of the Health Resources and Services Administration; Nancy Whitelaw of the Henry Ford Health System and the National Council on Aging. We would also like to thank the following Institute of Medicine staff members for their valuable contributions: Philip Aspden; Wilhelmine Miller; and Dianne Wolman.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS xii

CONTENTS xiii

# **Contents**

	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
1	THE TIME FOR CHANGE HAS COME	17
	Origins of This Report	19
	Criteria for Selection of Demonstrations	19
	Supporting and Evaluating the Demonstrations	21
Other Possible Der	Other Possible Demonstration Areas	23
2	CHRONIC CARE: REDUCING THE TOLL OF CHRONIC CONDITIONS ON INDIVIDUALS AND COMMUNITIES	27
	Summary Description	27
	Background	28
	Goals	29
	Demonstration Attributes	30
	Possible Demonstration Expansions	36
3.	PRIMARY CARE: 40 STELLAR COMMUNITY HEALTH CENTERS	41
	Summary Description	41
	Background	42
	Goals	46
	Demonstration Attributes	47
4.	INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATIONS TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTURE: A "PAPERLESS" HEALTH CARE SYSTEM	57
	Summary Description	57
	Background	58
	Goals	60
	Demonstration Attributes	61
	Making Progress Toward a National ICT Infrastructure	64
5.	STATE HEALTH INSURANCE: MAKING AFFORDABLE COVERAGE AVAILABLE TO ALL AMERICANS	69
	Summary Description	69
	Background	69
	Goals	71
	Demonstration Attributes	72
	Implementation Issues	76
	1	

CONTENTS

6.	LIABILITY: PATIENT-CENTERED AND SAFETY-FOCUSED, NONJUDICIAL COMPEN-	81
	SATION	
	Summary Description	81
	Background	82
	Goals	85
	Demonstration Attributes	85

xiv

# **Executive Summary**

#### **ABSTRACT**

In response to a request from the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services, the Institute of medicine convened a committee to identify possible demonstration projects that might be implemented in 2003, with the hope of yielding models for broader health system reform within a few years. The committee is recommending a substantial portfolio of demonstration projects: 10–12 chronic care demonstrations, a primary care demonstration with 40 participating sites, 8–10 information and communications technology infrastructure demonstrations, 3–5 state health insurance coverage demonstrations, and 4–5 state liability demonstrations. As a set the demonstrations address key aspects of the health care delivery system and the financing and legal environment in which health care is provided. The launching of a carefully crafted set of demonstrations is viewed as a way to initiate a "building block" approach to health system change.

The American health care system is confronting a crisis. The cost of private health insurance is now increasing at an annual rate in excess of 12 percent, while at the same time individuals are paying more out of pocket and receiving fewer benefits (Edwards et al., 2002; Kaiser Family Foundation and Health Research and Educational Trust, 2002). One in seven Americans is uninsured, and the number of uninsured is on the rise (U.S. Census Bureau, 2001, 2002). Many states are confronting serious financial constraints that are likely to result in a narrowing of the eligibility criteria and benefits of public insurance programs (Desonia, 2002). Tens of thousands die from medical errors each year, and many more are injured (Institute of Medicine, 2000). Quality problems, including underuse of beneficial services and overuse of medically unnecessary procedures, are widespread (Leatherman and McCarthy, 2002; Schuster et al., 2001). And disturbing racial and ethnic disparities in access to and use of services call into question our fundamental values of equality and justice for all (Institute of Medicine, 2002e).

The health care delivery system is incapable of meeting the present, let alone the future needs of the American public (Institute of Medicine, 2001b). The vast majority of the nation's health care resources is now devoted to the ongoing management of chronic conditions (Anderson and Knickman, 2001a). Yet despite some laudable examples of integrated care, the delivery system consists of silos, often lacking even rudimentary information capabilities to exchange patient information, coor

dinate care across settings and multiple providers, and ensure continuity of care over time (Gandhi et al., 2000). Fixing the personal health care delivery system must be a high priority, but will not be enough. It recent years, it has become increasingly apparent that health outcomes are determined to a great extent by factors in addition to health care, including behavioral patterns, genetic predispositions, social circumstances, and environmental exposures (McGinnis et al., 2002). In the 21<sup>st</sup> century, the health care system must focus greater attention on helping people improve their health-related behaviors, including diet, exercise, and use of nicotine and alcohol.

As health care providers struggle to address these concerns, they confront sizable obstacles in the external environment, including regulatory, payment, and legal barriers, among others. The patchwork of federal and state regulatory requirements that has evolved over several decades is organized around various types of institutions (e.g., hospitals, nursing homes, home health agencies) and professionals (e.g., physicians, nurses, pharmacists). Many insurance programs fail to provide coverage for services that are critical to the care of the chronically ill, such as outpatient prescription drugs, patient education and support services, and interactions between health professionals and patients via e-mail and telephone (Anderson and Knickman, 2001b). The legal liability system does not adequately fulfill either of its two main objectives—to encourage enhanced safety and quality, and to provide timely and fair compensation to injured patients. Not surprisingly, the frustration of health care professionals is at a high level, further exacerbating the tight labor market, especially in nursing (Health Resources and Services Administration, 2000, 2002).

#### STUDY PURPOSE

It was in this context that the Secretary of Health and Human Services asked The National Academies to identify possible demonstration projects that could be implemented in 2003, with the hope of yielding viable models for broader health care system reform within a few years. In response to this request, the Institute of Medicine (IOM) initiated the Rapid Advance Demonstration Project in June 2002 to identify demonstration projects that have the potential to be transformative. In carrying out its charge, the committee has striven to identify a set of demonstration projects that would be ground-breaking and yield a very high return on investment in terms of dollars or health. Like all demonstrations, these projects should be viewed as experiments, with carefully designed evaluation components to test the effects of different interventions.

#### AMERICANS DESERVE SO MUCH MORE

In an earlier report, Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century, the IOM called for a health system that would achieve six major aims or dimensions of quality—health care should be safe, effective (i.e., science-based), patient-centered, timely, efficient, and equitable (Institute of Medicine, 2001b). The current system falls far short with regard to each of these aims.

The country that put the first man on the moon and invented the microchip is surely capable of ensuring that children are immunized, that patients who suffer heart attacks receive life-saving drugs, that diabetics receive the education and support they need to manage their insulin levels, that terminally ill patients receive adequate pain management, and that patients who smoke tobacco receive the counseling and assistance they need to quit. Nevertheless:

- More than one-quarter of American children aged 19 to 35 months are deficient in immunizations (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2001).
- An estimated 18,000 people die each year from heart attacks because they were eligible for but did not receive medication to

prevent recurrent heart attack (Chassin, 1997).

• Two in five diabetics do not receive an annual eye examination to check for signs of disease that can lead to blindness, and almost half do not get a foot examination to check for nerve damage (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2000).

- Among oncology patients, 56 percent report moderate to severe pain (Von Roenn et al., 1993).
- Patients who smoke do not receive smoking cessation counseling during three-quarters of all visits to physicians (Thorndike et al., 1998).

This level of performance (Leatherman and McCarthy, 2002) is unworthy of the wealthiest nation in the world.

# DEMONSTRATION PROJECTS AS A STRATEGY FOR HEALTH SYSTEM REDESIGN

The committee views the demonstration projects proposed in this report as the first step in advancing a more substantial process of health system redesign. In other words, the committee is hopeful that its work will lead to much more than a few demonstration projects, and accordingly has attempted to identify demonstrations that, if pursued as a set, have the potential to sow the seeds of fundamental health reform.

There is no accepted blueprint for redesigning the health care sector, although there is widespread recognition that fundamental changes are needed in heath care and the financial and legal environment that shape it. The sheer size and complexity of the health care sector, with tens of thousands of health care providers and a myriad of public and private insurance and delivery arrangements, makes wholesale change difficult. For many important issues, we have little experience with alternatives to the status quo.

For these reasons, the committee sees the launching of a carefully crafted set of demonstrations as a way to initiate a "building block" approach to health system change. The recommended demonstration projects should as a group address the critical aspects of a reform strategy, including coverage, insurance benefits, provider payment incentives, and liability. The committee also believes that special attention should be focused on building stronger information and communications technology (ICT) infrastructures to support care delivery and many other important priorities, such as bioterrorism surveillance, public health, and research (Institute of Medicine, 2001b, 2002d; National Research Council, 2000). All or nearly all of the demonstration projects should involve public and private partnerships and collaborative efforts, recognizing that the federal and state governments and private-sector stakeholders all have important authorities and responsibilities, and that most health care markets are influenced by both competitive and cooperative forces.

For this strategy to result in broad-based health system reform, however, we must both plant the seeds of innovation and create an environment that will allow success to proliferate. Steps must be taken to remove barriers to innovation and to put in place incentives that will encourage redesign and sustain improvements. For example, emphasis must be placed on fashioning payment policies that recognize methods of e-health delivery (e.g., virtual visits, telemedicine) and reward high-quality care. If the federal government fails to play a proactive role in creating an environment that nurtures change and success, the ambitious demonstration agenda proposed in this report will have minimal impact on the overall health care sector.

#### PLANTING THE SEEDS

The committee has striven to identify bold and transformational demonstration projects with the potential to contribute to a major redesign of health care processes. These demonstration projects are intended to be the seeds of innovation, and to evolve into the first genera

tion of 21st-century community health care systems.

To guide the process of identifying the most promising demonstration projects, the committee developed two sets of criteria: those related to the intended results of demonstrations, and those related to the likelihood of successful implementation (see Box ES-1).

As a result of its deliberations, the committee identified five major categories of demonstrations (see Box ES-2). For four of these categories—chronic care, ICT infrastructure, state health insurance, and liability—demonstration sites would likely be states, or in a few instances, sizable markets within states or multistate collaborations. The remaining category—primary care—focuses on the provision of stellar care at a subset of about 40 of the country's community health centers.

In identifying the set of demonstration projects shown in Box ES-2, the committee assumed that there would be only modest, if any, increases in health care expenditures. With one exception, then—state health insurance—the demonstration projects are intended to be budget neutral over the long term (while substantially increasing the benefits derived from expenditures on health care). All of the projects have initial start-up costs, most of which will need to be assumed by the federal government. In the case of the ICT demonstration projects, these initial capital investments will be sizable.

# BOX ES-1 CRITERIA FOR SELECTING BOLD AND TRANSFORMATIONAL DEMONSTRATIONS

## Criteria related to intended results of demonstrations

- · Improved health status of patients and populations
- System improvements
- Reduced waste
- · Stimulus for continued innovation

## Criteria related to likelihood of successful implementation

- · Resonates with public and policy makers
- Broad base of support
- · Recognizes and addresses barriers
- · Builds on existing competencies

# **Chronic Care: Reducing the Toll of Chronic Conditions**

Demonstration projects in this category are intended to improve the quality of care provided to the chronically ill and to reduce the burden of disease and disability in a community. Navigat

#### **BOX ES-2 FIVE CATEGORIES OF DEMONSTRATIONS**

Chronic Care: Reducing the Toll of Chronic Conditions on Individuals and Communities

Primary Care: 40 Stellar Community Health Centers

Information and Communications Technology Infrastructure: A "Paperless" Health Care System

**State Health Insurance:** Making Affordable Coverage Available to All Americans **Liability:** Patient-Centered and Safety-Focused, Nonjudicial Compensation

ing the health care system is often complex for individuals with chronic illnesses, who require ongoing treatment involving multiple providers and sites of care. For many people, chronic disease could have been avoided or delayed had educational and other supportive interventions been provided to assist them in modifying health behaviors.

These demonstration projects would involve the following components:

- Coordinating structure—During the first year, the grant recipient would be responsible for establishing a
  broad-based coordinating structure with participation from all stakeholders. This coordinating structure
  should have (or develop) the capability to provide strong leadership for the demonstration, to create the
  needed ICT infrastructure, to provide knowledge support and sponsor learning collaboratives, and to
  sponsor community-wide educational and other efforts.
- Chronic care management programs—Each demonstration site would establish chronic care management programs that would provide evidence-based treatment of chronic diseases, services to detect and minimize the consequences of common geriatric syndromes, services to meet the preventive and acute care needs of the enrolled chronically ill population, and extended outreach and coordination with social and environmental services. Effective chronic care programs employ systematic approaches, make extensive use of multidisciplinary teams having ready access to clinical knowledge and specialists, and provide information and other support to patients to encourage self-management.
- Information and communications technology—A major component of these demonstrations should be the
  expanded use of ICT to improve care for the chronically ill. All demonstration projects should involve
  major advances in Internet-based communication (e.g., dissemination of information to clinicians and
  patients, e-mail, telemedicine, access to patient records), chronic care registries, and medication order
  entry systems.
- Benefits, Copayments, Provider Payments, and Accountability—Demonstration sites should be given the flexibility under Medicare and other insurance programs to innovate in such areas as benefits coverage, beneficiary copayments, provider payments, and accountability. Some of the current benefit packages fail to provide coverage for certain services needed by the chronically ill (e.g., prescription drugs, educational and support services), and in some instances, copayments may be prohibitively high (Montenegro-Torres et al., 2001). The Medicare fee-for-service payment system provides compensation for face-to-face encounters, but does not recognize services such as e-mail or patient educational and support services, which in certain circumstances may be more beneficial to the patient and more cost-effective. Demonstration sites should be encouraged to experiment with provider payment methods that reward performance achievement and beneficiary copayment designs that encourage self-management.
- Learning collaborates and community-wide educational efforts—Each demonstration site, with assistance
  from the National Library of Medicine and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ),
  should engage in efforts to assist clinicians and patients in gaining access to scientific knowledge,
  practice guidelines, certified protocols, identified best practices, and decision support tools.

From among the responses to a Request for Proposals (RFP) issued by the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), a limited number of demonstration sites (10–12) would be selected. Demonstration sites would receive a 1-year planning grant, followed by a 3-year implementation grant. As noted, these demon

stations are intended to be budget neutral over the long term (exclusive of up-front federal capital investments in ICT).

It is anticipated that the demonstration projects would initially be limited to Medicare beneficiaries, but over time would likely expand to include all payers and possibly even the uninsured. About one of six of Medicare beneficiaries qualifies for Medicaid, so state participation would also be important (Gluck and Hanson, 2001).

# **Primary Care: 40 Stellar Community Health Centers**

Well-organized and accessible primary care settings are an essential part of an effective health care system. The majority of patients enter the health system through primary care settings and receive the bulk of their care there, making such settings critical for achieving preventive, health promotion, and chronic care goals (Institute of Medicine, 1996).

Demonstration projects in this category are intended to reinvent and substantially enhance primary care. A subset of the nation's community health centers (CHCs) would be selected to participate in this program aimed at constructing model primary care practices. CHCs already have a strong track record in chronic care management, electronic patient registries, and performance measurement. These demonstrations would build on existing competencies to:

- Implement new models of care delivery—Demonstration sites would be encouraged to experiment with
  systemic approaches to care delivery that would make use of interdisciplinary teams, ICT support,
  enhanced communication, lay health workers, new roles for patients and their families, and enhanced
  coordination across other health care settings and with social and other community-based services (e.g.,
  mental health, housing, education and training, and employment).
- Create sustained partnerships between patients and clinicians—Through frequent communication by email, telephone, and visits, patients should establish ongoing and supportive relationships with clinicians.
- Provide support for patient self-management—Patients should have access to tailored care guides (in
  either hardcopy or electronic form) including their treatment plan, reminders and monitoring charts, and
  educational materials. In leading-edge CHCs, Internet-based communication should also be available for
  e-visits, prescription refills, and scheduling of appointments (including same-day appointments).
- Build a robust ICT infrastructure—The most ICT-advanced CHCs should, over a period of a few years, become "paperless." Electronic medical records should be readily accessible to CHC clinicians at the point of care, and eventually to all of a patient's providers in the community as broader ICT platforms develop (see the discussion below of ICT infrastructure projects). Scientifically based protocols and decision support systems should support decisions by patients (e.g., Internet-based tools to assist patients in tracking key indicators, such as blood pressure and hemoglobin Alc for diabetics) and clinicians.
- Enhance care system design and supports—Improvements in safety and effectiveness should be achieved
  through the conscious design of care processes to apply knowledge and tools from the human factors and
  engineering sciences.
- Provide supportive financing—Flexible payment modalities would be needed to allow CHCs (which
  currently receive primarily visit-based payments) to offer group counseling and education visits,
  Internet-based communication and care delivery, and more extensive care coordination. Demonstration
  sites should establish robust cost accounting systems capable of quantifying ongoing costs and savings

(associated with improvements in care processes and efficiency) for patients with various conditions, combinations of conditions, or specific health care needs.

DHHS would issue an RFP to the nation's approximately 859 CHCs and select about 40 to participate in projects in this category. Demonstrations would be 3 years in duration, with the expectation that measurable improvements in care processes would be achieved within 18 months. Demonstrations in this category are intended to be budget neutral over the long term, although federal support would be necessary to invest in ICT, establish and support the learning collaborative, and develop cost accounting systems. By 2006, the demonstration sites should open their doors to health care professionals from across the United States and even worldwide who would like to see primary care at its best.

# ICT Infrastructure: A "Paperless" Health Care System

The establishment of an information and communications technology (ICT) infrastructure is fundamental to achieving the six quality aims enumerated earlier (Institute of Medicine, 2001b):

- In the area of *safety*, the availability of computer-based clinical information at the time of care delivery, together with clinical decision support systems, such as those for medication order entry, can prevent many errors from occurring (Bates et al., 1997, 1998, 1999).
- Care can be made more effective through the use of computer-based reminder systems that facilitate
  adherence to protocols (Balas et al., 2000) and computer-assisted diagnosis and management programs
  that improve clinical decision making (Durieux et al., 2000; Evans et al., 1998; Intermountain Health
  Care, 1996).
- With regard to patient-centeredness, the Internet has opened up many opportunities to assist consumers in
  playing a more active role in staying healthy and in making health care decisions by providing access to
  clinical knowledge through understandable and reliable Web sites, online support groups, customized
  health education, and disease management messages (Cain et al., 2000; Goldsmith, 2000).
- Internet-based communication (e.g., e-mail, telemedicine) between patients and clinicians and among clinicians can make care less episodic and more *timely*.
- More immediate access to computer-based clinical information, such as the results of laboratory and radiology tests, can reduce redundancy and improve both effectiveness and efficiency.
- There are also opportunities to improve *equity*, for example, through the use of electronic insurance
  enrollment programs that facilitate the enrollment of uninsured children eligible for coverage under the
  State Children's Health Insurance Program (SCHIP).

ICT is also a matter of national security (Tang, 2002). Computer-based clinical records, combined with Internet-based communication, can enable the following:

- Early detection and rapid response to bioterrorism attacks.
- Dissemination of up-to-date information to clinicians and patients on the clinical presentation of various chemical and biological threats, as well as practice guidelines for responding.
- Organization and execution of large-scale inoculation campaigns.
- · Ongoing monitoring, detection, and treatment of complications arising from

exposure to biochemical agents or from preventive measures, such as immunizations.

The federal government has provided support for infrastructure development in the past. Following World War II, the federal government supported the development of the Interstate highway system, and years later, the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency funded the work that led to the modern Internet (National Research Council, 1999; Weingroff, 1996). Similar to these prior national efforts, an ICT infrastructure is needed to enable fundamental reform of the public health and health care delivery systems, and the federal government will need to play a role in providing the necessary capital investment.

Demonstration projects in this category are intended to result in the establishment of a state-of-the-art health care ICT infrastructure in a state, sizable market, or multistate region that interconnects all providers and consumers. The ICT infrastructure would support the following:

- Communication—Internet-based communication between patients and clinicians and among clinicians, including e-mail, home monitoring, and teleconsulting.
- Access to patient information—For each patient, computer-based health and clinical information that is complete, organized, and available in real time to the patient and the patient's providers, while at the same time being confidential and secure.
- Knowledge management—Access to reliable, up-to-date information from the science base in forms that
  are useful to clinicians and patients.
- Decision support—Computer-aided decision support tools for patients and clinicians, such as reminder systems, prompts, medication order entry systems, and chronic disease management systems.

All demonstration projects in this category would involve three phases:

- A planning phase (months 1–6)—formation of a public-private partnership and development of an operational plan.
- An infrastructure building phase (months 7–24)—establishment of a secure platform for communication and sharing of clinical and other data between patients and providers and among providers.
- Expansion of applications (months 7-ongoing)—steady migration of administrative and business
  processes to the platform, development and application of knowledge management and decision support
  tools, and development of new e-health delivery modes.

These demonstration projects are intended to provide the initial nodes of a national health information infrastructure. A total of 8 to 10 demonstration projects should be funded in this category, with the expectation that a second generation would be funded in 2005.

One-time-only federal financial support would be required to establish the public-private partnership and the infrastructure. Health care providers should commit to making the necessary financial investments in support of ongoing maintenance and enhancement of the ICT infrastructure, and to redesigning care processes to take maximal advantage of this infrastructure. Public and private purchasers should offer the appropriate financial incentives to encourage and reward providers for making ongoing investments in ICT (e.g., higher fee-for-service payments or reduced regulatory burden for providers with computer-based records) and redesigning care processes. Some combined federal and state assistance to safety net providers would be needed to enable their full participation in the ICT infrastructure. The transition to computer-based clinical and other information would also have ripple effects through various administrative systems (e.g., enhancements

in coding and classification systems, utilization management processes), and these effects should be anticipated.

Demonstration projects in this category would be greatly facilitated by an immediate emphasis on the development of national data standards. All demonstrations should be required to conform to national standards where they exist. There should also be an expectation that these projects would lend their expertise to and share their technology with other states, and would provide valuable feedback on the robustness of national standards.

# State Health Insurance: Making Affordable Coverage Available to All Americans

Contrary to popular belief, those without health insurance do not receive the medical care they need (Institute of Medicine, 2001a). The uninsured are less likely to receive preventive and screening services, are less likely to receive appropriate care to manage their chronic health conditions, exhibit consistently worse clinical outcomes, and are at increased risk of dying prematurely (Institute of Medicine, 2002a). Having one or more uninsured members in a family can have adverse consequences for everyone in the household and can negatively affect the financial, physical, and emotional well-being of all family members (Institute of Medicine, 2002c). As the numbers of uninsured grow, the effects, in terms of poorer overall health status, reduced productivity, increased disability, and possibly increased social services expenditures, are likely felt at the community level.

Demonstration projects in this category are intended to result in the availability of affordable insurance coverage to all Americans in a state. Each demonstration would involve two components:

- Coverage expansions—Demonstration projects might expand insurance coverage through either tax credits to be applied to an insurance plan, expanded eligibility for public insurance programs, or a combination of the two. Under the tax credit approach, the federal government would provide support to a demonstration site to be used for premium assistance, and the state would provide state tax credits to uninsured individuals. The state tax credit would likely be based on a sliding scale tied to income, and would need to be adequate to enable the individual to purchase a good insurance package. Under the approach of expanded eligibility for public insurance programs, the federal government would provide federal matching support for a significantly expanded eligibility program under a state Medicaid or SCHIP program.
- Statewide electronic enrollment clearing-house—During the first 18 months of a project, state governments would work in partnership with private insurers, DHHS, and others to establish an electronic clearinghouse for verification of insurance program eligibility and immediate enrollment of uninsured individuals. Although one of the principal objectives of establishing the clearinghouse would be to allow for immediate enrollment of uninsured individuals in one of the insurance programs developed through coverage expansion, the clearinghouse should yield benefits to all insured individuals and providers in a community. For example, in years 2–3, this electronic clearinghouse might be used for billing and payment of providers.

DHHS would issue an RFP to state governments, and a limited number of demonstration sites (three to five) would be selected. Demonstration projects should be 10 years in duration. DHHS would need to make this extended commitment to encourage states to undertake the very significant efforts envisioned in the areas of building public-private partnerships, developing ICT infrastructure, and redesigning public insurance programs.

Demonstration projects in this category are not budget neutral. Sustained funding would be required indefinitely, and both the federal and state governments would be expected to contribute resources. Recognizing the currently severe financial constraints of many states (Desonia, 2002), the federal government may need to provide the majority of additional resources necessary to conduct these demonstrations at least in the near term. There may be some offsets to the insurance expansion program, such as reduced need for Medicare disproportionate-share hospital payments and lower uncompensated care tax write-offs for for-profit providers.

### Liability: Patient-Centered and Safety-Focused, Nonjudicial Compensation

The current liability system hampers efforts to identify and learn from errors, and likely encourages "defensive medicine." Many instances of negligence do not give rise to lawsuits, and many legal claims do not relate to negligent care (Bovbjerg et al., 2001). Judgments are sometimes inconsistent with the medical evidence base (Eisenberg, 2001; Havighurst et al., 2001; Rosoff, 2001), and compensation is highly variable (Urban Institute, 1995). Legal fees and administrative expenses consume upwards of half the cost of liability insurance premiums (Cantor et al., 1997; Kakalik and Pace, 1986). Volatility in liability insurance markets has led to escalating malpractice premiums in certain geographic areas, precipitating closure of practices and shortages of certain types of specialists and services (American Hospital Association, 2002; Hopper, 2002; Price, 2002). The committee believes that changes in the liability system are a critical component of health care system redesign. Medical liability issues are technically complex, and policy debates have been dominated by powerful stakeholders. State-level demonstrations offer an opportunity to experiment with alternative models to the current judicial system.

Demonstration projects in this category would create injury compensation systems outside of the courtroom that would provide timely, fair compensation to injured patients and promote apologies and nonadversarial discussions between patients and clinicians. The demonstrations are also intended to create an environment that encourages providers to report and analyze medical errors and to involve patients in safety improvement activities. The financial exposure of providers would also be limited, thus contributing to stabilization of malpractice insurance premiums. This approach would replace the existing tort liability system with an alternative system for compensating patients who have experienced avoidable injuries, allow quicker payments to be made to many more injured patients, and reward providers who put effective programs in place to reduce medical injuries.

DHHS would issue an RFP to states, and a limited number of demonstration sites (four to five) would be selected. States would choose one of two nonjudicial claims resolution systems:

- *Provider-based early payments*—Offers predetermined limits on noneconomic damages, including pain and suffering, and federally subsidized reinsurance to self-insured provider groups that promptly identify and compensate patients for avoidable injuries.
- Statewide administrative resolution—Grants all health care professionals and facilities, however
  organized, immunity from tort liability under most circumstances in exchange for mandatory participation
  in a state-sponsored, administrative system for compensating avoidable injuries.

Demonstration projects would likely build on existing liability reform proposals, such as "avoidable classes of events" (Tancredi and Bovbjerg, 1991, 1992), "early offers of settlement" (O'Connell, 1982), and "scheduled ranges

of allowable noneconomic damages (Bovbjerg et al., 1989). States should engage in efforts to educate the public about trade-offs involved in liability reform, and help providers communicate more effectively with patients when errors occur.

Demonstration projects in this category would require modest federal start-up funds and appropriate state legislation. Within 1–2 years, benefits in terms of administrative efficiency should be realized. Longer-term benefits should include improvements in patient safety and malpractice insurance market stabilization.

#### **NURTURING SUCCESS**

The nation's mounting health care problems—rapidly rising costs, growing numbers of uninsured, safety and quality gaps, workforce shortages—threaten to destabilize the system, making it imperative to move expeditiously to achieve quality improvements. This is one of the reasons the committee is proposing a substantial portfolio of demonstration projects: 10–12 chronic care demonstrations, a primary care demonstration with 40 participating sites, 8–10 ICT infrastructure demonstrations, 3–5 state insurance coverage demonstrations, and 4–5 state liability demonstrations. The demonstrations involved in this initiative should reach out to large numbers of communities from all geographic regions and rural and urban areas, and engage them in finding solutions to these varied and complex challenges.

Efforts should also be made to identify and include in the demonstrations those sites that are today at the cutting edge in use of ICT infrastructure, adherence to 21st-century care delivery models, and administrative and clinical efficiency, and to spur them to evolve to higher levels of excellence. Communities that are currently more advanced in terms of ICT infrastructure might be ideal locations for multiple demonstrations, such as a hybrid demonstration encompassing the chronic care and uninsured categories, aimed at establishing highly effective e-health chronic care management programs, removing waste from the system, and rechanneling these resources to cover the uninsured.

The committee envisions that by 2005, the nation should have instituted the first generation of 21<sup>st</sup>-century community health systems, and by the end of the decade, should have made a decisive advance in reinventing health care delivery. For this to happen, the federal and state governments will need to do much more than plant seeds. Rather, the federal and state governments must work collaboratively with leaders from the private sector to nurture innovation and disseminate new discoveries.

# **Learning Collaboratives**

To speed the process of change, DHHS should provide support to appropriate private or public organizations to establish learning collaboratives. The committee encourages DHHS to consider establishing demonstration-specific collaboratives given the complexity of the issues being addressed. The collaboratives would provide support to demonstration sites, in such forms as the following:

- Sponsoring forums for the exchange of information and joint problem solving across demonstration sites (e.g., traditional meetings and a full array of Internet-based audiovisual communication techniques).
- Providing access to knowledge and literature syntheses on the effectiveness of various services in support of local efforts to make evidence-based coverage and care delivery decisions.

Once demonstration projects were under way and knowledge and experience had begun to accumulate, the collaboratives would be responsible for disseminating what had been learned so that all could benefit.

# Reshaping the Health Care Environment

In tandem with the demonstrations, federal and state efforts to reshape the broader health care environment would be essential. The current health care environment often confounds efforts to redesign health care. Nowhere is this more apparent than in the area of ICT.

Many environmental forces—including regulation, benefit and payment policies, and legal liability—fail to facilitate and sometimes block the adoption of 21<sup>st</sup>-century ICT (Overhage et al., 2002). For example, regulations stand in the way of progress when the federal and state governments fail to adapt old rules (e.g., state-based licensure of health professionals) to accommodate innovations (e.g., the practice of telemedicine across state borders). But perhaps even more important than barriers stemming inadvertently from outdated regulatory structures is the failure to put in place new ground rules for the emerging marketplace. Many believe that the absence of a strong federal role in establishing national data standards for health information has contributed to the sluggish pace of adoption of ICT in the health care sector (National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics, 2000). Another IOM committee addressing the issue of data standards will be releasing a report in fall 2003 (Institute of Medicine, 2002b).

Similar impediments to ICT exist in other areas. As noted, the benefit and payment policies of many health insurance programs fail to recognize and provide compensation for various e-health delivery modes (e.g., e-visits, e-consultations, remote monitoring of intensive care units). Moreover, uncertainty about liability implications has raised some concern about the use of e-mail communication between patients and clinicians (American Medical Association, 2001).

There is a critical need to examine existing environmental structures with an eye to removing such barriers, aligning incentives, and establishing new policies that would enable a rapid transition to a 21<sup>st</sup>-century ICT infrastructure. This work should proceed expeditiously in parallel with the conduct of demonstrations. If it does not, rapid upscaling from the initial set of demonstration projects would be impossible.

# **Evaluation, Transparency, and Accountability**

As the country embarks on a radical transformation of what comprises one-seventh of the national economy (Levit et al., 2002), there should be a steadfast commitment to transparency and accountability. Although the committee strove to apply sound principles in identifying the demonstrations proposed in this report, the nation is embarking on a period of experimentation in health care delivery, and there will be a need to adjust course from time to time.

Ongoing evaluation is critical to understanding what does and does not work and why. Indicators of success should be defined before the demonstration projects begin. Planning for evaluation must begin in parallel with planning for the demonstrations.

The evaluative effort should identify which of the demonstrations within a given category are most successful and why. In addition, there should be an evaluation across the five demonstration categories. This global evaluation would help participating organizations, policy makers, researchers, and the broader practice community determine which demonstrations should be selected, and in what order, for rapid replication across the country. Another objective of the overall evaluation initiative should be to identify synergies among the various demonstration categories and strategies for combining the demonstration "building blocks" to achieve the strongest 21st-century health system.

Transparency—the sharing of information on strategies, tools, and techniques and their impact on performance—encourages the rapid spread and adoption of innovative technologies. Breakthrough knowledge and technology are rarely initiated on the first attempt. Important knowledge can also be gained from the sharing of information on community-based interventions that were less successful than expected.

Lastly, the sharing of cross-sectional and longitudinal performance information is the bottom line. It is through the ongoing tracking of the impact of various demonstrations on the six quality aims—safety, effectiveness, patient-centeredness, timeliness, efficiency, and equity—that policy makers, health care professionals, and others would be able to determine whether their efforts to retool health care systems have been successful. And ultimately, the health system must be held accountable for demonstrating that resources are being used wisely to reduce the burden of illness, injury, and disability and to improve the health and functioning of the American people.

With both evaluation and accountability activities, there is a vital role for dissemination through formal and informal channels, and adequate financial support must be provided for these activities. Researchers should communicate their findings through journals and other publications. Presentations, speeches, and communication by means of policy-oriented briefs can provide a window into these demonstrations before they appear in scholarly journals.

### WHAT SHOULD PATIENTS EXPECT?

In identifying a set of demonstration projects, the committee has been guided by a common vision of what care in the 21<sup>st</sup> century should be like from the perspective of patients.

These demonstrations should lead to a health care system in which patients' experiences would be very different from today's norm. For a typical patient with one or more chronic conditions requiring ongoing management, as well as preventive and acute care needs, the system should provide a continuous relationship with a personal clinician who functions with the support of a multidisciplinary team. Patients should be able to access care over the Internet, by telephone, and by other means in addition to face-to-face visits. There should be few concerns about safety, but in the event that a patient is harmed, the clinician should inform the patient immediately, apologize, and take action to mitigate the consequences. Care should not vary illogically from clinician to clinician or place to place. Each patient should receive the best that science has to offer, whether for ongoing treatment of a chronic condition or care for an acute episode. This does not imply one-size-fits-all care. Patients will have different preferences (e.g., watchful waiting versus surgical intervention for prostate cancer), differing needs for education and support, and differing constraints (e.g., a need for home care with family support versus short-term rehabilitative care).

Perhaps the greatest difference between the envisioned future system and the present reality is the role of patients themselves (Coulter, 2002). Profound cultural changes are necessary to allow patients to play as active a role in treatment decisions as they desire and to engage in effective self-management of chronic conditions. Such involvement will require a supportive environment—one that offers ready access to reliable and understandable sources of clinical knowledge and actively encourages health literacy by providing relevant information to patients (e.g., a primary care practice that forwards the most up-to-date information on practice guidelines, medication options and risks, and self-management to its patients with asthma).

In short, the 21<sup>st</sup>-century health care system should deliver far greater value than is currently the case. Patients have a right to demand—and health care leaders have an obligation to act now to ensure that they receive—care that is safe, effective, patient-centered, timely, efficient, and equitable. The committee believes the proposed demonstration projects would represent a substantial step in that direction.

#### REFERENCES

American Hospital Association. 2002. Medical Liability Insurance: Looming Crisis? AHA TrendWatch. Vol. 4, No. 3

American Medical Association. 2001. "Guidelines for Physician-Patient Communications." Online. Available at http://www.ama-assn.org/ama/pub/category/2386.html [accessed Oct. 8, 2002].

- Anderson, G. and J.R.Knickman. 2001a. Becoming Responsive to Heavy Utilizers of Medical and Supportive Care Services. *Health Aff (Millwood)* 20 (6):146–60.
- ——. 2001b. Changing the Chronic Care System to Meet People's Needs. Health Aff (Millwood) 20 (6):146–60.
- Balas, E.A., S.Weingarten, C.T.Garb, D.Blumenthal, S.A.Boren, and G.D.Brown. 2000. Improving Preventive Care by Prompting Physicians. Arch Intern Med 160 (3):301–8.
- Bates, D.W., N.Spell, D.J.Cullen, E.Burdick, N. Laird, L.A.Petersen, S.D.Small, B.J. Sweitzer, and L.L.Leape. 1997. The Costs of Adverse Drug Events in Hospitalized Patients. Adverse Drug Events Prevention Study Group. *JAMA* 277 (4):307–11.
- Bates, D.W., L.L.Leape, D.J.Cullen, N.Laird, L. A.Petersen, J.M.Teich, E.Burdick, M.Hickey, S.Kleefield, B.Shea, M.Vander Vliet, and D. L.Seger. 1998. Effect of Computerized Physician Order Entry and a Team Intervention on Prevention of Serious Medication Errors. JAMA 280 (15):1311–6.
- Bates, D.W., J.M.Teich, J.Lee, D.Seger, G.J.Kuperman, N.Ma'Luf, D.Boyle, and L.Leape. 1999. The Impact of Computerized Physician Order Entry on Medication Error Prevention. *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 6 (4):313–21.
- Bovbjerg, R.R., F.A.Sloan, and J.F.Blumstein. 1989. Valuing Life and Limb in Tort: Scheduling "Pain and Suffering". *Northwestern University Law Review* 83:908–76.
- Bovbjerg, R.R., R.H.Miller, and D.W.Shapiro. 2001. Paths to Reducing Medical Injury: Professional Liability and Discipline Vs. Patient Safety—and the Need for a Third Way. *J Law Med Ethics* 29 (3–4):369–80.
- Cain, M.M., R.Mittman, J.Sarasohn-Kahn, and J. C.Wayne. 2000. *Health E-People: The Online Consumer Experience*. Oakland, CA: Institute for the Future, California Health Care Foundation.
- Cantor, J.C., R.A.Berenson, J.S.Howard, and W. Wadlington. 1997. Chapter 6: Addressing the Problem of Medical Malpractice. *To Improve Health and Health Care, 1997: The Robert Wood Johnson Anthology*, eds. S.L.Isaacs and J.R.Knickman. Hoboken, NJ: Jossey-Bass.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2000. Levels of Diabetes-Related Preventive-Care Practices—United States. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 49:954–57.
- 2001. National, State, and Urban Area Vaccination Coverage Levels Among Children Aged 19–35 Months—United States. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report 50:637–41.
- Chassin, M.R. 1997. Assessing Strategies for Quality Improvement. Health Aff (Millwood) 16 (3):151-61.
- Coulter, A. 2002. The Autonomous Patient: Ending Paternalism in Medical Care. London: The Nuffield Trust.
- Desonia, R. 2002. Running on Empty: The State Budget Crisis Worsens. *NHPF Issue Brief.* No. 783. Washington, D.C.: National Health Policy Forum.
- Durieux, P., Ř.Nizard, P.Ravaud, N.Mounier, and E.Lepage. 2000. A Clinical Decision Support System for Prevention of Venous Thromboembolism: Effect on Physician Behavior. *JAMA* 283 (21):2816–21.
- Edwards, J.N., M.M.Doty, and C.Schoen. 2002. The Erosion of Employer-Based Health Coverage and the Threat to Workers' Health Care: Findings From the Commonwealth Fund 2002 Workplace Health Insurance Survey. New York, NY: The Commonwealth Fund.
- Eisenberg, J.M. 2001. What Does Evidence Mean? Can the Law and Medicine Be Reconciled? J Health Polity Law 26 (2):369-81.
- Evans, R.S., S.L.Pestotnik, D.C.Classen, T.P. Clemmer, L.K.Weaver, J.F.Orme Jr, J.F. Lloyd, and J.P.Burke. 1998. A Computer-Assisted Management Program for Antibiotics and Other Antiinfective Agents. N Engl J Med 338 (4):232–8.
- Gandhi, T.K., D.F.Sittig, M.Franklin, A.J.Suss

man, D.G.Fairchild, and D.W.Bates. 2000. Communication Breakdown in the Outpatient Referral Process. *J Gen Intern Med* 15 (9):626–31.

- Gluck, M.E. (Georgetown University) and K.W. Hanson (The Henry J.Kaiser Family Foundation). 2001. "Medicare Chart Book." Online. Available at http://www.kff.org/content/2001/1622/ [accessed Sept. 9, 2002].
- Goldsmith, J. 2000. The Internet and Managed Care: a New Wave of Innovation. Health Aff (Millwood) 19 (6):42-56.
- Havighurst, C.C., P.B.Hutt, B.J.McNeil, and W. Miller. 2001. Evidence: Its Meanings in Health Care and in Law. (Summary of the 10 April 2000 IOM and AHRQ Workshop, "Evidence": Its Meanings and Uses in Law, Medicine, and Health Care). *J Health Polit Policy Law* 26 (2):195–215.
- Health Resources and Services Administration. 2000. "The Pharmacist Workforce: A Study of the Supply and Demand For Pharmacists." Online. Available at http://bhpr.hrsa.gov/healthworkforce/pharmacist.html [accessed Aug. 28, 2002].
- 2002. "Projected Supply, Demand, and Shortages of Registered Nurses: 2000–2020." Online. Available at http://bhpr.hrsa.gov/healthworkforce/rnproject/default.htm [accessed Aug. 28, 2002].
- Hopper, L. Aug. 11, 2002. Insurance Crisis Hits Nursing Homes/Spiraling Costs Push Texas Facilities to Drop Liability Coverage. *Houston Chronicle*. Sect. A-01
- Institute of Medicine. 1996. *Primary Care: America's Health in a New Era.* eds. M.S. Donaldson, K.D.Yordy, K.N.Lohr, and N.A. Vanselow. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- ——. 2000. To Err Is Human: Building a Safer Health System, eds. L.T.Kohn, J.M.Corrigan, and M.S.Donaldson. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- ——. 2001a. Coverage Matters: Insurance and Health Care, Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- -----. 2001b. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- ——. 2002b. "Guidance for the Development of Patient Safety Data Standards." Online. Available at http://www.iom.edu/psds [accessed Nov. 11, 2002b].
  - —. 2002c. Health Insurance Is a Family Matter. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- 2002d. Leadership by Example: Coordinating Government Roles in Improving Health Care Quality, eds. J.M.Corrigan, J.Eden, and B.M.Smith. Washingon, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- . 2002e. Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care. eds. B.D.Smedley, A.Y.Stith, and A.R.Nelson. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Intermountain Health Care. 1996. "Antibiotic Resistant Pathogens." Online. Available at http://www.ihc.com/xp/ihc/lds/research/specialtopics/antibiotics.xml [accessed Sept. 13, 2002].
- Kaiser Family Foundation and Health Research and Educational Trust. 2002. "2002 Employer Health Benefits Survey." Online. Available at <a href="http://www.kff.org/content/2002/20020905a/">http://www.kff.org/content/2002/20020905a/</a> [accessed Sept. 13, 2002].
- Kakalik, J.S. and N.M.Pace. 1986. Costs and Compensation Paid in Tort Litigation. No. R-3391-ICJ. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Institute.
- Leatherman, S. and D.McCarthy. 2002. *Quality of Health Care in the United States: A Chartbook*. New York, NY: The Commonwealth Fund. Levit, K., C.Smith, C.Cowan, H.Lazenby, and A. Martin. 2002. Inflation Spurs Health Spending in 2000. *Health Aff (Millwood)* 21 (1):172–81.
- McGinnis, M.J., P.Williams-Russo, and J.R. Knickman. 2002. The Case for More Active Policy Attention to Health Promotion. To Succeed, We Need Leadership That Informs and Motivates, Economic Incentives That Encourage Change, and Science That Moves the Frontiers. *Health Aff (Millwood)* 21 (2):78–93.
- Montenegro-Torres, B., T.Engelhardt, M.Thamer, and G.Anderson. 2001. Are Fortune 100 Companies Responsive to Chronically Ill Workers? Health Aff 20 (4):209–19.

National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics. 2000. "Uniform Data Standards for Patient Medical Record Information." Online. Available at http://ncvhs.hhs.gov/hipaa000706.pdf [accessed Aug. 30, 2002].

- National Research Council. 1999. Funding a Revolution: Government Support for Computing Research. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
  - ----. 2000. Networking Health: Prescriptions for the Internet. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- O'Connell, J. 1982. Offers That Can't Be Refused: Foreclosure of Personal Injury Claims by Defendants' Prompt Tender of Claimants' Net Economic Losses. *Northwestern University Law Review* 77:589–632.
- Overhage, J.M., B.Middleton, R.A.Miller, R.D. Zielstorff, and W.R.Hersh. 2002. Does National Regulatory Mandate of Provider Order Entry Portend Greater Benefit Than Risk for Health Care Delivery? The 2001 ACMI Debate. The American College of Medical Informatics. J Am Med Inform Assoc 9 (3):199–208.
- Price, J.H. July 7, 2002. Las Vegas Trauma Center Closing Could Be First of Many. The Washington Times.
- Rosoff, A.J. 2001. Evidence-Based Medicine and the Law: the Courts Confront Clinical Practice Guidelines. *J Health Polit Policy Law* 26 (2):327–68.
- Schuster, M.A., E.A.McGlynn, C.B.Pham, M.D. Spar, and R.H.Brook. 2001. The Quality of Health Care in the United States: A Review of Articles Since 1987. In *Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century*. Institute of Medicine. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Tancredi, L.R., and R.R.Bovbjerg. 1991. Rethinking Responsibility for Patient Injury: Accelerated-Compensation Events, a Malpractice and Quality Reform Ripe for a Test. *Law Contemp Probl* 54 (1–2):Spring 147–77.
- ——. 1992. Creating Outcomes-Based Systems for Quality and Malpractice Reform: Methodology of Accelerated Compensation Events (ACEs). *Milbank Q* 70 (1):183–216.
- Tang, P.C. 2002. AMIA Advocates National Health Information System in Fight Against National Health Threats. J Am Med Inform Assoc 9 (2):123–4.
- Thorndike, A.N., N.A.Rigotti, R.S.Stafford, and D.E.Singer. 1998. National Patterns in the Treatment of Smokers by Physicians. *JAMA* 279 (8):604–8.
- U.S. Census Bureau. 2001. "Health Insurance Coverage: 2000." Online. Available at http://www.census.gov/hhes/www/hlthin00.html [accessed July 26, 2002].
- 2002. "Health Insurance Coverage: 2001." Online. Available at http://www.census.gov/prod/2002pubs/p60–220.pdf [accessed Sept. 30, 2002].
- Urban Institute. 1995. Medical Malpractice: Problems and Reforms. A Policy Maker's Guide to Issues and Information. Washington DC: George Washington University.
- Von Roenn, J.H., C.S.Cleeland, R.Gonin, A.K. Hatfield, and K.J.Pandya. 1993. Physician Attitudes and Practice in Cancer Pain Management. A Survey From the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group. *Ann Intern Med* 119 (2):121–6.
- Weingroff, R.F. 1996. "Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1956: Creating the Interstate System." Online. Available at http://www.fhwa.dot.gov//////infrastructure/rw96e.htm [accessed Nov. 5, 2002].

17

# The Time for Change Has Come

In March 2001, the Institute of Medicine (IOM) released the report Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century, calling for fundamental change in the health care system (Institute of Medicine, 2001b). Responding to widespread and persistent, systemic shortcomings in health care quality, that report challenges the nation to undertake a major redesign of both the health care delivery system and the policy environment that shapes it. The recommendations in the Quality Chasm report did not come altogether as a surprise. The safety and quality of health care in the United States had been brought to the forefront with a renewed sense of urgency starting in 1998 through the release of three major reports on the quality of care. The IOM's National Roundtable on Health Care Quality had concluded that "the burden of harm conveyed by the collective impact of all of our health care quality problems is staggering" (Chassin and Galvin, 1998, p. 1004). The Advisory Commission on Consumer Protection and Quality in the Health Care Industry (1998, Chapter 1) called for a national commitment to improve quality after concluding that "today in America, there is no guarantee that any individual will receive high-quality care for any particular health problem." And the conclusions of both of these national panels had been supported by the results of an extensive literature review conducted by researchers at the RAND Corporation, which encompassed publications in peer-reviewed journals between 1993 and mid-1997 and revealed evidence of systemic quality problems throughout the health care sector (Schuster et al., 1998). Moreover, these findings had been corroborated by studies that looked in more detail at the treatment of specific diseases (e.g., cancer) or focused on particular types of quality problems (e.g., errors) (Institute of Medicine, 2000; Institute of Medicine and National Research Council, 1999; Leatherman and McCarthy, 2002).

In an effort to chart a direction for health system improvement, the Quality Chasm report identified six national quality aims: health care should be safe, effective, patient-centered, timely, efficient, and equitable (see Box 1-1). These aims address not only the serious quality challenges noted above, but also the need to use resources more wisely.

THE TIME FOR CHANGE HAS COME 18

#### BOX 1-1 QUALITY AIMS FOR THE 21ST-CENTURY HEALTH CARE SYSTEM

- Safe—avoiding injuries to patients from the care that is intended to help them.
- Effective—providing services based on scientific knowledge to all who could benefit and refraining from
  providing services to those not likely to benefit (avoiding underuse and overuse).
- Patient-centered—providing care that is respectful of and responsive to individual patient preferences, needs, and values and ensuring that patient values guide all clinical decisions.
- Timely—reducing waits and sometimes harmful delays for both those who receive and those who give
  care.
- Efficient—avoiding waste, in particular waste of equipment, supplies, ideas, and energy.
- Equitable—providing care to all who could benefit that does not vary in quality because of personal characteristics such as gender, ethnicity, geographic location, and socioeconomic status.
   SOURCE: Institute of Medicine (2001b, p. 39–40).

In the 2 years since the release of the Quality Chasm report, the challenges confronting the health care system have probably worsened. Overall, national health spending has increased as a portion of gross domestic product and is expected to continue to do so for the remainder of the decade—from 13.2 percent in 2000 to approximately 17 percent in 2011 (Heffler et al., 2002). Employers are expected to see a 13 to 15 percent increase in their health care premiums in 2002, which will be the sixth straight year of rising premiums (Alliance for Health Care Reform, 2002; Center for Studying Health System Change, 2001). Medicaid is also experiencing cost increases—an average of 25 percent over the 2 years between 2000 and 2002 (Alliance for Health Care Reform, 2002).

These rising costs, in combination with the recent economic downturn, are expected to have a number of consequences. Increases in employers' health care premiums are likely to result in employers narrowing benefits and/or shifting a larger portion of costs to workers in the form of premiums or copayments. More employees may choose not to participate in employer-sponsored plans, and more employers, especially small businesses, may choose not to offer health insurance altogether.

Overall the number of uninsured people in the United States has been increasing for more than a decade—about one in six Americans is without coverage today (Institute of Medicine, 2001a). The uninsured do not receive the heath services they need, and this gap has serious health, financial, and other consequences for both the uninsured individuals and their families (Institute of Medicine, 2002a, 2002b). Moreover, the growing numbers of uninsured place increased demand on public hospitals, academic health centers, community health centers, and other safety net providers that offer a sizable proportion of services to those who lack health insurance and cannot afford to pay.

There are also serious inequities in health care. A significant body of research reveals disturbing disparities in health care access and quality, especially for racial and ethnic minorities (Institute of Medicine, 2002c). Minorities receive a lower quality of health care than non-

minorities, even after controling for such factors as insurance status and income.

The Quality Chasm report calls for changes at four levels—patient experiences, small-practice settings or microsystems that deliver care (e.g., provider groups, multidisciplinary teams), health care organizations that house the microsystems (e.g., hospitals), and the health care environment (e.g., payment policies, legal liability, regulatory processes) (Berwick, 2002). There is little doubt that change of this magnitude will be difficult to accomplish, but it is imperative that the process begin. This report sets forth a strategy for health system reform in which states are used as laboratories for the design, implementation, and testing of alternative redesign strategies. The set of demonstrations called for by this strategy addresses critical leverage points at each of the above four levels.

#### ORIGINS OF THIS REPORT

The disturbing trends in health care summarized above have not gone unnoticed by health care leaders. In June 2002, the Secretary of Health and Human Services met with representatives of The National Academies and expressed his concerns about the need to reverse these trends. It was agreed that workable solutions must be found quickly. Almost immediately, the IOM initiated a fast-track study with the objective of identifying interventions and approaches that showed promise for solving key problems, and recommending a set of demonstration projects to test these solutions. The Secretary expressed a strong interest in demonstration projects that might be conducted in collaboration with states starting in 2003.

To conduct this study, the IOM established the Committee on Rapid Advance Demonstrations in June 2002. The committee began by developing a set of criteria for use in selecting potential demonstration projects. Working groups for each of the five categories of demonstrations (enumerated below) were then convened to delineate the specifics of the potential demonstration projects. The full committee then met to finalize the set of proposed demonstrations.

#### CRITERIA FOR SELECTION OF DEMONSTRATIONS

The committee went through a multi-step process to identify potential demonstration projects. Each committee member was asked to identify potential demonstration categories. These categories were then discussed with overlapping or related areas being combined, resulting in a list of seven categories. Small working groups were formed to develop detailed descriptions of these seven categories. The full committee then discussed the seven categories further and narrowed the list to five. Categories that were considered, but not selected, are discussed later in this chapter.

The committee concluded that the demonstration projects as a set, and individually if possible, must be *bold* and transformational. Recognizing the gravity of the problems confronting the health care sector, as well as the need for a major redesign of health care processes, the committee focused on projects that would address the fundamental building blocks of the health care system.

To guide its work, the committee generated a list of criteria encompassing factors that would lead to a successful demonstration initiative (see Box 1-2). These criteria fall into two categories: those related to the intended results of demonstrations and those related to the likelihood of successful implementation.

The demonstration projects are intended to produce four results:

• Improved health status for patients and populations—The health care system of the 21st century should maximize the health and functioning of both individual patients and communities. To accomplish this goal, the system should balance and integrate needs for personal health care with broader community-wide initiatives that target the

THE TIME FOR CHANGE HAS COME 20

entire population (e.g., prevention initiatives to address obesity). The health care system must have well-defined processes for making the best use of limited resources.

# BOX 1-2 CRITERIA FOR SELECTING BOLD AND TRANSFORMATIONAL DEMONSTRATIONS

- Criteria related to intended results of demonstrations
- · Improved health status of patients and populations
- System improvements
- Reduced waste
- Stimulus for continued innovation

# Criteria related to likelihood of successful implementation

- · Resonates with public and policy makers
- Broad base of support
- Recognizes and addresses barriers
- · Builds on existing competencies
  - System improvements—In the 20<sup>th</sup> century, "bricks and mortar" constituted the basic infrastructure of the health care delivery system. To deliver care in the 21<sup>st</sup> century, the system must have a health information and communications technology (ICT) infrastructure that is accessible to all patients and providers. Over the past several decades, the health care needs of the population have been shifting from acute to chronic care (The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, 1996). Although infectious diseases and acute care are still important, the vast majority of health care resources are now devoted to the ongoing management of chronic conditions. The processes used by the health system must be redesigned to emphasize the prevention and ongoing management of such conditions, and this redesign will require integration across sites of care and more sophisticated interfaces between the health care and social service sectors. Ready access to electronic medical records will be essential as well.
  - Reduced waste—The 20<sup>th</sup>-century health care system is extremely wasteful, characterized both by clinical
    waste (e.g., unnecessary procedures, redundant laboratory tests) and administrative waste (e.g.,
    compliance with the requirements of multiple insurance programs, which have not been standardized).
    Waste in the system must be reduced so resources can be rechanneled to meet the needs of patients and
    populations.
  - Stimulus for continued innovation—The 21st-century health care system must have the built-in capacity to continuously change and accommodate innovations in knowledge and technology.

The change process will not be easy, and the demonstrations must be able to withstand many challenges. In identifying promising demonstration projects, then, attention must be paid to implementation issues, including the need to:

- Resonate with the public and policy makers—The demonstration projects must be understandable to the
  lay public and policy makers and must address their immediate concerns. The demonstrations should be
  structured to produce some tangible results in the short run.
- Develop a broad base of support—While a start-up investment may be necessary to assist in initiating
  change, most demonstrations should be budget neutral to the federal government over the long term or at
  least budget conscious. Careful thought should be given to the benefits and costs of the demonstrations to
  each of the major stakeholders, including patients, payers, and

THE TIME FOR CHANGE HAS COME 21

providers. Financial and other incentives should be offered to key stakeholders, recognizing that major change is difficult to initiate and to sustain over long periods of time. Both the public sector (i.e., federal and state governments) and the private sector (e.g., philanthropic foundations) should provide up-front support for the conduct of the demonstrations.

- Recognize and address barriers—There will be many barriers to change—political, cultural, organizational, regulatory, and others. To be successful, demonstrations must identify and eliminate (or at least mitigate) these barriers.
- Build on existing competencies—There is no time to lose. The set of demonstration projects initiated in 2003 should produce the building blocks of a model 21<sup>st</sup>-century community health care system by 2006. The Department of Health and Human Services should select demonstration sites that have a high likelihood of making rapid progress.

The committee identified five major categories of demonstrations—chronic care, primary care, ICT infrastructure, state health insurance, and liability. These demonstration categories are discussed in turn in Chapters 2 through 6. For each category, multiple demonstration projects or sites are proposed for two reasons. First, within any given category, there would likely be a good deal of variability in design characteristics, which in turn will influence the likelihood of success or failure. For example, an ICT demonstration project in a predominantly rural state would likely have different characteristics than one in a large metropolitan area. Much can be learned from assessing the variability in design characteristics across different types of demonstration sites, and the effects of different designs on impact. Second, a sizable number of sites will be needed for this strategy to begin to have a measurable impact on the health system overall.

# SUPPORTING AND EVALUATING THE DEMONSTRATIONS

As the demonstrations are launched, there must be comprehensive parallel efforts to support exchange among organizations undertaking the projects within a given demonstration, to evaluate the effectiveness of the approaches and interventions being practiced, and to broadly disseminate best practices thus identified. Such efforts are critical so that the demonstrations can achieve their full potential, and those that show the most promise can be rapidly replicated across the country.

The committee believes that learning collaboratives are the best mechanism for providing support for the demonstrations, and that such collaboratives should be formed for each of the five areas enumerated above. The learning collaboratives would be modeled after similar efforts at both the national and state levels, in which provider organizations have defined common goals and related performance measures and collaborated successfully— exchanging ideas and information—to improve clinical care for patients with diabetes, heart disease, and other conditions (Institute for Healthcare Improvement, 2002; Oswald, 2002). In the process, these organizations have successfully reengineered delivery systems to meet their quality improvement targets. These demonstration-specific collaboratives—which would exist virtually but would need some staff support—would be created by various organizations, depending upon interest and existing capacity. For example, the Health Resources and Services Administration might take responsibility for establishing the primary care collaborative, and the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services the chronic care collaborative. Of course, either or both agencies might choose to conduct the collaborative directly or to contract with a private-sector organization.

In addition to the learning collaboratives, the committee believes there needs to be a national evaluation and dissemination effort that would span all five demonstration categories and would include an advisory council with representatives from each of the areas. Given

22

the previous, related work of the Agency for Healthcare Quality and Research (AHRQ), it would be logical for this agency to take the lead in creating and nurturing such an effort. There would need to be adequate support to carry out this critical activity. Planning for the evaluation should begin at the same time as planning for the demonstrations. The criteria, performance measures, and data to be used in assessing progress must be defined in advance. Those involved in the effort would, over time, rigorously review quantitative and qualitative performance data from all of the demonstrations to assess effectiveness, and then extensively disseminate the best practices identified. They also would be able to discern how the five demonstration categories—potential building blocks for a reformed health care system— might fit together in the future. In addition, they would be well poised to identify the specific environmental obstacles that need to be addressed if demonstrations that prove successful are to be replicated on a larger scale.

# **Learning Collaboratives**

As the demonstrations were being designed and initiated, the learning collaboratives would play an important supporting role in enabling the sharing of information about strategies, tools, and techniques (see Box 1–3). Such arrangements allow implementing organizations to benefit from the creativity and experiences of others, help guard against reinventing the wheel, and foster continuous learning. Learning collaboratives rely on regular contact, mainly electronic, and regular reporting of agreed-upon performance measures and qualitative progress reports. The collaboratives for these demonstrations would also provide informal and, to a lesser degree, formal technical assistance to the projects.

Once performance could be assessed, the collaboratives would provide a venue for discussions about what does and does not work, generating information necessary for midcourse corrections. This kind of transparency and accountability across the demonstration organizations could help foster a culture of change in a health care system that has firmly entrenched interests and has over the decades stubbornly resisted reform.

#### **Evaluation and Dissemination**

A critical step, whether carried out by AHRQ or another organization, is to identify up front what would constitute success in each of the five demonstration categories and to trans

# **BOX 1-3 COMPONENTS OF A LEARNING COLLABORATIVE**

- Multiple organizations that make a commitment, signed by the top leader, to achieve measurable improvements on a given set of metrics and to support staff in their efforts to do so
- Shared goals and related performance measures
- Education and training on how a collaborative functions
- A coordinated, supportive network through which demonstration project staff can actively learn from each other
- Informal coaching for project staff
- Reporting of performance measures back to the collaborative and to the larger evaluation effort SOURCE: Adapted from Oswald (2002).

late these ideas into quantifiable measures and associated data requirements. This effort is important because limited documentation exists on approaches that represent alternatives to the traditional ways in which care is delivered and financed. With such measures, a rigorous evaluation can be performed, including, where possible, a business case and economic analysis. This business case would help determine whether the demonstration benefits—as measured by clinical quality indicators and other measures—outweigh the costs, after accounting for up-front investment, particularly in the case of the ICT infrastructure demonstrations. It is essential to identify the interventions that are and are not successful and to understand what factors contributed to their success or failure. Such an evaluation can go a long way toward convincing powerful stakeholders about why and how they need to change.

The evaluative measures should help provide a strategic focus for the participating organizations that emphasizes the objectives of enhancing quality of care and reducing waste. To the extent possible, these clinical measures should be aligned with the process and outcome measures included in the National Health Care Quality Report, which is to be published by AHRQ in September 2003. As a conceptual framework, the National Health Care Quality Report will use the six quality aims enumerated earlier (i.e., safety, effectiveness, patient-centeredness, timeliness, efficiency, and equity). Specific measures falling into one or more of these domains have been selected—for example, the percentage of diabetics with hemoglobin Alc under control and the percentage of heart failure patients prescribed an angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitor at discharge are measures of effectiveness (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2002). AHRQ is also developing the National Disparities Report, and measures from this report might be highly useful in assessing efforts to address racial, ethnic, and geographic disparities. If demonstration sites apply some or all of the same measures, it will be possible to gauge their progress in comparison with that of the nation as a whole.

At the close of the demonstrations, when it is clear which approaches and interventions have yielded best practices and on what specific dimensions, it will be time to get the word out to the broader community. The information disseminated should include all the documentation and analysis generated over the course of a project, including costs incurred, gains realized (particularly in the clinical realm), and operational issues confronted and overcome.

This would also be an appropriate time to identify environmental obstacles that must be confronted for best practices to take hold, including those that cut across a number of different demonstrations and therefore necessitate priority action. It is clear that future wide-scale implementation of the best practices resulting from the demonstrations will require more than Medicaid waivers, Medicare demonstration authority, or communities and states that are uniquely supportive of a given demonstration.

Those individuals involved in evaluating and disseminating demonstrated best practices will have an important vantage point. They will understand not only which of the demonstration building blocks are effective, but also how to combine them into a more comprehensive, synergistic reform model. They will understand where gaps exist and how to fill them. Finally, they will have detailed knowledge about environmental obstacles that need to be overcome and areas in which new ground rules need to be articulated for the seeds of the successful demonstrations to be sown and to take hold across the country, transforming the landscape of the health care system in the process.

#### OTHER POSSIBLE DEMONSTRATION AREAS

The committee believes that the five demonstration categories enumerated above represent a reasonable starting point from which to stimulate fundamental change in the health system, but they are not the only promising areas. The following are summaries of the two other areas that were seriously considered but

not selected, which may also represent good candidates:

- Making America's hospitals safe and effective and a decent place to work—Many if not most of the country's hospitals were built decades ago. Since that time, a great deal has been learned about how best to design work environments to promote patient and worker safety and improve efficiency. There have been many advances in information technology and medical devices that have specific space and other physical requirements. There have also been innovations in architectural design that result in environments more conducive to the provision of patient-centered care and workforce satisfaction. It should be noted that although the committee did not ultimately choose this category, some of the categories selected—particularly ICT infrastructure—could well lead to improvements in hospital care and environments.
- Evidence-based, patient-centered pharmacy management—Medications, both prescription and over-the-counter, represent one of the fastest-growing components of heath care services. Safety is a serious concern, with many suffering preventable adverse drug events that could have been avoided through the use of computerized medication order entry systems (Bates et al., 1999). Cost is a major issue, given that Medicare and some other insurance plans provide little or no insurance coverage for prescription drugs. Numerous options exist for promoting evidence-based prescribing of medications and improving efficiency. Although pharmacy management was not selected as one of the five categories, the committee believes that projects in some of the selected categories—including chronic care, primary care, and ICT infrastructure—will have a highly positive impact in this area.

#### REFERENCES

Advisory Commission on Consumer Protection and Quality in the Health Care Industry. 1998. "Quality First: Better Health Care for All Americans." Online. Available at http://www.hcqualitycommission.gov/final/ [accessed Aug. 28, 2002].

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. 2002. National Healthcare Quality Report: Preliminary Measure Set.

Alliance for Health Care Reform. 2002. "Health Care Costs and Health Coverage." Online. Available at http://www.allhealth.org/pub/pdf/Costs-Coverage\_Aug2002.pdf [accessed Sept. 3, 2002].

Bates, D.W., J.M.Teich, J.Lee, D.Seger, G.J.Kuperman, N.Ma'Luf, D.Boyle, and L.Leape. 1999. The Impact of Computerized Physician Order Entry on Medication Error Prevention. *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 6 (4):313–21.

Berwick, D.M. 2002. A User's Manual for the IOM's 'Quality Chasm' Report. Health Aff (Millwood) 21 (3):80-90.

Center for Studying Health System Change. 2001. "Tracking Health Care Costs: Hospital Care Key Cost Driver in 2000 (Data Bulletin Number 21, September 2001—revised)." Online. Available at http://www.hschange.org/CONTENT/380/ [accessed Sept. 3, 2002].

Chassin, M.R., and R.W.Galvin. 1998. The Urgent Need to Improve Health Care Quality. Institute of Medicine National Roundtable on Health Care Quality. *JAMA* 280 (11):1000–5.

Heffler, S., S.Smith, G.Won, M.K.Clemens, S. Keehan, and M.Zezza. 2002. Health Spending Projections for 2001–2011: the Latest Outlook. Faster Health Spending Growth and a Slowing Economy Drive the Health Spending Projection for 2001 Up Sharply. *Health Aff (Millwood)* 21 (2):207–18.

Institute for Healthcare Improvement. 2002. "Institute for Healthcare Improvement Homepage." Online. Available at http://www.ihi.org/[accessed Oct. 8, 2002].

Institute of Medicine. 2000. To Err Is Human: Building a Safer Health System, eds. L.T.Kohn, J. M.Corrigan, and M.S.Donaldson. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.

- - —... 2002a. Care Without Coverage: Too Little, Too Late. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- ——. 2002b. *Health Insurance Is a Family Matter*. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- 2002c. Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care. eds. B.D.Smedley, A.Y.Stith, and A.R.Nelson. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Institute of Medicine and National Research Council. 1999. Ensuring Quality Cancer Care. eds. M. Hewitt and J.V.Simone. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Leatherman, S. and D.McCarthy. 2002. Quality of Health Care in the United States: A Chartbook. New York, NY: The Commonwealth Fund. Oswald, N. 2002. Structured Collaboratives: Accelerating Quality Improvement in California. Oakland, CA: California Healthcare Foundation.
- Schuster, M.A., E.A.McGlynn, and R.H.Brook. 1998. How Good Is the Quality of Health Care in the United States? *Milbank Q* 76 (4):517–63, 509.
- The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. 1996. Chronic Care in America: A 21st Century Challenge. Princeton, NJ: The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation.

2

27

# **Chronic Care: Reducing the Toll of Chronic Conditions on Individuals and Communities**

#### SUMMARY DESCRIPTION

Demonstration projects in this category are intended to improve the quality of care for individuals with one or multiple chronic conditions in a particular geographic area. The projects are expected to result in changes at two levels: (1) redesign of the delivery system to provide care that is ongoing, is coordinated across multiple providers (both acute and long-term care providers and social services), and supports patient self-management; and (2) implementation of community-wide educational and other initiatives designed to improve population health. Changes in both areas will involve extensive use of 21st-century information and communications technology (ICT).

The committee suggests that demonstrations initially focus on Medicare beneficiaries, with the objective of expanding to all payers and even the uninsured over time. These demonstrations would be community-based (although some may be state-wide or even multistate efforts). Regardless of the geographic area, state collaboration would be important because many Medicare beneficiaries are also eligible for Medicaid. The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) would issue a Request for Proposals (RFP), and a limited number of demonstration sites (10–12) would be selected from the applicants. Applicants might be a consortium of providers (e.g., medical groups, hospitals), a health plan, an academic health center, a professional or trade association, or other established health care organization. Each selected applicant would receive a 1-year planning grant to accomplish two objectives: establishment of a public-private partnership and development of a 3-year implementation plan. The public-private partnership should encompass all major stakeholders, including consumer groups, health care professionals, health care and social service organizations, the public health community, state government, and others.

The demonstration projects would be 4 years in duration (including the 1-year planning period). Measurable improvements in care delivery should be achieved within 2 years. Over the long haul, the objective is to achieve a lessening of chronic illness burden in a community. These demonstrations are intended to be budget neutral over the long term (exclusive of up-front federal capital investments in ICT).

# **BACKGROUND**

A chronic condition is defined as "a condition that requires ongoing medical care, limits what one can do, and is likely to last longer than one year" (Partnership for Solutions, 2002a, p. 1). An estimated 120 million Americans have one or more chronic conditions; more than half of these people have multiple such conditions. People with chronic conditions account for the majority of overall health care spending. Chronic illness affects all age groups and also leads to reduced worker productivity and lost time from school for children (National Academy on an Aging Society, 2000). Some chronically ill patients have inadequate or no health insurance, and these individuals receive less care and have higher out-of-pocket expenditures than they should (Partnership for Solutions, 2002b).

Some patients with chronic conditions experience disability and functional limitations (e.g., hearing loss, visual impairment, loss of mobility), including cognitive impairment and other geriatric syndromes that severely undermine quality of life and pose a threat to independence. The 5 million Medicare beneficiaries who are under age 65 and disabled fall into this category, as does an increasing proportion of over-65 Medicare beneficiaries, sometimes referred to as the "frail elderly" (Gluck and Hanson, 2001) (see Table 2–1).

These individuals require ongoing treatment of a specific disease(s), but this treatment is not sufficient. Careful management of geriatric

TABLE 2-1 Prevalence of Chronic Conditions, Disability, and Functional Limitations

Age	65–74	75–84	85+
None of the Three Problems	17%	10%	4%
Chronic Conditions Only	51%	37%	17%
Disability Only	2.1%	2.1%	3%
Functional Limitations Only	*	0.4%	*
Any Two of the Three Problems	22%	32%	32%
All Three Problems	8%	19%	44%

SOURCE: Partnership for Solutions, Johns Hopkins University analysis of 1996 Medical Expenditure Panel Survey, unpublished data; also in American Association of Retired Persons (2002).

NOTE: This table makes use of the following definitions to estimate the prevalence of three types of health problems—chronic conditions, disability and functional limitations. Chronic condition—has lasted or is expected to last 12 months or longer and either (1) involves ongoing medical care or (2) places limitations on age-appropriate task performance, basic self-care, independent living skills, or social interactions. Functional limitation—the need for help or supervision with any activities of daily living or instrumental activities of daily living. Disability—includes any one of the following characteristics: (1) the use of assistive technology; (2) difficulty walking, climbing stairs, grasping objects, reaching overhead, lifting, bending or topping, or standing for long periods of time; (3) any limitation in work, housework, or school; (4) social/recreational limitations; (5) cognitive limitations, such as confusion or memory loss, or decision-making problems that lead to interference with daily activities or require supervision to ensure one's safety; (6) vision problems; and (7) deafness or difficulty in hearing.

syndromes (e.g., cognitive decline, lack of resil-ience, undernutrition, loss of mobility) and attention to the patient's social and environmental circumstances are needed to preserve maximum levels of independence and slow the progression of disability (Buchner and Wagner, 1992; Welch et al., 1996).

For many with chronic conditions, navigating the complex health care system can be difficult, sometimes even distressingly so. The chronically ill typically require care from multiple clinicians (both primary care providers and specialists) and across multiple sites (e.g., hospital, nursing home, in the community with or without home care), and this care is generally not well coordinated. Moreover, in the current highly decentralized, paper-driven health care system, clinical information (e.g., diagnoses, test results, medications, specialty consults) is frequently unavailable when needed.

The chronically ill experience many problems with access to care and avoidable complications of care. In a recent survey of chronically ill individuals, about three of four respondents reported difficulty with obtaining medical care; specifically, many experienced difficulty getting care from a primary care physician (72 percent) or a medical specialist (79 percent), as well as obtaining prescription drugs (74 percent) (Partnership for Solutions, 2002c). Nearly 20 percent of Americans report problems communicating with their clinicians (Collins et al., 2002). The lack of coordinated care results in chronically ill people receiving inconsistent and contradictory information and experiencing many avoidable complications (Partnership for Solutions, 2002a, 2002c). All of these problems are likely exacerbated for those chronically ill who are disabled, frail, and/or have cognitive impairments.

Improving care for people with chronic conditions must be a high priority, but improved care alone is not enough. The health care system must focus far more attention and resources on community-wide interventions aimed at preventing or at least slowing the onset and progression of these conditions. About 95 percent of health care expenditures is currently devoted to direct medical care services, mainly for the treatment of people with chronic diseases (McGinnis et al., 2002). Very few resources are devoted to reducing the unhealthy behaviors that currently contribute to about 40 percent of deaths in the United States (McGinnis et al., 2002), including poor dietary habits, lack of physical activity, smoking, and excessive alcohol consumption.

The health care delivery system must take greater responsibility for promoting healthy lifestyles. The personal health care system has a role to play in educating individual patients and providing supportive interventions (e.g., counseling, nicotine patches), but the personal health care system reaches only those who seek health services, many of whom have already suffered serious and irreparable damage as a result of poor health behaviors. Broader-based interventions are needed to reach the entire population of a community before harm has occurred

It is unrealistic and inefficient to expect providers acting individually to address all population concerns. They do not have the financial resources, incentives, or expertise to do so. Some health plans have attempted to focus greater attention on the prevention of chronic diseases for their members, but many people are not enrolled in comprehensive health plans. In many communities, moreover, the frequent turnover of enrollees attenuates incentives to focus on interventions that can produce substantial long-term benefits in terms of improved health status. Collaborative community-wide efforts are needed, as are specific interventions to align provider financial incentives in ways that reward the provision of high-quality care.

#### **GOALS**

The primary objective of the demonstration projects in this category is to improve the quality of care provided to the chronically ill and to reduce the burden of disease and disability in a community. Specific goals include the following:

- 1. The right care at the right time in the right setting
- State-of-the-art, science-based care for the patient's condition or conditions
- Elimination of underuse (i.e., the failure to provide services from which the patient would likely have benefited) and overuse (i.e., the provision of services that expose patients to more harm than good)
- Emphasis on primary, secondary, and tertiary prevention
- Enhanced management and coordination of chronic conditions (e.g., ease of access to appropriate providers)
  - 2. Improved patient safety
- Decrease in errors
- Decrease in avoidable hospitalizations
- Improved medication management
  - 3. Enhanced patient role and satisfaction
- Promotion of shared responsibility for health (e.g., support for healthy behaviors and lifestyles)
- Improved self-management of chronic conditions
- Increased health literacy and understanding of care plans
- Informed decision making
- Improved satisfaction of patients and informal caregivers (including managing burden and providing respite for informal caregivers)
- Customized care—not one size fits all, but care that takes account of patient preferences, culture, family circumstances, and needs
  - 4. Enhanced workforce productivity
- Development of effective multidisciplinary teams
- Improved communication among team members and between patients and team members
- Shared values and goals among team members
- Increased satisfaction on the part of health professionals
  - Reduced clinical waste
- Decrease in overuse
- Reduced use of services to treat complications arising from errors
  - 6. Improved coverage
- More appropriate benefit package for the chronically ill (e.g., coverage of prescription drugs, educational and support services)
- Coverage of benefits for which there is evidence to substantiate effectiveness
- Coverage for some chronically ill individuals who otherwise would have been uninsured
  - 7. Establishment of a strong public-private partnership
- Healthier community—measurable decrease in the incidence of chronic conditions and the associated disease
- Improved capabilities at the state and community levels to address health care issues and to collaborate and invest in health system improvements

# **DEMONSTRATION ATTRIBUTES**

It is anticipated that demonstration projects in this category would focus initially on a subset of Medicare beneficiaries, perhaps those with one or more conditions requiring intensive ongoing management. Over time, however, the projects would expand to include all of the chronically ill. Demonstrations would include interventions falling into two broad categories: (1) redesign of the personal health care delivery

print version of this publication as the

system, and (2) establishment of community-wide health promotion initiatives. Initially, most attention will likely be focused on the first category. Over time, the demonstration sites should shift attention and resources to the second category, which has much potential to reduce the burden of chronic illness in a community.

In the area of personal health care, demonstration sites would be expected to establish comprehensive chronic care management programs including the following elements:

- Evidence-based treatment programs for all of the leading chronic conditions that affect the population being served. Many individuals involved in the demonstration project will have more than one condition requiring active management.
- Services to detect and minimize the consequences of geriatric syndromes, including a decline in cognitive (e.g., loss of memory) and physical (e.g., visual loss, hearing impairment) functioning.
- Services to meet the preventive, acute, long-term care, and other health care needs of patients with chronic conditions.
- Extended outreach and coordination with social and environmental services, provided through formal (e.g., meals on wheels, senior centers, transportation services, assisted-living environments) and informal (e.g., faith-based institutions, family and friends) means.

With regard to population-level health interventions, prevention and management of chronic conditions often involve modifications in behavior (e.g., proper diet, exercise, avoidance of nicotine, moderate use of alcohol). Community-wide educational campaigns and other population-level interventions may be the most effective way of accomplishing these objectives.

Each demonstration project would involve five components: (1) establishment of a coordinating structure (or strengthening of an existing one), (2) development of chronic care management programs, (3) ICT support, (4) innovative approaches to payment and to recognizing and rewarding achievement, and (5) learning collaboratives and community-wide educational efforts. These components are discussed in turn below

# **Establishment of a Coordinating Structure**

As discussed above, demonstration projects in this category are intended to lead to the establishment of exemplary chronic care management programs for individuals and community-wide initiatives focused on improving population health. Accomplishing these objectives will require new structures that extend beyond the traditional personal health care delivery system.

During the first year of the project, grant recipients would be responsible for establishing a broad-based coordinating structure with participation from all important stakeholders, including consumer groups; the medical community; hospitals; health plans; the public health community; local, state, and federal governments; the business community; and others. This coordinating structure should have (or develop) the capability to (1) provide strong leadership for the demonstration, (2) work with providers to organize chronic care management programs, (3) develop necessary ICT infrastructure, (4) implement payment and quality monitoring programs, and (5) provide knowledge management support and sponsor learning collaboratives.

The committee recognizes that 1 year is an ambitious time frame for building a coordinating structure, and encourages DHHS to consider selecting sites where some form of coordinating structure already exists. For example, a collaborative effort aimed at achieving sizable improvements in cancer care has been established in the state of Georgia (Georgia Cancer Coalition, 2002), and a diabetes initiative is

under way in New York State (IDEATel, 2002). In other communities, an initial grant recipient may be an academic health center, a consortium of providers, or a professional or hospital association with the potential to provide leadership and a commitment to establishing a broader-based structure; in these instances, however, the planning phase may need to be longer.

In communities where medical groups, health plans, or other providers have developed or are seeking to develop chronic care management programs, such programs might serve as a strong foundation for broader community-wide efforts. The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) also has disease management and coordinated care demonstration projects under way that focus on improved care delivery for specific beneficiaries through changes in payment, benefits, and organization of care (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2002; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2001). These efforts, too, might represent a strong foundation for a more expansive, community-wide effort. These types of health care delivery programs alone would not qualify as a demonstration. However, they might well constitute the first step toward establishing community-wide efforts with the capacity to provide coordinated health and social services, as well as community-wide educational and public health campaigns, and to cultivate a learning environment with the potential to contribute to greater health care redesign within a community (and ultimately nationwide).

During the first year, grant recipients would also be responsible for developing a comprehensive plan for the 3-year implementation phase of the project. This planning effort should result in a detailed operational plan specifying the patients to be enrolled, services to be provided, subcontracts to be initiated with vendors, clinicians and institutions to be involved, payment mechanisms, and community outreach and educational endeavors. If waivers from various state or federal regulatory requirements will be required (e.g., waivers from states' licensure requirements for health professionals to enable telecommunications services across a two-state demonstration project, or waivers from state scope-of-practice acts to allow for multidisciplinary team management), these should be identified and secured within the first 12 months.

Strong leadership will be critical to the success of all the demonstration projects given the profound cultural and organizational changes that must occur within the health care community. There should also be a willingness on the part of health care professionals and organizations to develop new relationships, especially ones that go beyond the boundaries of the traditional medical care system. The mission and operations of health care organizations would need to reflect a greater commitment to both individual health care and population health initiatives. In many communities, health care providers would need to strike a new balance between collaboration and competition. It would be the responsibility of the leadership of the coordinating structure to identify community-specific barriers and to identify solutions (e.g., establishing coordination across insurance plans, forging relationships between existing disease management programs and the overall chronic care initiative).

#### **Development of Chronic Care Management Programs**

Unlike much acute, episodic care, effective care for the chronically ill is a collaborative process, best carried out through a systematic approach (Von Korff et al., 1997). Wagner et al. (1996) have identified five important elements of chronic care programs:

- Evidence-based, planned care—Guidelines and protocols applicable to each of the leading chronic conditions that affect the population being served must be incorporated into practice.
- *Multidisciplinary team approach*—Delivery of care is generally through a multidisciplinary team (both health and social services) with well-defined relationships and responsibilities. Members of the team must have

flexibility in allocating time and resources to meet the needs of each patient for education and support.

- Patient information—There must be systematic approaches to providing counseling, education, information feedback, and other support to patients (Brown, 1990; DeBusk et al., 1994; Mullen et al., 1987).
- Clinical knowledge and expertise—Both patients and clinicians should have ready access to knowledge and specialized expertise through such means as teleconferencing, referrals to specialists, computer decision support systems, and collaborative care models (in which primary care providers and specialists practice together at least some of the time) (Barton and Schoenbaum, 1990; Katon et al., 1995; Litzelman et al., 1993; McCulloch et al., 1994; Vinicor et al., 1987).
- Supportive information systems—Effective mechanisms for sharing information among team members and between patients and team members (e.g., computer-based records, registries) are critical. Also helpful are systems that provide reminders for preventive care and necessary follow-up, and track patient compliance with treatment plans (Dickey and Petitti, 1992; Turner et al., 1990).

The coordinating structure would be responsible for working with groups of providers in the community to organize chronic care management programs. In nearly all cases, extensive team building would be required to forge closer and more collaborative working relationships among various types of health care professionals. A high priority should be placed on designing care processes that are sensitive and accommodating to the needs of health care professionals. The greatest success would come from the alignment of well-designed systems accompanied by financial and other incentives to motivate providers. Attention should also be focused on the design of programs and care processes that have the potential to reduce health disparities.

In some communities, disease management programs sponsored by medical groups, health systems, or health plans may serve as initial building blocks. However, the chronic care management programs in these demonstration projects are intended to differ from typical disease management programs in several important ways. First, these programs are intended to serve beneficiaries with many different chronic conditions (and often with multiple conditions), while disease management programs tend to be limited to a specific disease. Second, these programs should provide for all of patients' preventive, acute, and chronic care needs, not just services for the treatment of a specific disease. Finally, those who develop programs would be required to participate in collaborative community-wide efforts focused on prevention and health promotion.

# **Information and Communications Technology Support**

A major component of these demonstrations should be the expanded use of ICT to improve care for the chronically ill. Specifically, ICT would enable the following improvements:

#### 1. Better communication

- Web-based dissemination of knowledge (relative to both specific diseases and chronic care management)
- Sharing of learning experiences between patients and clinicians, among clinicians, and among patients
- E-mail communication between patients and clinicians and among clinicians
- Telemedicine, including the use of home monitoring devices (e.g., for glucose monitoring) that transmit results via the Web

- Provision of Web-based reminders (e.g., for flu shots, physical activity, and diet) to patients and clinicians
- Electronic health risk appraisal and feedback reports
- Ongoing patient communication with support groups
- Electronic access to patient records (as information becomes computerized), with appropriate safeguards for patient confidentiality
  - 2. Chronic care registries
- Central repository for patients' care plans and other important health, clinical, and service information
- Patients' access to their care plans in hardcopy or electronic form
- Real-time access to all information in the repository by patients and their providers to improve coordination and care delivery
- Tracking and monitoring of patients' progress
  - Medication order entry systems—computerized prescriptions with centralized repository of information for patients
  - 4. Creation of a "paperless" clinical environment
- Reporting of results from laboratories and imaging centers
- Consults with specialists
- Emergency encounters
- Clinicians notes
  - 5. Advanced decision support systems for clinicians and patients

Development of this ICT infrastructure would likely take place in phases over the duration of the demonstration, but there should be a comprehensive plan and timeline for the development and deployment of various capabilities. All demonstrations should involve major advances in the first three areas listed above during the 3-year project.

Some consideration should also be given to building on efforts already under way. Potential applicants that have already made progress in the first three areas would be expected to develop more advanced ITC capabilities in the last two areas above during the demonstration period. There might also be some opportunity to transfer the knowledge and technology developed in a specific location to new demonstration projects starting up in other locales.

One example of an initiative already under way is the diabetes telemedicine collaborative in New York State (IDEATel, 2002). This project is led by Columbia University and includes several major medical centers, hospitals, and a home for the aged located in New York City and upstate New York; CMS; and the American Diabetes Association. CMS has provided a \$28 million grant in support of this project, and various commercial vendors have made in-kind contributions, including home monitoring equipment and high-speed Internet lines. A total of 1,500 patients have been enrolled in this randomized controlled trial; one-half are in the intervention group and the other half in a control group. Computers with devices that read blood sugar, take pictures of skin and feet, and check blood pressure are placed in the homes of those in the intervention group. Patients are responsible for checking their blood sugar, blood pressure, and other factors. They receive educational material on diabetes and specific recommendations, reminders, and instructions for managing their disease. The program builds on Columbia University's Web-based clinical record technology and uses an automated care guideline system to analyze patient data and issue automated alerts to clinicians when certain information varies from predetermined values. Patients have access to their own clinical information.

# Innovative Approaches to Benefits, Copayments, Provider Payment, and Accountability

Initially, these demonstration projects should focus on Medicare beneficiaries. Each site would establish eligibility criteria for participation in its demonstration project (e.g., beneficiaries with one or more of the five most common chronic conditions). Some sites may prefer to include all beneficiaries with chronic conditions from the beginning, while others may wish to start with a smaller subpopulation and expand at a later date.

A major component of all of the demonstration projects in this category would be the flexibility to innovate in such areas as benefits coverage, beneficiary copayments, provider payments, and accountability. Careful design, ongoing evaluation, and sharing of learning experiences in these areas of program design would be critical.

Within the overall constraint of budget neutrality, demonstration sites should be given the flexibility to use Medicare funds in ways that would yield the greatest benefits in terms of improved patient and population health. One financing approach would be for CMS to provide the coordinating structure, with a capitation payment to cover all the care needs of the participating patients (i.e., preventive, acute, and chronic care). The coordinating entity should have the flexibility to provide the expanded benefits necessary for chronic care management.

Regular Medicare does not cover certain services that are often important for care of the chronically ill, including patient education and support, telemedicine (e.g., e-mail, home monitoring), and prescription drugs. For example, it may be possible through the coverage of prescription drugs and frequent monitoring of patients via e-mail to decrease office encounters and hospital episodes. In establishing an appropriate capitation payment rate for a demonstration site, CMS should strive to achieve budget neutrality and to correct geographic inequities in payment. The committee cautions CMS not to attempt to address cost concerns by setting capitation rates at levels that are unreasonably low or below current fee-for-service (FFS) expenditure rates. Participation of health plans in Medicare + Choice program, which also uses capitated payments, has been declining and this may be because payment rates are lower than FFS expenditures and these plans are expected to provide enhanced benefits. CMS might also consider establishing a national payment rate for chronic care demonstration sites, with a geographic adjustment for differences in the cost of practice. This would correct for geographic variability in payment rates that is not tied to differences in cost of practice.

The coordinating entity in each demonstration site would be responsible for (1) determining the amount of funds to be used for community-wide prevention and other initiatives, and (2) establishing payment methods for chronic care management programs. It would be important for each demonstration site to establish robust cost accounting systems at the level of both the coordinating entity and the providers of care.

Demonstration sites would be encouraged to experiment with various provider payment methods, especially ones that reward performance achievement. Numerous options have been identified for motivating providers to improve their performance (Bailit Health Purchasing, 2002). For example, a capitation payment to a chronic care management program that enrolls beneficiaries with diabetes might be contingent, in part, upon achievement of certain predetermined performance thresholds (e.g., more than 85 percent of beneficiaries have had an annual eye and foot exam; 75 percent have LDL cholesterol levels below 100; less than 20 percent have hemoglobin Alc above 8). Another option is to provide chronic care management programs with annual bonuses (e.g., 2–5 percent of capitation payments) based on achieving certain performance goals. Each demonstration site should also ensure that payments to providers are properly risk-adjusted to reflect the more extensive care needs of the

frail elderly, the disabled, and those with multiple chronic conditions.

Demonstration sites should consider providing stronger incentives to patients to encourage self-management. To a great extent, patients play a critical role in the ongoing management of chronic conditions, which frequently require major lifestyle changes, including improved diet, exercise, and smoking cessation. Patient incentives might include variable cost sharing, such as discounted Medicare Part B premiums for those who follow care plans. Of course, all chronic care management programs should provide patients with the tools and medical and social support necessary to encourage healthy behaviors.

Demonstration projects should engage in various forms of public reporting of progress and quality data. Each demonstration project should produce a progress report describing programmatic accomplishments. Each project should also be accountable to the public for showing improvements in the functioning and satisfaction of the chronically ill enrolled in the program, and over the long run, reductions in the state-wide (or community-wide) incidence and prevalence of chronic conditions. Demonstrations might also involve public reporting of comparative performance information on organized chronic care management programs and providers. Although much of the focus of the chronic care demonstrations should be on redesigning care delivery, the committee believes these efforts would be more effective if undertaken in an environment that provides ongoing feedback to clinicians and patients.

## **Learning Collaboratives and Community-Wide Educational Efforts**

Each demonstration project should include efforts to assist clinicians and patients in gaining access to scientific knowledge, practice guidelines, certified protocols, identified best practices, and decision support tools. Some consideration should be given to whether the National Library of Medicine and the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality might provide special knowledge management assistance to demonstration sites in the form of syntheses of the evidence in selected areas, special chronic care Web sites for clinicians and patients, and a rapid response system for key clinical or treatment questions that might arise during the demonstration project.

DHHS, in collaboration with private foundations, should ensure that each demonstration site has the resources necessary to establish a state-wide learning collaborative for clinicians involved in the care of patients with selected chronic conditions. In such collaboratives, participating members would commit to common goals and related performance measures for improving chronic care. DHHS should also provide resources needed to sponsor public education efforts targeted at both consumers and clinicians, with an emphasis on primary prevention, early identification, and slowing of the rate of progression of chronic diseases. Special attention should be focused on cultivating patient- and clinician-led quality improvement efforts. The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation is providing support for a limited number of regional chronic care learning collaboratives, and there might be an opportunity to build on this synergistic effort already under way (Improving Chronic Illness Care, 2002).

# POSSIBLE DEMONSTRATION EXPANSIONS

Although the primary focus of these demonstrations is on Medicare beneficiaries, all demonstration projects should have a tentative plan from the beginning for expansion beyond Medicare to other public and private payers. The structures and programs developed by the demonstration projects are intended to benefit all people in the community—both those with chronic conditions and those without who might delay or avoid the onset of such conditions through primary prevention. It is also important to note that many people with chronic conditions are covered by more than one insurance program (e.g., dual eligibilities under Medicare and Medicaid) or will move from one insurance

plan to another during the course of a project with changes in eligibility status (as regards age, income, and employment). The goal is to develop community-wide care delivery programs and supports that are available to all people, thus minimizing or avoiding some of the disruptions in care delivery and patient-clinician relationships that often result from changes in insurance coverage.

Some demonstrations might also expand beyond insured populations to provide coverage or services to certain uninsured individuals (e.g., uninsured cancer patients). Studies consistently document that sizable amounts of health care resources represent overuse (i.e., about 20 to 30 percent of patients receive services that expose them to more potential harm than good) (Schuster et al., 1998). Medical errors, another type of quality problem, also consume health care resources—resources used to treat those who are harmed as a result of those errors. One objective of some of the demonstration projects in this category may be to identify ways to remove "quality waste" (i.e., overuse and errors) from the system, and redistribute these resources to care of the uninsured (who frequently experience underuse, whereby patients do not receive services from which they would likely have benefited). DHHS and state governments should also consider providing grants or other financial incentives to encourage demonstration expansions aimed at the uninsured.

Although such expansion to all payers and/ or the uninsured would be difficult for most demonstration sites to accomplish within the 4-year demonstration time frame, it may be possible to identify some sites that have already taken steps in this direction and to build quite rapidly on these previous accomplishments. For example, an initiative in Maine—Healthy Future Partnership for Quality—is now in its 5th year (Healthy Futures and the Maine Center for Public Health, 2002). This community-based health reform initiative serves six small towns in central Maine. Patients enrolled in the program include both insured and uninsured individuals, with services for the uninsured being covered by a 10 percent surcharge on the fee for each insured participant. The surcharge is paid by the participating insurers, which include Anthem Blue Cross/Blue Shield, Cigna HealthCare, MaineCare (the state Medicaid program), and Hannaford Brothers. Thus far, the initiative has focused on patient education (regarding health behaviors, prevention, and disease management) and improved access to primary care and preventive services.

## REFERENCES

American Association of Retired Persons. 2002. "Beyond 50.02: A Report to the Nation on Trends in Health Security." Online. Available at <a href="http://www.aarp.org/beyond50/">http://www.aarp.org/beyond50/</a> [accessed Sept. 9, 2002].

Bailit Health Purchasing. 2002. Provider Incentive Models for Improving Quality of Care. Washington, D.C.: National Health Care Purchasing Institute.

Barton, M.B., and S.C.Schoenbaum. 1990. Improving Influenza Vaccination Performance in an HMO Setting: the Use of Computer-Generated Reminders and Peer Comparison Feedback. *Am J Public Health* 80 (5):534–6.

Brown, S.A. 1990. Studies of Educational Interventions and Outcomes in Diabetic Adults: a Meta-Analysis Revisited. *Patient Educ Couns* 16 (3):189–215.

Buchner, D.M., and E.H.Wagner. 1992. Preventing Frail Health, Clin Geriatr Med 8 (1):1–17.

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. 2002. Medicare Program; Solicitation for Proposals for the Demonstration Project for Disease Management for Severely Chronically Ill Medicare Beneficiaries With Congestive Heart Failure, Diabetes, and Coronary Heart Disease. Fed Regist 67 (36):8267–70.

Collins, K.S., D.L.Hughes, M.M.Doty, B.L.Ives, J.N.Edwards, and K.Tenney. 2002. Diverse Communities, Common Concerns: Assessing Health Care Quality for Minority Americans. Findings From the Commonwealth Fund 2001 Health Care Quality Survey. New York, NY: The Commonwealth Fund.

DeBusk, R.F., N.H.Miller, H.R.Superko, C.A. Dennis, R.J.Thomas, H.T.Lew, W.E.Berger

- 3rd, R.S.Heller, J.Rompf, D.Gee, et al. 1994. A Case-Management System for Coronary Risk Factor Modification After Acute Myocardial Infarction. Ann Intern Med 120 (9):721–9.
- Dickey, L.L., and D.Petitti. 1992. A Patient-Held Minirecord to Promote Adult Preventive Care. J Fam Pract 34 (4):457-63.
- Georgia Cancer Coalition. 2002. "Georgia Cancer Coalition Homepage." Online. Available at http://www.gacancercoalition.com/ [accessed Sept. 12, 2002].
- Gluck, M.E. (Georgetown University) and K.W. Hanson (The Henry J.Kaiser Family Foundation). 2001. "Medicare Chart Book." Online. Available at http://www.kff.org/content/2001/1622/ [accessed Sept. 9, 2002].
- Healthy Futures and the Maine Center for Public Health. 2002. Healthy Futures Partnership for Quality Project (Unpublished Document). IDEATel. 2002. "Informatics for Diabetes Education and Telemedicine." Online. Available at <a href="http://www.ideatel.org/info.html">http://www.ideatel.org/info.html</a> [accessed July
- 30, 2002].

  Improving Chronic Illness Care. 2002. "Improving Chronic Illness Care Homepage." Online. Available at <a href="http://www.improvingchroniccare.org/">http://www.improvingchroniccare.org/</a> [accessed Oct. 30, 2002].
- Katon, W., M.Von Korff, E.Lin, E.Walker, G.E. Simon, T.Bush, P.Robinson, and J.Russo. 1995. Collaborative Management to Achieve Treatment Guidelines. Impact on Depression in Primary Care. JAMA 273 (13):1026–31.
- Litzelman, D.K., R.S.Dittus, M.E.Miller, and W. M.Tierney. 1993. Requiring Physicians to Respond to Computerized Reminders Improves
  Their Compliance With Preventive Care Protocols. *J Gen Intern Med* 8 (6):311–7.
- McCulloch, D.K., R.E.Glasgow, S.E.Hampson, and E.Wagner. 1994. A Systematic Approach to Diabetes Management in the Post-DCCT Era. *Diabetes Care* 17 (7):765–9.
- McGinnis, M.J., P.Williams-Russo, and J.R. Knickman. 2002. The Case for More Active Policy Attention to Health Promotion. To Succeed, We Need Leadership That Informs and Motivates, Economic Incentives That Encourage Change, and Science That Moves the Frontiers. *Health Aff (Millwood)* 21 (2):78–93.
- Mullen, P.D., E.A.Laville, A.K.Biddle, and K. Long. 1987. Efficacy of Psychoeducational Interventions on Pain, Depression, and Disability in People With Arthritis: a Meta-Analysis. *J Rheumatol* 14 Suppl 15:33–9.
- National Academy on an Aging Society. 2000. "Workers and Chronic Conditions: Opportunities to improve productivity." Online. Available at http://www.partnershipforsolutions.org/pdf\_files/workers.pdf [accessed Oct. 30, 2002].
- Partnership for Solutions. 2002a. "Multiple Chronic Conditions: Complications in Care and Treatment." Online. Available at http://www.partnershipforsolutions.org/pdf\_files/2002/multiplecoitions.pdf [accessed July 30, 2002a].
- 2002b. "Out-of-Pocket Spending: People with Chronic Conditions Spend Up to Five Times More for Health Care." Online. Available at <a href="http://www.partnershipforsolutions.org/pdf\_files/2002/outofpocket.pdf">http://www.partnershipforsolutions.org/pdf\_files/2002/outofpocket.pdf</a> [accessed July 30, 2002b].
   2002c. "Public Concerns: Caring for People with Chronic Conditions." Online. Available at <a href="http://www.partnershipforsolutions.org/">http://www.partnershipforsolutions.org/</a>
- ———. 2002c. "Public Concerns: Caring for People with Chronic Conditions." Online. Available at http://www.partnershipforsolutions.org/pdf\_files/2002/publicconcn.pdf [accessed July 30, 2002c].
- Schuster, M.A., E.A.McGlynn, and R.H.Brook. 1998. How Good Is the Quality of Health Care in the United States? *Milbank Q* 76 (4):517–63, 509.
- Turner, R.C., L.E.Waivers, and K.O'Brien. 1990. The Effect of Patient-Carried Reminder Cards on the Performance of Health Maintenance Measures. Arch Intern Med 150 (3):645–7.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2001. Medicare Fact Sheet: Providing Coordinated Care to Improve Quality of Care for Chronically Ill Medicare Beneficiaries. Washington, D.C.: DHHS.
- Vinicor, F., S.J.Cohen, S.A.Mazzuca, N. Moorman, M.Wheeler, T.Kuebler, S.Swanson, P.Ours, S.E.Fineberg, E.E.Gordon, et al. 1987. DIABEDS: a Randomized Trial of the Effects of Physician and/or Patient Education on Diabetes Patient Outcomes. *J Chronic Dis* 40 (4):345–56.

Von Korff, M., J.Gruman, J.Schaefer, S.J.Curry, and E.H.Wagner. 1997. Collaborative Management of Chronic Illness. *Ann Intern Med* 127 (12):1097–102.

Wagner, E.H., B.T.Austin, and M.Von Korff. 1996. Organizing Care for Patients With Chronic Illness. Milbank Q 74 (4):511-44.

Welch, H.G., P.C.Albertsen, R.F.Nease, T.A. Bubolz, and J.H.Wasson. 1996. Estimating Treatment Benefits for the Elderly: the Effect of Competing Risks. *Ann Intern Med* 124 (6):577–84.

3

# **Primary Care: 40 Stellar Community Health Centers**

#### SUMMARY DESCRIPTION

Through implementation of proven models for redesigning care delivery, select community health centers (CHCs) would reinvent and substantially enhance primary care—encompassing preventive, acute, and chronic care—for all CHC patients. These CHCs would then serve as national models for practices across the country for the delivery of stellar primary care. The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) will issue a Request for Proposals (RFP) to the nation's approximately 859 community health centers and select 40 of these for demonstration projects in this category (see Box 3–1).

The demonstrations would be 3 years in duration, with the expectation that measurable improvements in care delivery processes would be realized within 18 months. All the demonstrations would include support for CHC leaders and clinicians to redesign care delivery and evaluate subsequent quality improvements and cost reductions. Each demonstration would provide the information and communications technology (ICT) infrastructure necessary to bring about this wholesale transformation and align financial incentives to support the care delivery changes instituted. Finally, the demonstration sites would be provided the resources necessary to disseminate what has been learned to other CHCs, primary care practices across the country, and the policy community.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The authors use the term CHCs, defined when this type of entity was first established. This term encompasses CHCs that do and do not receive Section 330 grants (see Box 3–1). In 1992, an alternative term, federally-qualified health centers (FQHCs) was established and refers to CHCs eligible to receive Medicare payment for services provided (these same CHCs may or may not receive section 330 grants) (*Federal Register*, 1992). In this chapter, the term CHCs is intended to encompass FQHCs.

# **BACKGROUND**

Primary care is a logical focus for demonstrations because it is an essential part of an effective health care system, a system that ideally emphasizes patient-centered, high-quality care while using resources efficiently (Institute of Medicine, 2001). Specifically, research has shown that higher levels of primary care in a geographic setting are associated with lower mortality rates, probably because primary care enables patients to obtain needed services before they are seriously ill, can improve health by helping patients control chronic conditions, and can provide sustained relationships between patients and clinicians (Gonnella et al., 1977; Shi, 1992). In addition, primary care settings are where the large majority of patients enter the health system and receive the bulk of their care, making such settings critical for achieving key preventive, health promotion, and chronic care goals (Bureau of Primary Health Care, 2002d; Institute of Medicine, 1996).

All CHCs—those that do and do not receive Section 330 grants—would be eligible to apply for a demonstration grant, with up to 40 CHCs being selected as demonstration sites. If more than one CHC in a given state received a demonstration grant, they could channel a portion of their funds to the state-level primary care association. Association staff could provide services such as data collection and reporting, infrastructure services, and patient education materials for CHCs within their state.

Selecting CHCs as a mechanism to enhance primary care makes sense for a variety of reasons. CHCs are an established network of primary care practices. They have a strong base of innovation upon which to build that includes well-developed programs for the management of chronic disease; an existing ICT infrastructure that supports the collection and reporting of performance measures; recognition of the importance of wraparound services, such as patient education and self-management; and established relationships with government,

#### **BOX 3-1 HOW CHCS ARE PAID**

Most CHCs receive Section 330 grants to enable them to provide services to the medically underserved, including the uninsured (*Federal Register*, 1996), with a small number of those that do not still meeting Section 330 eligibility requirements. These CHCs do not receive such grants because of funding constraints or because they do not want to meet increased reporting and financial requirements (Institute of Medicine, 2000).

Both types of CHCs, however, receive funding under the same Medicare and Medicaid formulas (Bureau of Primary Health Care, 2002c). They are paid on the basis of reasonable cost for providing services to Medicare beneficiaries. With respect to Medicaid, they are paid, at a minimum, on a per visit basis under a prospective payment system (PPS) that went into effect in 2001 as part of the Medicare, Medicaid, and State Children's Health Insurance Program (SCHIP) Benefits Improvement and Protection Act. Using 1999 and 2000 CHC cost information, each state calculates a minimum rate that is 100 percent of the average of each CHC's reasonable costs. While each CHC has a unique rate, annual adjustments to this rate are tied to the Medicare Economic Index factor (Bureau of Primary Health Care, 2002a; Koppen, 2001).

If CHCs contract with Medicaid managed care plans, they receive payments as

communities, and public health organizations. These features likely contribute to CHCs providing care that is at least as good as, and in many cases superior to, the overall health system in terms of better quality and lower costs (Falik et al., 1998; Institute of Medicine, 2000; Partridge, 2001; Regan et al., 1999; Starfield et al., 1994).

does any other provider, which may take the form of capitated payment, discounted fee for service, or other arrangements. However, the Balanced Budget Act provides a wraparound payment to CHCs equal to the difference between their cost of providing care to Medicaid patients and the amount they receive from the plans (Koppen, 2002).

A revenue profile for the nation's CHCs in 2000 is shown in the following table, but excludes those CHCs that do not receive Section 330 grants. Of the nation's 859 CHCs, 111 do not receive such grants.

Type of Revenue	Percentage of CHCs*
Medicaid	34
Medicare	6
Section 330 and other Federal Grants	25
Nonfederal grants (state, foundations)	14
Self-pay	6
Other (public and private payers	15
Total	100

SOURCE: Adapted from Bureau of Primary Health Care (2002d). \*Excludes CHCs that do not receive Section 330 grants.

CHCs have a shared mission and shared clinician values, attributes well suited to a spirit of collaboration (Berwick, 2002; Stevens, 2002a). And the fact that about two-thirds of CHC resources come from either federal grants, Medicare, or Medicaid provides leverage for policy makers seeking to implement change. CHCs are located across the country in both urban and rural settings (Bureau of Primary Health Care, 2002a) and serve a high proportion of low-income and poor patients. They are community-based and are required to have a majority of active CHC clients as board members (McAlearney, 2002). Consequently, they are in a position to understand and respond to local and patient needs.

CHCs are highly variable in terms of geographic location; funding mix; and involvement in chronic care collaboratives, which relates to their ICT capacity. They also vary in particular populations served (e.g., poor families, migrant workers, the homeless, school-age children), although in general CHCs serve a high proportion of the poor (two-thirds of patients are at or below the poverty line) and two-thirds are racial/ethnic minorities (Bureau of Primary Health Care, 2002d). Given this patient mix, overall improvements in care delivery should help to close the nation's existing racial and socioeconomic gaps in care.

Finally, the Administration has focused on CHCs as a way of providing services to the uninsured and other vulnerable populations. The Administration has stated that it plans to add 1200 new or expanded CHC sites<sup>2</sup> over the next 5 years and to increase the number of people served from 11 to 16 million (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2002). The Administration also recognizes the role of CHCs in providing important emergency response programs in urban settings. This year, the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) received \$175 million to create new CHCs, expand existing ones, and enhance emergency response programs (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2002).

In implementing proven models to redesign care delivery, demonstrations in this category would build upon and significantly expand the efforts of leading CHCs that are actively and successfully managing a select number of chronic conditions so that their care management approaches can be applied to all conditions and all health center patients.<sup>3</sup> The demonstrations would help extend existing innovations, detailed below, to the next level so that all CHC patients will have ready access to high-quality, science-based, state-of-the art care that is patient-centered and safe and allows for patient decision making and self-management. Ultimately, these demonstrations should lead to improved primary care across the country, as well as strengthen the nation's health care safety net.

### **Existing Innovations at CHCs**

The demonstrations will build upon CHCs' existing innovations in redesigning care delivery, which are supported by information technology and rely upon reporting and monitoring related performance measures.

- Chronic care management—Starting in 1998, five CHCs began using the Chronic Care Model (Wagner et al., 2001) and the Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI) models to redesign care for patients with diabetes. This initial effort has provided a springboard for CHCs to redesign care for patients with a number of chronic conditions, including cardiovascular conditions, asthma, depression, and HIV. Box 3–2 describes an example of a successful CHC program that used these models in improving care for patients with asthma. One of the central aspects of these models is a learning collaborative, whereby diverse organizations define common goals and share ideas, strategies, and methods—including redesign of care processes—for achieving improvements in clinical care for a specific condition. To date, about 500 CHCs have been involved in a collaborative of some kind (National Coalition on Health Care and Institute for Healthcare Improvement, 2002a; Stevens, 2002b).
- Electronic patient registries—Electronic patient registries—which at a minimum include an individual care plan for a specific disease, health status information, visit notes, and the capacity to generate summary statistics related to the individual and population—exist in about 500 CHCs and support the collaboratives noted above. The latest generation of registries, in place in over 140 CHCs and known as the Patient Electronic Care System, adds the ability to manage multiple chronic diseases, the latest

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CHCs may have one or more sites, with the average having three or more (Institute of Medicine, 2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> If the center's patient population reflects the population as a whole, at least 45 percent have one or more chronic conditions (Partnership for Solutions, 2001). In addition, studies have shown that adult low income CHC users have a higher prevalence of certain chronic conditions, such as hypertension and diabetes, than adult low income persons in the general population (Bureau of Primary Health Care, 2002a; Mathematica Policy Research, 1998a; Mathematica Policy Research, 1998b). The number of uninsured served by CHCs is 3.9 million, but this figure does not include those served by CHCs that do not receive Section 330 grants. Therefore, the total number of uninsured served by CHCs is likely larger.

evidence-based guidelines and related prompts, and the capacity to generate lists of patients in need of care (e.g., follow-up visits, laboratory tests). The system is available free of charge to CHCs that have already been involved in the Bureau of Primary Health Care's chronic disease programs. The registries are seen as a stepping stone to computer-based patient records currently in place in just a few CHCs (Langley, 2002a, 2002b).<sup>4</sup>

Performance measures—Data collection and reporting performance measures were initiated in the early
1990s and encompassed a small number of preventive care measures; now performance measures are
mostly linked to the collaboratives. They include some core, standardized measures to allow for
comparison and learning across CHCs, as well as organization-specific measures. In the future, the CHCs
plan to make their performance data available to the public (Stevens, 2002b).

# BOX 3-2 CHCS DEMONSTRATE SUCCESS IN MANAGING CHRONIC ILLNESSES: A CASE EXAMPLE

The Hill Health Center in New Haven, Connecticut, began an asthma improvement program in 2000 with one clinician and 30 patients (National Coalition on Health Care and Institute for Healthcare Improvement, 2002b). The program has now grown to serve over 900 patients in both the main clinic and eight school-based and primary care satellite clinics. The program has resulted in significant reductions in emergency department visits and school absenteeism. It has also increased the number of days that patients are free of asthma symptoms, outstripping national averages. Hill Health Center adapted existing models (see Box 3–4) to aid in the redesign of care delivery that led to these improvements.

The asthma program was initiated with the development of a patient registry to identify patients. The registry allows for tracking of measures related to individual patients and the population as a whole, more flexible scheduling of appointments, and identification of patterns. Responsibilities for care, such as taking of histories and patient education, are now divided among interdisciplinary teams, which include physicians, community health workers, and registered nurses. The Hill Health Center also includes patient education in groups in its improvement model. Patients are encouraged to manage their conditions through the development of an action plan, which incorporates a patient goal. They are also provided self-management tools, such as videos, comic books, peak flow meters, and brochures.

Continuing education of providers has been a priority as well. The center conducts in-service meetings to reinforce the use of the latest evidence-based guidelines and protocols for asthma care. It also uses an asthma assessment and treatment plan flow sheet and posts guidelines in color-coded laminated charts in easily accessible locations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The term "computer-based patient record" encompasses electronic medical records and is used for consistency throughout this report.

The Hill Health Center has partnered with multiple community organizations to address the environmental factors that can trigger the disease, such as pests, mold, and ventilation systems, as well as to provide educational materials, activities, and equipment for its patients. These organizations have included school nurses, the Visiting Nurses Associations, the local public Community Action Agency, the American Lung Association, and pharmaceutical companies.

To measure the improvement achieved through the program, the center developed a set of tracking indicators, but unfortunately did not report (or perhaps even collect) baseline data. These indicators have revealed the following:

- Medication used to control asthma has increased to 100 percent.
- School absenteeism has been reduced to less than 1 day per 2 weeks since January 2001.
- Emergency visits due to asthma have been reduced to less than 1 percent on average per 2 weeks since February 2001.
- · Peak flow rate performance has increased to greater than 80 percent.
- An asthma action plan is provided to 100 percent of patients.
- The number of symptom free days has increased to almost 80 percent (the national standard is 70 percent).

Through these improvements, the Hill Health Center has reduced costs as a result of fewer hospitalizations and emergency visits. This cost reduction has enabled the center to negotiate with managed care organizations to cover key medications and medical equipment and to make the reimbursement process smoother, although the center itself has not benefited financially from the improvements achieved.

Given the growing experience of CHCs with redesigning care delivery and measuring the results—500 CHCs have participated in a learning collaborative, with many being able to point to impressive results (National Coalition on Health Care and Institute for Healthcare Improvement, 2002b)—private primary care practices could likely benefit from what CHCs have learned along the way. Chronic care collaboratives based outside of CHCs have included private primary care practices and hospitals as well as CHCs (Wagner et al, 2001, 2001), and organizers point to the value of this cross-fertilization (Berwick, 2002). CHCs have also developed models for providing effective interdisciplinary and culturally competent care to patient populations that have a high proportion of ethnic/racial minorities, including those reliant on supportive services (Politzer et al., 2001)—models that private primary care practices could perhaps adapt as they work to implement and support care teams and attempt to close existing equity gaps (Institute of Medicine, 2002). Finally, CHCs have a history of integrating physical and mental health services, which leading primary care experts have long advocated to enhance quality (Institute of Medicine, 1996).

#### **GOALS**

Demonstration projects in this category are intended to achieve the following goals for all patients as appropriate:

- 1. High-Quality, patient-centered care
- Redesigned preventive, acute, and particularly chronic care that results in measurable decreases in severity of
  illness and increased use of preventive/ primary care, eventually leading to reductions in incidence and
  disease burden
- Care responsive to patients' wishes and social circumstances
- Effective clinical care teams that meet varied patient needs
  - 2. Participatory care
- Patients sharing actively in all clinical decisions that affect them
- Patients supported in learning how to care for themselves and, if they wish, to manage their own conditions
  - 3. Open access
- Access to appointments without delay, including same-day appointments
- Patient access to care through varied and convenient mediums
  - 4. Evidence-based, safe care
- Science-based, high-quality, state-of-the-art care that is safe and reliable
- Expert systems for quality improvement, including error detection and reporting
- Patients' confidence that they will not be subjected to invasive, harmful care that will not help them
  - 5. Shared best practices
- Sharing of best practices related to care delivery redesign and other learning across CHCs
- Patients' confidence that the best known approaches to care will be used to help prevent, address, and manage their illnesses, particularly in the case of chronic conditions
- Evaluation of CHC demonstration efforts and communication of results to the larger practice community
  - 6. Efficient, effective care
- Reduction in inappropriate hospital visits
- Other care delivery mechanisms that are less costly and equally or more effective, such as group visits, e-mail consults and lay health worker visits
- Improved medication management
  - 7. Equitable care
- Targeting of populations to meet diverse patient needs and reduce disparities
- A community orientation that gets diverse stakeholders involved in creative solutions for reducing ethic and racial disparities

# **DEMONSTRATION ATTRIBUTES**

The goal is for CHC demonstrations to become models for exemplary primary care practices over the next 3 years. Given this short timeframe, in all likelihood it will be prudent to select CHCs with an established track record in successfully implementing care delivery innovations. There is, however, no one size fits all approach to innovation. Each demonstration site would take into account its unique history, capacity, existing relationships, location, and distinct populations served while emphasizing four basic attributes:

- a patient-centered focus;
- investment in and implementation of ICT;
- shared learning and accountability; and
- a supportive financial environment.

By way of example, Box 3–3 presents a chart that illustrates what a leading CHC— which has already achieved innovation in all four of these areas—could accomplish over the 3-year demonstration period. Given this rela

tively short time frame and the ambitiousness of the goals outlined above, most CHCs would be limited to accomplishing these results in fewer domains.

BOX 3-3 POTENTIAL ACCOMPLISHMENTS OF AN CHC				
Key Attributes Patient-centered focus	Current Reality Chronic care collaboratives in place for two conditions, selected providers.	Demonstration Vision Care delivery redesigned for all conditions, all patients; full participation of all providers.		
Information and communications technology	Patient registry for two conditions; work under way to transition to electronic medical records (EMRs).	Computerized decision support integrating EMRs, secondary databases, and protocols at point of care.		
Shared learning and accountability	Participation in two condition- specific learning collaboratives; collection and reporting of select process and outcome measures.	Participation in demonstration- wide collaboratives; reporting of performance measures that show lower indications of disease severity, reduced emergency department/hospital use, increased use of preventive/ primary care, and progress on other quality indicators.		
Financial environment	Visit-based payment, except for the uninsured; staff on salary; achieve some cost savings resulting from innovations, but all accrue to payers.	Payment innovations to support more extensive care coordination and alternative care delivery vehicles; experimentation with rewarding teams and individuals, and centers for exemplary performance.		

#### **Patient-Centered Focus**

As noted, demonstration CHCs would redesign and transform the way care is delivered for all patients so that eventually care for all conditions as well as routine preventive care is transformed. By adding collaboratives, the demonstrations may extend existing models they have been using—the Chronic Care Model and the IHI models for health care organizations and clinical office practices (see Box 3–4)—to other conditionsor consider other approaches. These existing models are predicated on a well-developed ICT infrastructure, stress enhancing care delivery through better integration and coordination, and involve patient self-management and sharing of best practices and data across the organizations involved. The demonstrations would also need to make effective use of interdisciplinary teams, maximizing clinician and paraprofessional skills in the process (Milstein, 2002).

Each CHC patient would receive a care guide to help in navigating and planning for care within and outside of the CHC. These care guides would reside in the electronic patient registry or computer-based patient record; include data from other organizations from which the patient receives care (e.g., laboratory or

hospital); and have built-in supports, such as electronic and phone reminders, to help clinicians and patients in monitoring care against an agreed-upon plan. The care guides should serve to educate patients, would help foster patient self-management, and should aid in integrating and coordinating care, so that a patient can easily move from one setting to another without a great deal of disruption.

Two existing efforts provide some guidance on how CHCs have been integrating care across settings, and may serve as models for CHCs that have not yet focused on enhancing care delivery beyond their centers. The first is the Integrated Service Development Initiative (ISDI), which began in 1994 and is focused on integrating services across Bureau of Primary Health Care (BPHC)-supported programs and other safety net providers. In addition to integrating administrative and financial functions, the ISDI projects have also focused on clinical integration, such as creation of specialty referral networks and standardized disease management protocols and integration of management information systems (Health Resources and Services Administration, 2002). Another BPHC-initiated

# **BOX 3-4 CARE DELIVERY MODELS ADAPTED BY CHCS**

CHCs have adapted and integrated leading models for the redesign of care delivery, including the Chronic Care Model (CCM), developed at Group Health Cooperative of Puget Sound, and improvement models designed by the Institute of Healthcare Improvement (IHI). Approximately 500 CHCs have used these or other models to form collaboratives that have redesigned and further integrated care.

The CCM, intended to improve the care provided to patients with chronic illness and their families, is a population-based approach that emphasizes evidence-based, planned, and integrated collaborative care (National Coalition on Health Care and Institute for Healthcare Improvement, 2002a; Wagner et al., 2001; 1996). The model relies on decision support technology, such as a computerized patient registry, and the support of community organizations, such as schools, government, nonprofits, and other organizations. A primary goal of the CCM is interaction between an informed, active patient and a proactive, prepared practice team.

A second improvement model, developed by IHI, is called the PDSA (Plan-Do-Study-Act) rapid-cycle improvement model (Institute for Healthcare Improvement, 2002b). This model complements the CCM, and the two can be implemented together by multidisciplinary practice teams. The PDSA cycle involves planning a change, trying it, observing the results, and acting on what is learned. The initial step is to set a clear aim for improvement and form a team that represents all of the areas of expertise that will be involved in the effort, including members with leadership positions, technical expertise, and day-to-day experience. This team then works to develop measures that can be used to determine whether a specific change has actually led to an improvement. Once the aim, team, and measures have been established, a change can be tested in the real work environment using the PDSA model.

In addition, IHI is undertaking another initiative, Idealized Design of Clinical Office Practices (IDCOP) (Institute for Healthcare Improvement, 2002a), with the aim of significantly improving the performance of clinical office practices through dramatic and sustained system-level changes. IDCOP may become a third improvement model that practice teams can adapt to improve and integrate care.

effort is the Community Access Program, which currently supports 136 community-wide efforts in urban, rural, and tribal areas. These efforts are focused both on building integrated health care delivery systems across sectors in a community so as to create seamless care, and on reducing unnecessary and duplicative functions. Savings that result from such waste reduction are currently captured by the CHCs and reinvested in the system (Health Resources and Services Administration, 2002).

CHC patients should also have access to alternative ways of communicating with their clinicians and receiving needed services. A limited number of CHCs currently provide patient education and counseling in group settings (Stevens, 2002a). Such approaches have been shown to increase patient compliance with care plans, enhance patient satisfaction, and reduce costs (Henry, 1997; Kilo et al., 2000; Masley et al., 2000). All of the demonstrations will be encouraged to offer such an option.

Some CHC patients, albeit a limited number, currently communicate with their clinicians by e-mail or through lay health workers, who are recruited from the community for outreach and treatment follow-up, home visits, and other duties. Demonstrations should be encouraged to extend e-mail as an option to all patients interested in such arrangements, with the provision that reimbursement will support these e-consults. Although some clinicians may be initially uncomfortable with communicating by email, many will likely find that it saves time, and if the financing mechanism is supportive, will not cause a loss of revenue to the CHC because they are foregoing an office visit. Lay health workers, supported by demonstration funds, will be called upon to help in the implementation of demonstration goals. For example, they might visit asthmatic patients' homes to provide tips on ways to reduce allergens (National Coalition on Health Care and Institute for Healthcare Improvement, 2002a) or provide follow-up education for new mothers on preventative baby care.

Demonstrations also should be encouraged to give patients the option of scheduling same-day appointments, which have been shown to reduce no-shows, increase patient visits, and enhance gross revenue without requiring additional staff (Darves, 2002; Gordon, forthcoming; Murray and Tantau, 2000; White, 2001). Finally, depending upon the population(s) served, CHCs should consider using demonstration funds to further tailor and customize care so they can meet the needs of racial/ethnic minority patients more effectively. This goal might be accomplished by translating patient education materials into appropriate languages, working with community groups to address the health needs of difficult-to-reach populations, or undertaking other strategies that can help the CHC provide culturally sensitive care.

# Investment in and Implementation of Information and Communications Technology

The longer-term goal for the demonstrations would be to have computerized decision support systems that integrate computer-based patient records, secondary databases, and scientifically based protocols at the point of care so that patients receive state-of-the-art, reliable, high-quality care. The computer-based patient record should be accessible to patients and clinicians on an as-needed basis, and will promote effective care delivery, education, and shared decision making. The CHCs, as they have in the past, would be encouraged to work together in further developing ICT; such technology should conform to national data standards where they exist (see Chapter 4).

As noted, few CHCs currently have computer-based patient records, although existing electronic patient registries and the Patient Electronic Care System provide an important building block by capturing care plans, protocols, and patient information and allowing for ongoing monitoring. A computer-based patient record is the next step, enabling integration of all of a patient's clinical information and the exchange of such information with patients and, when warranted, with outside organizations.

Such exchange would be predicated on having appropriate privacy protocols in place.

With the computer-based patient record as a foundation, CHCs would be able to transition to an environment that no longer relies so substantially on paper transactions. Ultimately, the goal is to have a Web-based system whereby information, as appropriate, is accessible to all the CHCs and the relevant organizations in a given community. For example, such a system allows for electronic order entry for medications and automated monitoring of contraindications and allergens; exchange of patient information, such as hospital and emergency department discharge information, with other institutions; receipt and integration of laboratory and imaging center data; integration of information from specialty consults; and access to protocols for major therapeutic decisions (Milstein, 2002).

CHCs in California are currently working to implement a computer-based patient record system (Bureau of Primary Health Care, 2002b). A number of California-based health centers that received funding from the Tides Foundation for ICT investments, including those designed to advance the use of computer-based patient records, have reported that they have been able to increase reimbursement, improve immunization rates, and enhance follow-up for patients with chronic disease as a result (Brailer, 2002; The California Endowment, 2002).

Demonstration CHCs could continue to work with private vendors to evolve current products into computer-based patient records— an example being the Aristos Group, which developed the Patient Electronic Care System—or choose to partner with other organizations that have the necessary expertise. On the local level, hospitals within the Veterans Health Administration (VHA), which has developed and implemented a computer-based patient record system, might serve as a local resource for CHCs in this regard.

In addition to the automation of clinical records, CHCs would need to establish a digital connection between clinicians and patients for those who desire this form of communication, including e-mail and fax communication, Web-based dissemination of information, and electronic same-day scheduling and reminders. Although few CHCs currently have such connections, and the populations served may be less likely to use such forms of communication as compared with the general population (Newburger, 2001), such linkages are an important component of an exemplary primary care practice, and provide important tools for providing preventive care information and managing patients with chronic illnesses.

How rapidly an ICT infrastructure can be developed would depend in large part on each CHC's existing capacity. New CHC should, at a minimum, develop a highly evolved Patient Electronic Care System. The goal for others would be development and use of a computer-based patient record system. For those that have such a system in development or in place, migrating to a "paperless" environment should be the focus.

# **Shared Learning and Accountability**

An important foundation of the existing condition-specific collaboratives is the sharing of information across CHCs through electronic and face-to-face meetings, site visits, informal and formal assessments, and periodic reports. With more collaboratives coming on line, the aggregation and reporting of this information only grows in importance so that CHCs can understand what works, assess the benefits for patients, and determine the cost of such efforts. To this end, there needs to be a national CHC learning collaborative that spans all conditions—likely housed at HRSA—that collects data from the demonstrations and provides some direction to the participants in an advisory capacity.

The kinds of performance data currently reported by the CHCs provide a good foundation for the more extensive data collection and reporting envisioned for this demonstration category. Each demonstration CHC should build upon its current reporting activities and set benchmarks for improvement, with the goal of

demonstrating to the public that CHCs can substantially reduce the severity of many conditions (e.g., heart disease, diabetes, asthma); increase the numbers of patients who avail themselves of scientifically established screening and health behavior counseling programs; and reduce the use of emergency departments and hospitals, thereby reducing costs. The national learning collaborative should establish a set of core performance measures to be reported by all the demonstrations—building upon existing CHC core performance measures—to allow for comparisons and benchmarking.

In addition to the collaborative, the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), which has a grant to test and compare two different models for improving diabetes care in 40 CHCs in the Midwest (Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 1999), should receive further support for taking a comprehensive look at all 40 demonstrations; evaluating their efforts individually and collectively; and discerning whether there is a business case to be made for the overall effort, in other words, whether the benefits derived from the demonstration outweigh the costs.

Finally, the national learning collaborative, with support and evaluative information from AHRQ, should take the lead in disseminating the innovations and best practices resulting from the demonstrations to the broader primary care and policy communities. This dissemination function should be provided adequate support, given that it is the mechanism through which primary care practices can learn from CHCs about how to redesign and improve care. In addition to leaders from the CHCs, those involved in the dissemination efforts should include leaders in primary care who can help in translating learning from CHCs to traditional primary care practices.

#### **Financial Environment**

Some of the demonstration components would require innovation with respect to payment, which is now mainly visit-based except in the case of the uninsured. In the case of Medicaid, waivers may be required and necessitate state involvement. Payment innovations would support CHCs in their efforts to provide group counseling and education visits, more extensive care coordination, and other care that does not result in a billable clinician visit (e.g., e-mail consults). Organizations must also experiment with paying for services rendered outside of the CHC, perhaps by lay workers, where evidence suggests that such services could enhance quality, by, for example, systematically reducing allergens in homes of patients with asthma. Currently, CHCs either are not compensated for providing such services or receive less-than-adequate support by relying on Section 330 grants.

CHCs also should be provided incentives to include hospitals, health plans and insurers in the collaboratives because of the importance of managing care across settings, particularly care for those with chronic conditions. Including institutions outside of the CHCs will allow for sharing of data, problem solving about how to improve care coordination and integration, and how to reduce costs, e.g., emergency department and overall hospital use. See Box 3–2 and Box 3–5 for examples of a CHC managing care across settings.

CHC staff, the health centers themselves, and other institutions that serve CHC patients should also share in the rewards when they demonstrably enhance the quality of and reduce costs of patient care. At present this is generally not the case. The expectation for the demonstrations is that through redesign of care delivery, patients would receive better-quality care that is less costly because waste will be eliminated. Public programs would certainly benefit from those savings, but as an incentive and as a matter of equity, so should CHCs and the clinicians who work there. With respect to CHCs, such incentives may be at the CHC team or clinician level and could also encompass conference attendance, assistance with research, and other nonmonetary rewards. Box 3–5 describes a case example of CHC efforts to reduce health care costs.

#### BOX 3-5 REDUCING COSTS: A CASE STUDY IN MISSISSIPPI

In Hinds County, Mississippi, CHCs are working with four local hospitals to reduce emergency department and hospital use by uninsured persons. The program, supported by The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation and the Health Resources and Services Administration, includes follow-up with an uninsured person who has made a hospital visit to determine its appropriateness, provides counsel on what is an appropriate visit, and links the individual to a regular source for primary care. Program leaders hope that if the program can demonstrate savings, the hospitals can be convinced to support its operating costs. In 2003, the program will be rolled out to Medicaid beneficiaries (Jackson Medical Mall Foundation, 2002). The Medicaid agency has reportedly said that if costs can be kept budget neutral, CHCs and local hospitals will be able to share in the savings (Shirley, 2002).

Finally, to permit analysis of the business case for redesign as well as assessment of any related gains and how they should be distributed, there should be a robust cost accounting system for each CHC that separates out start-up costs for the demonstrations and ongoing costs and benefits, as measured by clinical quality indicators and other measures. Use of such a system would go a long way toward helping policy makers assess whether the demonstrations should be replicated across all CHCs, and enable primary care practices across the nation to decide whether to embark upon CHC-inspired redesign efforts focused on delivering stellar primary care.

#### REFERENCES

- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. 1999. "Grant Number: 1 R01 HS10479–01; PI Name: Chin, Marshall; Project Title: Improving Diabetes Care Collaboratively in the Community." Online. Available at <a href="http://www.gold.ahrq.gov/PrintView.cfm?">http://www.gold.ahrq.gov/PrintView.cfm?</a> GrantNumber=1%20R01%20HS10479–01 [accessed Oct. 28, 2002].
- Berwick, D. (Institute for Healthcare Improvement). 16 July 2002. Federally Qualified Health Centers. Personal communication to A. Greiner (Institute of Medicine).
- Brailer, D.J. (CareScience). 10 October 2002. California Community Health Centers Project. Personal communication to S.M.Erickson (Institute of Medicine).
- Bureau of Primary Health Care. 2002a. "Community Health Center Program." Online. Available at http://www.bphc.hrsa.gov/CHC/chcmain.asp [accessed July 15, 2002a].
- ———. 2002b. "Community Health Center Program: BPHC Electronic Medical Record Resources." Online. Available at http://www.bphc.hrsa.gov/CHC/CHCInitiatives/emr.htm [accessed Sept. 12, 2002b].
- ———. 2002c. "FQHC Look-Alike Program." Online. Available at http://bphc.hrsa.gov/CHC/CHCInitiatives/fqhc\_lookalike.asp [accessed July 15, 2002c].
- ——. 2002d. "Uniform Data System National Rollup Calendar Year 2001 Data. (Exhibit A: Total Revenue Received by BPHC Grantees)." Online. Available at http://www.bphc.hrsa.gov/uds/data.htm [accessed Sept. 10, 2002d].
- Darves, B. 2002. A Better Way to Practice. *Physicians Practice* (Jan-Feb)
- Falik, M., J.Needleman, J.Korb, and N.McCall. 1998. ACSC Experience by Usual Source of Care: Comparing Medicaid Beneficiaries, CHC-Users and Comparison Groups. Wheaton, MD: MDS Associates.
- Federal Register. 1992. Medicare Program; Payment for Federally Qualified Health Care Services. Rules and Regulation 57 (114):24961.

- Gonnella, J., J.Cattani, and D.Louis. 1977. Use of Outcomes Measures in Ambulatory Care Evaluation . *Ambulatory Medical Care-Quality Assurance 1977*. eds. G Giebink, N.White, and E.Short. La Jolla, CA: La Jolla Health Science Publications.
- Gordon, A.B. forthcoming. Grace Hill Neighborhood Health Centers.
- Health Resources and Services Administration. 2002. "Community Health Center Program: FQHC Look-Alike Program." Online. Available at <a href="http://www.bphc.hrsa.gov/chc/CHCInitiatives/fqhc\_lookalike.asp">http://www.bphc.hrsa.gov/chc/CHCInitiatives/fqhc\_lookalike.asp</a> [accessed June 3, 2002].
- Henry, L.A. 1997. Making Good Time With Group Visits. Fam Pract Manag 4 (7):70.
- Institute for Healthcare Improvement. 2002a. "Idealized Design of Clinical Office Practices." Online. Available at http://www.ihi.org/idealized/idcop/index.asp [accessed Sept. 10, 2002a].
- Institute for Healthcare Improvement. 2002b. "IHI Quality Improvement Resources: A Model for Accelerating Improvement." Online. Available at http://www.ihi.org/resources/qi/index.asp [accessed Sept. 10, 2002b].
- Institute of Medicine. 1996. *Primary Care: America's Health in a New Era.* eds. M.S. Donaldson, K.D.Yordy, K.N.Lohr, and N.A. Vanselow. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- 2000. America's Health Care Safety Net: Intact but Endangered, eds. M.E.Lewin and S. Altman. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- ——. 2001. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- ———. 2002. Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care. eds. B.D.Smedley, A.Y.Stith, and A.R.Nelson. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Jackson Medical Mall Foundation, Hinds County Alliance. Memorandum of Understanding Between the Hinds County Health Alliance and Division of Medicaid.
- Kilo, C.M., D.Horrigan, M.Godfrey, and J. Wasson. 2000. Making Quality and Service Pay: Part 1, The Internal Environment. Fam Pract Manag 7 (9):48–57.
- Koppen, C. 2001. Understanding the Medicaid Prospective Payment System for Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHCs). Issue Brief: Medicare/Medicaid Technical Assistance #69. Washington, D.C.: National Association of Community Health Centers.
- Koppen, C. (National Association of Community Health Centers). 7 October 2002. Medicaid Managed Care. Personal communication to S. M.Erickson (Institute of Medicine).
- Langley, J. (Consultant). 20 August 2002a. Patient Electronic Care System (PECs). Personal communication to A.Greiner (Institute of Medicine).
- ——. 2002b. Patient Electronic Care System (PECS): Frequently Asked Questions (Unpublished Document).
- Masley, S., J.Sokoloff, and C.Hawes. 2000. Planning Group Visits for High Risk Patients. Fam Pract Manag 7 (6):33–38.
- Mathematica Policy Research. 1998a. Profile of Diabetics From Health Center User/Visit Survey: Final Report. Bethesda, MD: Bureau of Primary Health Care.
- ——. 1998b. Profile of Hypertensives From Health Center User/Visit Survey: Final Report. Bethesda, MD: Bureau of Primary Health Care. McAlearney, J.S. 2002. The Financial Performance of Community Health Centers, 1996–1999. Health Aff (Millwood) 21 (2):219–25.
- Milstein, A. (William M.Mercer). 2002. Improving Ambulatory Care Safety: Draft Standard to Catalyze Uptake of Electronic Clinical Decision Support in Physician Offices (PowerPoint Presentation).
- Murray, M., and C.Tantau. 2000. Same-Day Appointments: Exploding the Access Paradigm. Fam Pract Manag 7 (8):45-50.
- National Coalition on Health Care and Institute for Healthcare Improvement. 2002a. Accelerating Change Today (ACT) for America's Health: Curing the System; Stories of Change in Chronic Illness Care. Washington, D.C.: National Coalition on Health Care.

- ———. 2002b. Rivaling Private Care: Community Health Centers Meet the Needs of the Urban Poor. In *Accelerating Change Today (ACT)* for America's Health: Curing the System; Stories of Change in Chronic Illness Care. Washington, D. C.: National Coalition on Health Care.
- Newburger, E.C. 2001. Home Computers and Internet Use in the United States: August 2000. Current Population Reports. Washington, D.C.: U. S. Census Bureau.
- Partnership for Solutions. 2001. "Rapid Growth Expected in Number of Americans Who Have Chronic Conditions." Online. Available at <a href="http://www.partnershipforsolutions.org/statistics/prevalence.htm">http://www.partnershipforsolutions.org/statistics/prevalence.htm</a> [accessed Sept. 10, 2002].
- Partridge, L. 2001. The APHSA Medicaid HEDIS Database Project. Report for the Third Project Year. Washington, D.C.: American Public Human Services Association.
- Politzer, R.M., J.Yoon, L.Shi, R.G.Hughes, J. Regan, and M.H.Gaston. 2001. Inequality in America: the Contribution of Health Centers in Reducing and Eliminating Disparities in Access to Care. *Med Care Res Rev* 58 (2):234–48.
- Regan, J., B.Lefkowitz, and M.H.Gaston. 1999. Cancer Screening Among Community Health Center Women: Eliminating the Gaps. *J Ambulatory Care Manage* 22 (4):45–52.
- Shi, L. 1992. The Relationship Between Primary Care and Life Chances. J Health Care Poor Underserved 3 (2):321–35.
- Shirley, A. 28 October 2002. Mississippi Federally-Qualified Health Centers. Personal communication to A.Greiner (Institute of Medicine).
  Starfield, B., N.R.Powe, J.R.Weiner, M.Stuart, D. Steinwachs, S.H.Scholle, and A.Gerstenberger. 1994. Costs Vs Quality in Different Types of Primary Care Settings. JAMA 272 (24):1903–8.
- Stevens, D. (Bureau of Primary Health Care). 17 June 2002a. Federally Qualified Health Centers. Personal communication to A.Greiner (Institute of Medicine).
- . 2002b. BPHC Excellence in Practice: Strategy (PowerPoint Presentation).
- The California Endowment. 2002. "Health Foundation Earmarks \$45 Million to Improve the Capacity of Community Health Clinics." Online. Available at http://www.calendow.org/news/NewsReleases/2002/06/061802helthcliniccap.htm [accessed Oct. 3, 2002].
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2002. "HHS Awards \$55.8 Million to 131 Health Centers to Expand Medical Capacity at Existing Sites." Online. Available at http://newsroom.hrsa.gov/releases/2002releases/EMC.htm [accessed Sept. 12, 2002].
- Wagner, E.H., B.T.Austin, D.Davis, M.Hindmarsh, J.Schaefer, and A.Bonomi. 2001. Improving Chronic Illness Care: Translating Evidence Into Action. *Health Aff (Millwood)* 20 (6):64–78.
- Wagner, E.H., B.T.Austin, and M.Von Korff. 1996. Organizing Care for Patients With Chronic Illness. Milbank Q 74 (4):511-44.
- Wagner, E.H., R.E.Glasgow, C.Davis, A.E. Bonomi, L.Provost, D.McCulloch, P.Carver, and C.Sixta. 2001. Quality Improvement in Chronic Illness Care: A Collaborative Approach. *Jt Comm J Qual Improv* 27 (2):63–80.
- White, B. 2001. Starting a Revolution in Office-Based Care. Fam Pract Manag 8 (9):29–35.

57

# **Information and Communications Technology Infrastructure:** A "Paperless" Health Care System

#### SUMMARY DESCRIPTION

The wise use of information and communications technology (ICT) has the potential to improve the quality and safety of health care while at the same time enhancing access and reducing waste, unnecessary delays, and administrative costs. Some degree of improvement results from use of the recent rapid and dramatic advances in moving information among a variety of clinicians and experts. Even more important over the long run, however, is the capacity of ICT to make it possible to work differently and better.

The provision of health care consists of very complex processes, including initiating efforts to diagnose or treat a patient's problem; receiving and acting on the results of laboratory, radiology, and other diagnostic tests; communicating with patients about results and progress; and monitoring patient progress and ensuring appropriate follow-up (Middleton et al., forthcoming). At every step of the way, communication among providers and between clinicians and patients is critical, and information and knowledge must be made available to users when they need it.

Demonstration projects in this category would be 5 years in duration and are intended to result in the establishment of a state-of-the-art health care ICT infrastructure in a state, community, or a multistate region that is accessible to all providers and all consumers. Most patient information should be computer-based, virtually eliminating processes based on moving, finding, or filing paper. There would still be some situations in which paper is used (for example, an attending physician may find it useful to carry a concise summary of patients' clinical information when making rounds or to make handwritten notes that are subsequently scanned into the computer-based record). However, the volume of paper would be significantly reduced. More important, ambulatory practices, hospitals,

ancillary providers, and others would be inter-connected, and the availability of patient and other information to support decision making at the time of care delivery would be dramatically improved.

All demonstration projects in this category would include the formation of some form of public-private partnership. In general, the demonstrations would encompass three phases:

- 1. A planning and preparation phase, which includes the establishment of a public-private partnership.
- Establishment of a secure platform for communication and sharing of clinical and other data between
  patients and providers and among providers. This infrastructure-building phase is intended to allow
  rapid movement of computer-based information to multiple sites on a need-to-know and right-to-know
  basis.
- 3. Rapid incorporation of the information made accessible through the platform to support (1) the steady migration of administrative and business processes to the platform (e.g., appointment scheduling, insurance eligibility checking, billing and payment), (2) development and application of knowledge management and decision support tools, and (3) development of new e-health delivery modes. Critical to accomplishing this phase is the computerization of all or nearly all types of patient data.

Phase 1 should be accomplished within 6 months and phase 2 between months 7 and 24. During phase 2, the community would begin to reap tangible benefits from the demonstration project. Phase 3 would proceed in parallel with phase 2 and continue indefinitely, producing stepwise benefits with enhancements to the applications performed using the platform.

Demonstration projects in this category would be greatly facilitated by an immediate emphasis on accelerated development of national data standards in certain key areas. All projects should be required to conform to national standards where they exist and to feed back experience on the use and utility of these new standards, thus facilitating the development of even more robust standards. Furthermore, there should be an expectation that the projects will lend their expertise to and share their technology with other geographic areas.

The initial demonstration projects should serve as the first generation or starter nodes of a national health information infrastructure. The committee recommends that a total of 8 to 10 demonstration projects be funded in this category, with the expectation that a second generation will be funded in 2005.

One-time-only federal financial support would be required to carry out phases 1 and 2. In general, private-sector health care providers should commit to making the ongoing financial investments necessary to carry out the developmental activities in phase 3. Payment structures would need to be realigned so that providers will benefit financially from the ongoing investments required to sustain the ICT infrastructure. Some combined federal and state assistance to safety net providers would be needed to enable their full participation in the ICT infrastructure.

### BACKGROUND

The potential for information technology to improve the quality and safety of health care is enormous (Institute of Medicine, 1991, 1997, 2001). A strong ICT infrastructure can help patients be more informed and better prepared to engage in decision making and to carry out their treatment plan. From a clinician's perspective, ICT includes many powerful tools that are useful in applying scientific evidence to clinical decision making and in providing care that is safe. Specifically, the ICT infrastructure can contribute to improvements in the following areas:

Communication—Web-based interactions between patients and clinicians and among

members of the care team, including e-mail, home monitoring, teleconsulting, and other applications.

- Access to patient information—Computer-based health and clinical information for each patient that is complete, organized, and available in real time to the patient and the patient's providers, while at the same time being confidential and secure.
- Knowledge management—Easy access to reliable information from the science base in forms that are
  useful to both clinicians and patients (and accommodate both English- and non-English-speaking patients
  and different levels of health literacy).
- Decision support—Computer-aided decision support tools for both patients and clinicians, such as reminder systems targeted at clinicians or patients, medication order entry systems, and chronic disease management systems.

Properly structured ICT also has great potential to reduce some administrative costs and burden. Administrative costs are estimated to account for 20 to 30 percent of the nation's health care expenditures (Evans and Roos, 1999; Woolhandler, 1997; Woolhandler and Himmelstein, 2002). The development of a secure ICT platform to support clinical, administrative, and financial transactions, as well as the use of computer-based clinical records, should over time reduce some administrative costs and dramatically improve the effectiveness, safety, and timeliness of the health care system.

As the ICT infrastructure expands beyond the boundaries of a single or several organizations to span a community, a state, and eventually the nation, there is the potential for it to support many additional clinical, research, professional education, and public health applications (National Research Council, 2000). A community-wide infrastructure can facilitate access to far more complete clinical information by all of the patient's providers, not just those within a given institution (e.g., hospital or health system). This interconnectedness offered by a Web-based platform, accompanied by protocols for data exchange, has great potential to improve quality and efficiency, especially in communities where health care delivery is highly decentralized. Clinical research applications include the development of large-scale biomedical databases that can support population-based, longitudinal studies. Professional education applications include improved access to the knowledge base, virtual conferences, and other distance-learning applications.

Of particular importance in light of heightened concerns about chemical and biological terrorism are the public health applications of an ICT infrastructure. These applications include improved tracking and surveillance for bioterrorism and other public health threats, and rapid dissemination of important health and medical information to providers and possibly citizens (Tang, 2002).

With the passage of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) (Public Law 104–191) and the Department of Health and Human Services' recent promulgation of regulations to protect data privacy and security, one major impediment to the establishment of an ICT infrastructure has been removed. The time is right for widespread adoption of computer-based clinical records.

A health information infrastructure as envisioned by the National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics (2001) involves three dimensions:

- Personal health dimension—Creation of a personal health record by an individual (and his or her family or caregivers), which includes both information from the clinical record that is relevant to patients and non-clinical information, such as self-care trackers and directories of health care and public health service providers.
- 2. Health care provider dimension—Creation of a computer-based clinical record includ

- ing such information as clinical orders, prescriptions, and clinician notes; ready access to practice guidelines and the science base; and the application of decision support tools.
- 3. Population health dimension—Collection of information on the health of the population and the salient influences, making it possible to identify and track health threats, assess population health, sponsor targeted health education campaigns, and conduct research. Much of the necessary data can come from deidentified personal and patient records that are accessed on a right- and need-to-know basis.

Although the potential applications and benefits likely increase logarithmically as the boundaries of the ICT infrastructure expand, so, too, does the complexity of implementation. Establishing such an infrastructure involves the development of data standards, laws, regulations, business practices, and technologies (National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics, 2000). Payment policies must be modified to recognize new methods of care delivery (e.g., e-visits, remote consultations, remote monitoring of patients). In many of these areas, federal leadership will be needed to move forward, because numerous issues of clinical data ownership, security, and privacy have yet to be addressed.

The up-front capital investments required to establish the ICT infrastructure will be quite sizable. The United States has successfully confronted similar challenges, however. Following World War II, the federal government supported the development of the Interstate highway system, and years later, the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency funded the work that led to the modern Internet (National Research Council, 2000; Weingroff, 1996). Today, the challenge is not just one of ensuring access to public health data for homeland security, but also one of ensuring national health and economic productivity through a healthy workforce. The committee is confident that over time the return on investment in terms of dollars and health will rival the success of these other major national infrastructure investments, and that Americans of all socioeconomic levels will benefit (U.S. Department of Commerce, 2000).

### **GOALS**

Demonstration projects in this category are intended to result in a practice environment that relies on computer-based patient records, and allows clinicians and patients immediate access to evidence and other information needed to support decision making. The goal is for the following capabilities to be available, for the most part, in real time:

- 1. Ready access to information by clinicians and patients on a right- and need-to-know basis
- Eligibility, appointment, and account status information
- Computer-based patient records; for example, a summary of current problems, medications, and allergies, together with all results, notes, and summaries
- Disease management guidelines
  - 2. Support tools for patients
- Educational materials
- Tools to monitor individual health status and needs
- Tools to track progress in meeting clinical goals and compliance with treatment plans
- Tools to model preferences and the impact of alternative treatment decisions and outcomes
- Tools to access patient records and to contribute information to these records
  - 3. E-mail and audiovisual communication between patients and clinicians and among clinicians

- Nonepisodic care (e.g., short questions and answers)
- Home monitoring
- Remote consultation
  - 4. Data capture and decision support tools for clinicians
- Reminder systems
- Computer-based order entry and prescription writing, with dosage and interaction checking
- Note capture with immediate coding for billing
- Individual registries for chronic disease management
  - 5. Management
- Appointment scheduling and admissions
- Workload scheduling and staffing
- Automated charge capture
- Contract modeling
- Enrollment in insurance programs
- Claim submission, with immediate verification of completeness and eligibility for payment
  - 6. Performance measurement data for ongoing assessment of quality and safety improvements
  - 7. Accountability
- Compliance with performance reporting requirements in the areas of safety and quality
- Demonstration of improvements in safety and quality
- Reporting of relevant data to public health authorities

### **DEMONSTRATION ATTRIBUTES**

Demonstration projects in this category would likely include the three phases enumerated earlier. The work in phases 1 and 2 should establish an initial track record of stakeholders working together on a substantial statewide undertaking that has enormous potential to benefit patients and the community, but also requires extensive collaboration and shared decision making. Although critical, these phases would accomplish only a subset of the goals listed above. Phase 3 would entail extensive change within every health care organization. Emphasis is on the computerization of many types of patient and other data that currently are paper-based in most health care settings. This phase would also involve doing work differently. The increasing computerization of clinical data and the availability of knowledge management and other decision support tools would open up new opportunities to redesign care processes in ways that would improve safety, effectiveness, and efficiency and be more responsive to patient preferences and needs. Phase 3 would continue indefinitely as advances in medicine, science, and technology offer new possibilities, but by year 5, each demonstration site should be within reach of the goal of a near "paperless" health care system. Each of the three phases is discussed in detail below.

### **Phase 1: Planning and Preparation**

During this phase, a lead organization, such as a state agency, an academic health center, a consortium of providers, or a state hospital/ health system association, would be responsible for establishing a broad-based public-private partnership. It is critical that the commitment of all major stakeholders in the community be secured at this stage. The demonstration projects would directly impact patients, physicians, nurses, hospitals, nursing homes, home health agencies, free-standing clinical laboratories, imaging centers, and others. Careful attention should be paid to ensuring that each of these stakeholders derives both near- and long-term benefits from the ICT infrastructure. Strong leadership from professional and hospital associations, academic health centers, the state government, and consumer groups would be needed.

This first phase would also involve the development of a detailed operational plan for carrying out the 5-year demonstration project. The operational plan should include proposed contractual agreements with all participants and vendors; a business and financial plan; and policies and procedures for data access and management, including security and authentication.

### Phase 2: Data Exchange Platform

The primary advantage of establishing a data exchange platform is that it facilitates access to computer-based patient information in real time regardless of the form in which that information is currently being collected, coded, and classified by the provider or ancillary service organization. Establishment of a platform for sharing data poses a reasonably low risk of failure because it does not require providers (e.g., hospitals, health systems, physician groups) or other participating organizations (e.g., laboratories, imaging centers) to make major changes in their existing systems. Effecting the collaboration required for such data exchanges can be challenging, however, and hence leadership from the federal government could be quite useful in this regard.

Perhaps the best-known example of a data exchange platform for patient information is operated by CareScience in Santa Barbara County, California (CareScience, 2001). Care Data Exchange was initiated in 1991 as a low-cost public utility model that would allow participating organizations to share data through an Internet-based system. About 25 participating organizations accounting for the majority of care provided in Santa Barbara County include hospitals and health systems, physician practices, laboratories and ancillary providers, clinics and outpatient facilities, public health agencies, health plans and payers, pharmacies, and employers. The key characteristics of the system are as follows:

- Users (i.e., clinicians, hospitals, laboratories) need only a Web browser and an Internet connection to participate.
- Patient data remain at their original sources (e.g., hospital legacy system, imaging center data system), but authorized users are allowed to view the data.
- Participants determine who can and cannot access patient data according to protocols. For instance, when a
  participant requests patient information, the data exchange verifies the requester's digital credentials.
- Patients do not have unique identifiers; rather, the data exchange maintains a file with patient
  demographic data and correlates these data with those maintained by the provider organization to produce a
  validated patient search. The locations of the patient records are then stored with the patient's
  demographic data as "pointers" or "locators."
- The data exchange maintains a secure portal through which data may be exchanged "peer-to-peer."
- The data exchange maintains audit logs of all requests (i.e., who, when, what data requested).

There are other examples of data sharing networks. With support from the National Library of Medicine (NLM), the Regenstrief Institute has developed a community-wide electronic medical record system called the Indiana Network for Patient Care (INPC) (Regenstrief Institute, 2002). The INPC is being used by 11 geographically separated hospitals in the Indianapolis metropolitan area to improve care for patients presenting to their emergency departments. In Winona, Minnesota, Cerner Corporation and Hiawatha Broadband Communications initiated a partnership with Winona Health to create Winona Health Online, a network connecting the local health system, clinics, physicians, and patients (Chin, 2000). In addition, the Patient Safety Institute (PSI), a nonprofit organization that has developed a secure com

munications network for real-time access to clinical information at the point of care, has selected two hospital sites in Washington State to demonstrate this network (Patient Safety Institute, 2002). One of the major benefits of a data exchange is that it makes more complete clinical data available at the point of service. The availability of this information should result in fewer medical errors, less waste in terms of redundant services, and improved timeliness of services.

The magnitude of benefits derived from a data exchange depends on the extent to which patient data are computer-based. The types of transactions and applications that can be carried out over the network expand dramatically with the availability of more computer-based clinical and other patient data. The committee expects that the mere existence of a data exchange within a community would generate momentum to add other types of data.

### Phase 3: Comprehensive ICT Infrastructure

All of the demonstration projects are intended to result in a health care system that relies on computer-based patient records. The committee recognizes that not all sites will achieve this goal by year 5, but believes that most can make considerable progress in computerizing key aspects of the patient record, such as laboratory, imaging, and prescription drugs.

The immediate objective of these demonstrations is to provide electronic access to those portions of a patient's clinical record that are computerized, and to encourage steady progress towards more complete computerization of patient information. Of course, access would be limited to authorized users (e.g., clinicians, ancillary service organizations, patients and their families). The ICT infrastructure should facilitate Internet-based communication between patients and clinicians, between patients and patient groups, and among clinicians. Over time, the infrastructure should be capable of securely supporting a wealth of applications, including (1) insurance enrollment and eligibility verification, (2) claims processing and payment, (3) clinical knowledge management for clinicians and patients (e.g., guidelines, chronic disease management sites), (4) decision support tools (e.g., reminders, provider order entry systems, (5) telemedicine (e.g., specialist consults, in-home monitoring), (6) disease surveillance, and (7) a public health rapid alert system.

The demonstration sites selected should be ones for which there is a reasonable expectation that this more extensive ICT infrastructure can be established within 5 years. This may mean selecting sites in geographic areas in which some investments in building an ICT infrastructure have already been made, the necessary expertise exists, and there is strong interest in working toward the accomplishment of community-wide goals. Sites that already have some building blocks in place will be able to move more expeditiously and will be more likely to achieve the 5-year goal. The potential for resistance to change from one or more important stakeholders should not be underestimated. Applicants should also be asked to detail the benefits that each major stakeholder is expected to derive from the demonstration project during the first few years.

In many geographic areas, there are pockets of innovation where strong ICT infrastructures are already available. A number of academic health centers, health systems, and large multispecialty groups have developed strong ICT capabilities (Doolan and Bates, 2002; McDonald et al., 1999; Overhage et al., 2000; Teich et al., 1999), and it should be possible for some communities and regions to build upon these successful efforts. In the public sector, the Veterans Health Administration (VHA) has one of the largest and most sophisticated health information systems in the nation, serving about 5 million veterans annually in 22 designated regions. The VHA system includes an architecture that supports information exchange across multiple clinical disciplines and lines of business, a computer-based patient record system for clinical documentation and information

retrieval, and an e-health communications system to provide veterans with online access to their medical records and other health information (Christopherson, 2002).

64

Careful consideration should be given to the best means of creating a public-private partnership in a geographic area to leverage existing resources and to ensure that no providers or consumers are excluded. One possibility might be for the state government, VHA, and private-sector health care organizations and vendors to work in partnership to establish the ICT infrastructure. Additional support might be provided to VHA so it can offer safety net providers (e.g., public hospitals, community health centers) the opportunity to participate in its ICT system and receive technical assistance for that purpose. Another possibility for providing assistance to safety net providers would be to allow a state Medicaid program to work collaboratively with such providers (who generally receive a sizable proportion of their revenues from Medicaid and the State Children's Health Insurance Program) to establish the necessary ICT infrastructure, and for the federal government to provide a 90 percent federal matching rate for these expenditures in the same way it pays for state-level Medicaid Management Information System development expenditures under Medicaid (Congressional Research Service, 1993).

### MAKING PROGRESS TOWARD A NATIONAL ICT INFRASTRUCTURE

There is a good deal of truth to the saying that "all health care is local." For the most part, health care is provided by local institutions and clinicians. Communities take great pride in their health systems, and efforts to develop ICT infrastructure would best build on this foundation.

As important as grassroots support may be, however, a strong federal role in setting standards for ICT infrastructure is critical for several reasons. First, patient care-seeking behavior does not respect strict geographic boundaries, and this will likely be the case increasingly in the future. An estimated 25 percent of the U.S. population resides in a metropolitan area that crosses state boundaries (Salinsky, 2002), and many likely receive services in more than one state. The Internet has opened up many opportunities for telemedicine, a method of health care delivery that often crosses state and sometimes national boundaries. A patient's computer-based record should be accessible to all health care providers regardless of geographic location.

Second, the capability to monitor and respond to infectious disease outbreaks and bioterrorist attacks requires a national if not global ICT infrastructure. The ICT infrastructures developed by the various demonstration sites should be able to interface with each other, and over time these state- or community-based systems should become part of a nationwide infrastructure.

Third, the return on investment in knowledge management and other clinical decision support tools would be much greater if the software can be readily used in multiple geographic settings. The promulgation of national standards in some areas is critical to achieving this objective.

Fourth, many health care administrative functions, such as insurance and federal regulatory requirements, are national in scope. National data standards in certain areas are important to lessen the burden associated with provider compliance with these requirements.

The committee wishes to emphasize the importance of viewing the state- or community-based ICT demonstrations as part of a broader strategy intended to result in the establishment of a national ICT infrastructure. Specifically, demonstration projects in this category are intended to accomplish two objectives:

- Each individual demonstration project should result in the establishment of a community- or state-wide ICT infrastructure that begins to yield benefits to the community in the near term.
- Collectively, the demonstration projects in this category should within 3 years consti

tute primary or starter nodes of what will be expanded to constitute a national ICT infrastructure.

65

One impediment to establishing an ICT infrastructure either locally or nationally is the difficulty of getting all participating health care providers and vendors to agree on uniform data standards (i.e., the methods, protocols, and terminology adhered to by everyone for the purpose of allowing disparate information systems to interoperate successfully). The term "uniform data standards" is not intended to imply that all clinical and other information in the patient record must be coded and classified in exactly the same way, although in some instances strict adherence to what is known as "controlled vocabulary" may be desirable. In many cases, the development of "reference standards or terminology" may be adequate, with all participants agreeing to code data at a sufficient level of detail to allow mapping of local data to the national reference standard (Stead et al., 2000).

It will be critical for the Secretary of Health and Human Services, working with the President and Congress, to pursue an aggressive agenda for the adoption of national health data standards. Some degree of standardization is important to improve the interoperability of ICT systems; the comparability and usefulness of the data; and the quality, accountability, and integrity of the data. Numerous expert panels have recommended a stronger federal role in the promulgation of standards to be used nationwide (National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics, 2001; National Research Council, 2000), but to date, progress in this area has been slow. The proposed demonstration projects are unlikely to thrive in the absence of progress in establishing data standards. The American public will reap a far greater return on investments in these demonstration projects if they are pursued in tandem with national and global efforts to establish data standards.

The Secretary of Health and Human Services can immediately move this agenda forward by implementing the standards recommended by the National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics in reports sent to the Secretary in the past 3 years. In particular, the report entitled *Uniform Data Standards for Patient Medical Record* Information contains a number of standards that deserve prompt use in the Medicare and Medicaid programs and within all portions of the federal government that utilize health data standards (National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics, 2000). A partial list of these standards is Health Level 7 (HL7), Version 2; Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine (DICOM); National Council for Prescription Drug Programs (NCPDP); and for early adoption, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers, Series 1073 (IEEE 1073) Medical Device Communications and HL7, Version 3.

Of particular importance is the work of HL7, one of the largest private-sector standards-setting organizations, focusing on Version 3 standards for data interchange. With some additional financial resources, the work of this group could be accelerated, thereby completing some important aspects of standards setting within about 18 months (Hammond, 2002). The completion of this work would greatly facilitate the development of the ICT demonstration projects proposed in this report and perhaps even reduce the costs of such demonstrations.

There are some important standards-setting efforts in the federal government as well. The work of the Consolidated Health Informatics Initiative (CHII) and NLM is particularly note-worthy and can be leveraged. CHII was created under the auspices of the White House Office of Management and Budget in 2001 to facilitate the development of standards that would ensure compatible ICT systems across the government health programs (Office of Management and Budget, 2002). NLM has made extensive efforts through the Unified Medical Language System project to consolidate the various controlled vocabularies used in medicine and to provide tools needed to make the relationships among terms clear to human and machine alike (Humphreys et al., 1998; Lindberg et al., 1993).

These groups are well positioned to play important roles in the further development of clinical data standards.

Recent private-sector efforts also present an excellent opportunity for the federal government to collaborate in and obtain broad-based support for national standards-setting initiatives. Specifically, the Markle Foundation's Connecting for Health Initiative is focused on building consensus on and accelerating the rate of adoption of clinical data standards within health care. The group has already obtained general agreement among a broad stakeholder group on several clinical data standards that are ready for adoption, and more work is under way. An early product of this effort is an inventory of standards domains necessary to support computer-based records; these include reference information models, data types, terminology, clinical documents, clinical templates, data interchange, implementation manuals, rules, tool sets, terminology services, security, unique identifiers for patients and clinicians, and guidelines (Markle Foundation, 2002). The IOM Committee on Patient Safety Data Standards, scheduled to release a report in fall 2003, is currently working to identify the types of standards needed for monitoring safety and quality, and is providing guidance to the federal government on actions it might take to facilitate the development of such standards.

Although a more intensive effort at the national level to establish data standards is desirable, the committee does not intend to imply that the development of ICT infrastructures at the state or community level should be postponed until national standards are promulgated. The setting of national standards will be an ongoing process for many years if not decades to come. All information systems will need to accommodate frequent updates in standards. Also, as discussed above, some national data standards provide room for local sites to map their coding systems to a national reference standard.

The goal of having these initial demonstration projects serve as the hubs of a national ICT infrastructure has implications for the selection of demonstration sites. Consideration should be given to ensuring balanced geographic representation when selecting the demonstration sites. All major regions of the country (northeast, south, central, northwest, and southwest) and both urban and rural areas should be represented since the issues involved in implementing ICT capabilities differ greatly depending on the size and ICT sophistication of clinical groups. All participants in the demonstration program should be willing to sponsor site visits so others can learn from their experiences.

The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality should be charged with establishing a central coordinating unit for the demonstrations in this category. Such a unit might be established in an academic or other applied research setting. The coordinating unit should be tasked with the following:

- Monitoring and evaluating the progress of the demonstrations
- Documenting successful and unsuccessful change management strategies pursued by the various demonstration sites
- Establishing ongoing communication among demonstration sites to share learning experiences and to discuss how best to overcome challenges
- Quantifying the benefits and costs associated with the demonstrations, and identifying and communicating best practices in care redesign

This last point deserves special attention. Reaping a return on investment in the ICT infrastructure will require changes in care processes. The costs associated with making these changes should be captured and included in the cost-benefit analysis. Another complicating factor is that benefits from investing in ICT accrue to many stakeholders, and not necessarily those who made the investment. Substantiating who benefits and who pays should be part of the evaluation.

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATIONS TECHNOLOGY INFRASTRUCTURE: A "PAPERLESS" HEALTH CARE SYSTEM

The coordinating unit should have a strong communication capacity. It should be responsible for reaching out to various stakeholders, such as professional societies, health care associations, academic health centers, and others, to assist in disseminating knowledge gained from the demonstrations and in building a strong base of support for the establishment of a national ICT infrastructure.

67

### REFERENCES

CareScience. 2001. "Care Exchange." Online. Available http://www.carescience.com/healthcare\_providers/cde/ Data care\_data\_exchange.shtml [accessed Sept. 5, 2002].

Chin, T. 2000. "The Winona Project: Developing an Electronic Link." Online. Available at http://www.ama-assn.org/sci-pubs/amnews/ pick\_02/bisa0311.htm [accessed Oct. 28, 2002].

Christopherson, G. (VHA). 6 June 2002. Personal communication to Barbara Smith (Institute of Medicine).

Congressional Research Service. 1993. Medicaid Source Book: Background Data and Analysis. Committee Print 103-A. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office.

Doolan, D.F., and D.W.Bates. 2002. Computerized Physician Order Entry Systems in Hospitals: Mandates and Incentives . Health Aff (Millwood) 21 (4):180-8.

Evans, R., and N.P.Roos. 1999. What Is Right About the Canadian Health Care System? Milbank Q 77 (3):393-99.

Hammond, W.E. 2002. Memorandum on HL-7 Acceleration Project.

Humphreys, B.L., D.A.Lindberg, H.M.Schoolman, and G.O.Barnett. 1998. The Unified Medical Language System: an Informatics Research Collaboration. J Am Med Inform Assoc 5(1):1–11.

Institute of Medicine. 1991. The Computer-Based Patient Record: An Essential Technology for Health Care. eds. R.S.Dick and E.B.Steen. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.

. 1997. The Computer-Based Patient Record: An Essential Technology for Health Care (Revised Edition), eds. R.S.Dick, E.B.Steen, and D.D.Detmer. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.

2001. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington DC: National Academy Press.

Lindberg, D.A., B.L.Humphreys, and A.T. McCray. 1993. The Unified Medical Language System. Methods Inf Med 32 (4):281–91.

Markle Foundation. 2002. Connecting for Health, Data Standards Working Group: Standards Assessment Matrix (Draft).

McDonald, C.J., J.M.Overhage, W.M.Tierney, P. R.Dexter, D.K.Martin, J.G.Suico, A.Zafar, G.Schadow, L.Blevins, T.Glazener, J.Meeks-Johnson, L.Lemmon, J.Warvel, B.Porterfield, J.Warvel, P.Cassidy, D.Lindbergh, A.Belsito, M.Tucker, B.Williams, and C.Wodniak. 1999. The Regenstrief Medical Record System: a Quarter Century Experience. Int J Med Inf 54 (3):225-53.

Middleton, B., T.K.Gandhi, and D.W.Bates, forthcoming. "The Role of Information Technology in Ambulatory Care Patient Safety." Online. Available at http://www.partners.org/cird/allref.asp [accessed in draft hard copy form].

National Committee on Vital and Health Statistics. 2000. "Uniform Data Standards for Patient Medical Record Information." Online. Available at http://ncvhs.hhs.gov/hipaa000706.pdf [accessed Aug. 30, 2002].

2001. Information for Health. A Strategy for Building the National Health Information Infrastructure. Washington DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

National Research Council. 2000. Networking Health: Prescriptions for the Internet. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.

Office of Management and Budget. 2002. "E-Government Strategy: Implementing the President's Management Agenda for E-Government." Online. Available at http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/inforeg/egovstrategy.pdf [accessed Sept. 30, 2002].

Overhage, J., C.J.McDonald, and J.G.Suico. 2000. The Regenstrief Medical Record System 2000: Expanding the Breadth and Depth of a Community Wide EMR. Proc AMIA Symp: 1173.

- Patient Safety Institute. 2002. "PSI Selects Two Washington State Communities to Demonstrate Innovative Patient Safety Communications Network." Online. Available at http://www.ptsafety.org/news/nr020502.asp [accessed Oct. 28, 2002].
- Regenstrief Institute. 2002. "Electronic Medical Records Development." Online. Available at http://informatics.regenstrief.org/what [accessed Oct. 28, 2002].
- Salinsky, E. 2002. Will the Nation Be Ready for the Next Bioterrorism Attack? Mending Gaps in the Public Health Infrastructure. *NHPF Issue Brief.* No. 776. Washington, D.C.: National Health Policy Forum.
- Stead, W.W., R.A.Miller, M.A.Musen, and W.R. Hersh. 2000. Integration and Beyond: Linking Information From Disparate Sources and into Workflow. *J Am Med Inform Assoc* 7 (2):135–45.
- Tang, P.C. 2002. AMIA Advocates National Health Information System in Fight Against National Health Threats. J Am Med Inform Assoc 9 (2):123–4.
- Teich, J.M., J.P.Glaser, R.F.Beckley, M.Aranow, D.W.Bates, G.J.Kuperman, M.E.Ward, and C.D.Spurr. 1999. The Brigham Integrated Computing System (BICS): Advanced Clinical Systems in an Academic Hospital Environment. *Int J Med Inf* 54 (3):197–208.
- U.S. Department of Commerce. 2000. "Falling Through the Net: Toward Digital Inclusion. A Report on American's Access to Technology Tools." Online. Available at <a href="http://www.ntia.doc.gov/ntiahome/digitaldivide/">http://www.ntia.doc.gov/ntiahome/digitaldivide/</a> [accessed Sept. 30, 2002].
- Weingroff, R.F. 1996. "Federal-Aid Highway Act of 1956: Creating the Interstate System." Online. Available at http://www.fhwa.dot.gov//////infrastructure/rw96e.htm [accessed Nov. 5, 2002].
- Woolhandler, S. 1997. Costs of Care and Administration at for-Profit and Other Hospitals in the United States. *N Engl J Med* 337 (24):1783. Woolhandler, S., and D.U.Himmelstein. 2002. National Health Insurance—Liberal Benefits, Conservative Spending. *Arch Intern Med* 162 (9):973–75.

5

## State Health Insurance: Making Affordable Coverage Available to All Americans

### SUMMARY DESCRIPTION

Demonstration projects in this category are intended to result in insurance coverage for nearly all residents of a state. The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) would issue a Request for Proposals (RFP) to state governments (and U.S. territories) for undertaking two major activities: (1) achieving increased availability of affordable insurance coverage through public and/or private insurance programs, and (2) establishing a statewide electronic insurance enrollment clearinghouse. A limited number of demonstration sites—perhaps three to five—would likely be selected from the applicants. The demonstration projects should be 10 years in duration, but with the expectation that there will be measurable accomplishments within 18 months.

The committee believes that a 10-year commitment by DHHS to these demonstration projects would be necessary to encourage states to undertake the very significant efforts envisioned in the areas of building public-private partnerships, developing information and communications technology (ICT) infrastructure, and redesigning public insurance programs. Furthermore, in light of currently severe state budget limitations, the federal government may need to contribute all or nearly all of the increased funds required to conduct these demonstrations.

### **BACKGROUND**

The number of people in the United States who were without health insurance during the entire year of 2001 was 41.2 million, or approximately 14.5 percent of the population (U.S. Census Bureau, 2002). Although there was a slight drop in the number of uninsured people in the late 1990s,

probably as the result of a particularly strong economy, the number has been increasing overall for more than a decade (Institute of Medicine, 2001).

When one considers the number of U.S. residents who experience breaks in insurance coverage of at least 1 month during a year, the magnitude of the uninsured problem becomes even greater. In 1996, 27.1 percent of nonelderly residents, or 62 million individuals, lacked coverage at some point during the year (Monheit et al., 2001).

Since Medicare provides nearly universal coverage for the elderly, almost all of the uninsured are individuals under age 65 (U.S. Census Bureau, 2001). The majority (67.3 percent) of residents under age 65 who have some form of health insurance obtain that insurance through their employer (Fronstin, 2001). Another 14.1 percent are enrolled in public insurance programs, such as Medicaid and the State Children's Health Insurance Program (SCHIP) (Fronstin, 2001). Eligibility requirements for Medicaid and SCHIP vary from state to state, but most have maximum income thresholds of 200 percent of the federal poverty level (FPL) or less (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2000). There is also a small proportion (6.6 percent) of people who purchase individual insurance policies (Fronstin, 2001).

People may lose their coverage for all or part of a year for a number of reasons: loss of a job where insurance was offered; loss of Medicaid or SCHIP eligibility once children grow up or if the family income increases; loss of one's spouse because of separation, divorce, or death; loss of eligibility under a parents' plan upon turning 18 or graduating from college; situations in which one's insurer or employer goes out of business or an employer denies coverage; or an inability to pay increasing premium costs (Institute of Medicine, 2001).

State efforts to date to cover the uninsured have achieved some success in reducing the total number of people without coverage. With a large majority of states now offering public coverage to children up to 200 percent of the FPL, SCHIP has accomplished a significant expansion of coverage of low-income children (Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, 2002). In addition, at least 18 states now offer public coverage to parents up to the FPL, and a few, using federal waivers, extend coverage to low-income parents above the FPL (Broaddus et al., 2001). The experience of states such as Wisconsin, Massachusetts, New Jersey, and Rhode Island demonstrates that extending coverage to parents allows public programs to reach many more children as well (Dubay and Kenney, 2002; Institute of Medicine, 2002; Ku and Broaddus, 2000). Only a handful of states have significantly expanded coverage for low-income childless adults (Mann, 2002).

Eligibility for public programs is not enough to ensure coverage, especially for children. In 1999, three-quarters (6.8 million) of the estimated 9 million uninsured children who were eligible for Medicaid or SCHIP were not enrolled by their parents (Dubay et al., 2002). Some low-income parents (or guardians) may also lack information on public programs for which their children are eligible, or may find the enrollment procedures too cumbersome.

As part of their expanded coverage for adults, a small but growing number of states offer premium assistance to help low-income families afford the employee contributions needed for coverage by private employers. Rhode Island adopted a premium assistance program after finding that its public program expansion had reduced the state's uninsured rate, but also resulted in unaffordable shifts from private employer to public coverage (Rhode Island Department of Human Services, 2002). Oregon will use premium assistance as the central focus for its pending expansions (Crawford, 2002; Office for Oregon Health Policy and Research, 2001). There are also numerous proposals under consideration by federal policy makers to use tax credits to help uninsured residents buy individual health insurance; analyses indicate that this strategy would likely help some uninsured, but alone would not achieve coverage for all residents (Gabel et al., 2002a; Hadley and Reschovsky, 2002).

In spite of the many efforts made, states generally have not been able to develop approaches that facilitate stable, continuous coverage for their residents. Changes in a family's situation (new job, change to part-time status) can cause changes in program eligibility, coverage source, and consequently provider relationships. Federal program structures and eligibility rules sometimes require various family members to enroll in different programs offering different provider networks. Families may be willing to participate in one program but not another because of perceived differences in programs. And the complexity and fragmentation of private and public coverage sources and subsidies mean that many who need coverage do not enroll at all. Frequent changes in coverage can create significant costs for families and for the health care system as a whole as a result of discontinuities in care management and treatment, as well as administrative waste. State expansion initiatives are probably fiscally fragile because individual state economies are vulnerable to economic downturns that lead to a loss of private coverage (due to higher unemployment), while at the same time increasing demand for public programs and reducing tax revenues.

The committee believes that offering affordable insurance coverage to all residents should rank among the highest of health care priorities, even though it will not be easy to find solutions to achieve this goal. Numerous options exist, however, and should be explored (Meyer and Wicks, 2001). Strategies that maintain or even increase private contributions to insurance premiums will be needed, as will increased public expenditures. Efforts must also be made to stabilize or slow the rate of increase in the cost of insurance.

### **GOALS**

Demonstration projects in this category are intended to achieve the following goals:

- 1. Coverage for all citizens and legal residents in a state
- Affordable insurance coverage available to all citizens and legal residents in a demonstration state
- Stable insurance coverage—no breaks in coverage and minimal switching from one insurance program to another
- Consumers having some degree of choice of insurance carriers and plans and geographically accessible providers within a plan
- Availability of comparative performance data for insurance carriers, plans, and providers to inform consumer decision making
- Coverage that is family-centered, with parents and children having the opportunity to be covered under the same health plan
  - 2. The right care at the right time
- Shared responsibility for health (e.g., encouragement and support for healthy behaviors and lifestyles)
- Improved use of primary preventive services (e.g., measurable improvements in screening, early-stage diagnosis)
- Better management of chronic conditions (e.g., ongoing, coordinated care, with emphasis on secondary and tertiary prevention)
- Improved patient satisfaction (e.g., fewer disruptions in clinician and patient relationships, ease of access to appropriate care providers)
  - 3. Reduced clinical waste—reductions in redundant services (e.g., visits and ancillary tests) that result from the lack of a consistent source of care
  - Reduced administrative transactions
- Fewer transactions resulting from changes in insurance coverage

- Reduced redundancy in clinical record keeping, resulting from fewer disruptions in clinician-patient relationships
  - 5. Improved efficiency, resulting from an electronic clearinghouse for enrollment, eligibility verification, and billing and payment processes
- Reductions in paperwork
- Improved timeliness
  - 6. Establishment of a strong public-private partnership that provides a foundation and mechanism for states to address other community health and health care issues

### **DEMONSTRATION ATTRIBUTES**

Each demonstration would involve two components: expansions of affordable insurance coverage options through public and/or private programs, and establishment of a statewide electronic enrollment clearinghouse.

### **Coverage Expansions**

Demonstration states would choose to expand insurance coverage through either tax credits to be applied to private insurance plans, Medicaid/SCHIP expansions to cover families and adults, or a combination of the two. Although there is much interest in coverage expansions (107th Congress, 2002), there has been limited experience with these approaches to date.

**Tax Credit Approach.** Under this approach, the federal government would provide support to a demonstration state to be used for premium assistance. The state would establish a program providing state tax credits to uninsured individuals based on a sliding scale tied to income. A demonstration state would determine individual eligibility based on state income tax filings, payroll taxes, or other information.

There are many different options for designing a state tax credit program (Fuchs et al., 2002). In general, there are two types of tax credits—nonrefundable and refundable. A non-refundable credit reduces the actual amount of tax paid by the individual. It provides a "dollar of subsidy for each dollar spent," but only up to the amount of the individual's total income tax liability (Fuchs et al., 2002). A refundable credit is not limited by tax liability, but rather, amounts in excess of tax liability are payable to the individual.

The size of the population reached by a tax credit approach will depend on several factors, including the type of tax credit selected, the sliding income scale used to determine eligibility, and the design and amount of the tax credit. A refundable tax credit is recommended in that it has the ability to reach more uninsured individuals and to provide more assistance to those in greatest need. Credits can even be provided to individuals who do not have positive tax liability.

The number of people affected will also be influenced by the design of the tax credit and income range over which it is available. There are three basic designs: a fixed dollar amount (e.g., \$3000 per family as proposed by President Bush), a percent of premium (e.g., 65 percent of premium as contained in the COBRA Trade Adjustment Assistance Act just enacted), or a percent of income (e.g., premium in excess of 5 percent of income). The tax credit would typically be limited to those with incomes below a given level (e.g., up to 200 percent of poverty or, alternatively, those in the 15 percent tax bracket—\$27,000 for an individual and \$46,700 for a family). A tax credit that ensures no family pays more than 5 percent of income for a standard plan would likely achieve a modest participation rate, perhaps in the range of about 15 to 20 percent of those eligible (Ku and Coughlin, 1999). In the case of a fixed dollar amount, younger adults and families are more likely to participate than older people because premiums in the individual market would be much higher for older adults (Gabel et al., 2002b). About 65–75 percent of premium assistance (comparable to what employers contribute on average to employees plans) would also induce

fairly high participation rates (e.g., 60 percent of the unemployed uninsured) (Edwards et al., 2002).

To obtain a tax credit, individuals would be required to enroll in an insurance plan approved by the state. States should provide individuals with at least some choice of insurance plans. For example, a state might provide a choice of two or three of the following options: employee coverage, private or state purchasing pool, state employee health plan, and individual insurance plan. As a component of these demonstrations, states should be able to ask DHHS to give uninsured individuals aged 62 and older the opportunity to enroll in Medicare. The state tax credit accompanied by a Medicare buy-in option would minimize disruptions in coverage and provider relationships, and would afford DHHS an opportunity to assess the potential effects of broader-based policy proposals (Sheils and Chen, 2001).

Individuals who did not exercise their choice of options (and who did not indicate a desire to opt out) would be enrolled in a default plan offering reasonable geographic access to providers. Those individuals who received a tax subsidy covering some but not all of their premium would be expected to pay the remaining portion or be disenrolled. Demonstration states may need to establish a mechanism for discouraging individuals from moving to the state to obtain coverage (e.g., a requirement for a 6- or 12-month employment history in the state without coverage).

The tax credit approach has some appealing characteristics, but there are also limitations. Tax credits are a fairly flexible method of providing varying levels of assistance to individuals depending upon need. If designed properly, tax credits can also work in a complementary fashion with employer-based contributions to health insurance. However, one of the key challenges is to set the credits at levels that provide enough additional assistance to individuals to encourage them to enroll in a health insurance program, while not having the unintended consequences of reducing employer contributions to premiums or increasing the proportion of employers who choose not to offer insurance coverage.

The tax credit approach can also be structured to encourage continuity of patient relationships with health plans and providers. By allowing the tax credit to be used towards any one of several insurance options (e.g., Medicare buyin, employment-based coverage, individual insurance plan, COBRA, Medicaid/SCHIP or other state plan), changes in an individual's income or employment status are less likely to result in disruptions in insurance coverage or provider relationships.

Lastly, the tax credit approach may provide states with greater control and predictability over health care expenditures than is the case with expansions in public insurance programs. Tax credit programs do not require states to assume insurance risk or responsibility for the provision of certain benefits to beneficiaries. States can still afford some protections for beneficiaries by restricting the use of tax credits to the purchase of insurance from a selected set of approved plans that meet certain minimum requirements in terms of benefits, copayments, and quality requirements.

Medicaid/SCHIP Expansions to Cover Families. Under this approach, the federal government would provide federal matching support (at rates currently applied to SCHIP beneficiaries) for a significantly expanded eligibility program under a state Medicaid or SCHIP program. Initially, a state would expand eligibility for its Medicaid or SCHIP program to cover low-income parents of children enrolled in these public programs (an approach sometimes referred to as a family health insurance program). Coverage of other uninsured family members (older siblings) or family units (childless couples or adults) might follow. Individuals in these public programs should be enrolled for a minimum period of 12 months to encourage greater stability of coverage (i.e., fewer gaps in enrollment and less switching from one health plan to another).

Many factors would influence the approach selected by states. For example, states that do

not have income taxes (i.e., Alaska, Florida, Nevada, New Hampshire, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Washington, and Wyoming) are less likely to pursue a premium assistance approach. Some pioneering states already have experience with demonstration projects that involve coverage of modest-income parents and children under Medicaid and SCHIP (Mann, 2002), and these states might choose to continue pursuing this strategy to cover larger numbers of the uninsured, including childless adults. Regardless of the approach selected, there should be a reasonable expectation for any given demonstration project that nearly all residents in the state will have obtained health insurance coverage within 3 years.

Although the intent is to give states a good deal of flexibility in developing innovative approaches to expanding coverage, all demonstration projects should be designed to encourage the following:

- One plan per family—There is evidence that both access and quality improve for children and adults when the family is enrolled in a single health plan (Institute of Medicine, 2002). Having a single health plan helps simplify administrative matters for both consumers and insurance programs, and increases the likelihood of multiple family members being able to obtain care at common delivery sites or provider groups. Demonstrations should be structured to encourage one plan per family through such options as enrollment of low-income parents in the same Medicaid and SCHIP program as their children, or use of premium assistance options toward employment-based family coverage.
- Evidence-based insurance package—States should be required to establish coverage policies that are
  science-based, specifying the types of services to be covered and under what circumstances. The Agency
  for Healthcare Research and Quality should be provided the resources necessary to work in a supportive
  capacity with the demonstration states, providing syntheses of the evidence on the effectiveness of
  various approaches. Each demonstration state will need to establish a mechanism to allow for public
  dialogue and input into decisions regarding coverage policies. Careful consideration should be given to
  the identification and inclusion of effective preventive, mental health, and developmental screening and
  treatment services.
- A personal clinician—Having a personal clinician (primary care physician, specialist, physician assistant, advanced practice nurse) increases the likelihood of patients obtaining the right care at the right time in the right setting (Bindman et al., 1995; Starfield, 1986, 1995). Insurance programs and health plans participating in the statewide demonstration project should be encouraged to ensure that each individual has access to a designated personal clinician capable of providing culturally appropriate services (e.g., simultaneous language translation services) (Youdelman and Perkins, 2002). Correspondingly, individuals should be informed of their responsibility to seek care in appropriate settings and to refrain from use of emergency departments for routine or urgent care that is best provided in other settings. Both patients and their personal clinicians should be made aware of their joint responsibility to ensure appropriate access to and wise use of resources.
- Fair payment—Each insurance program should provide adequate payments to providers, and states should take immediate steps to ensure that plans and providers participating in state-sponsored programs (i.e., Medicaid and SCHIP) receive adequate payment. If payments to providers are set too low, many may choose not to participate in public programs, thus impeding access, and others may participate but not provide all of the services from which patients would likely have benefited. Over time, the public and private insurers in the various demonstration sites should also be encouraged to identify innovative ways of

providing payments to clinicians that encourage and reward the provision of high-quality care.

### **Electronic Enrollment Clearinghouse**

During the first 18 months of each project, the participating state would establish an electronic clearinghouse for eligibility verification and insurance program enrollment. One of the immediate benefits of the clearinghouse would be the ability to check whether individuals have insurance, and if not, to enroll them immediately in one of the insurance options made available through coverage expansions. The clearinghouse would not be the only method of enrolling uninsured individuals. States enrollment processes should also provide for applications to be submitted by telephone, fax, or other means.

The clearinghouse would likely yield benefits to consumers, clinicians, and insurers. Consumers would benefit immediately from faster and, in some cases, easier enrollment processes. Current enrollment processes rely to a great extent on the patient (or their provider office) completing paperwork, which is then mailed or faxed to state offices. The paperwork must be processed and a response sent to the individual. The electronic process would be faster and presumably less burdensome to consumers and providers. The streamlined eligibility process would result in more timely payment of providers, and over time, the clearinghouse might also be used for electronic billing and payment of claims. Lastly, insurers would likely derive some benefits from the clearinghouse, including ease of identification of dual eligibles, and possibly reduced administrative costs associated with the eligibility determination and other business functions that might be carried out using the electronic clearinghouse (e.g., provider payment, receiving and responding to benefits coverage and utilization review requests).

State governments should work in partnership with private insurers, DHHS, and others in designing and establishing the electronic clearinghouse. The clearinghouse is intended to be used by both public (i.e., Medicare, Medicaid, and SCHIP) and private insurance programs for eligibility verification, enrollment, claims processing, and payment. The return on investment in this infrastructure would increase if all insurance programs participate, and the likelihood of this happening would be higher if leading private and public insurers are involved in the design up front. During the first 6 months of the demonstration projects, public and private insurers would need to work closely on system design issues. Processes for safeguarding confidentiality and security would need to be established, and these processes should meet all legal and regulatory requirements for privacy imposed by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) and other statutes. It is not necessary for all insurers to adopt uniform eligibility, claims processing, payment, and other processes, but some degree of standardization or mapping of key data elements to a reference standard would be necessary. DHHS should play a very active role in this process to promote the development and use of national standards where appropriate (see Chapter 4 for a discussion of data standards).

The enrollment network should be capable of verifying eligibility for coverage under various insurance programs by accessing relevant sources of information, such as state income tax records and payroll records, as well as enrollment information submitted by individuals seeking coverage (with retrospective verification of income and other information). Health care delivery sites should have connectivity to the clearinghouse for purposes of eligibility verification and immediate enrollment of uninsured patients in insurance programs (although consumers, often with the assistance of their providers, would still have the option of seeking enrollment by telephone, fax, or mail).

Although the intent is to use the clearinghouse to enroll individuals in an insurance program automatically, each demonstration state should carefully consider options for providing consumers with some degree of choice of insurance carriers and plans. There should also be a mechanism for consumers to

opt out of insurance coverage for religious or other personal reasons; however, states should design policy approaches so that those without coverage will constitute a very small percentage of the currently insured population.

It is anticipated that over time, the electronic clearinghouse would evolve into a more general ICT platform and be used for many purposes. As noted above, electronic billing and payment functions might be added within a few years of demonstration start-up. The platform might also serve as a vehicle for providing clinicians and consumers with information on benefits, clinical evidence, and public health concerns. Ultimately, the platform might serve as a vehicle for accessing patient-level clinical information (e.g., laboratory and imaging results, prescription medications, emergency department visits, specialist encounters) and for ordering ancillary services, prescribing medications, referring patients to specialists, and admitting patients to hospitals (with appropriate confidentiality protections). Although the focus of these demonstrations is intended to be on expanding insurance coverage, participating states should give some consideration to these potential future applications of the clearing-house-during the planning phase (see Chapter 4 for a discussion of the many applications of a comprehensive ICT infrastructure).

In establishing their clearinghouse, demonstration sites should be encouraged to learn from other programs already under way. One innovative project is the New England Healthcare EDI [electronic data interchange] Network (NEHEN), a consortium led by Computer Science Corporation that has been operational since 1998 (New England Healthcare EDI Network, 2002). Membership is open to providers, health plans, and payers in Massachusetts and Rhode Island. There are currently 14 members, including most of the region's largest insurers and health plans.

NEHEN provides members with access to a secure high-speed network for sending and receiving transactions. Members can either integrate NEHEN functions directly into their own management systems or access the NEHEN network using NEHENLite, a Web-based application. Members pay a flat monthly fee (which is not transaction-based) to cover the cost of managing and coordinating the consortium's activities and the development of common work products. All intellectual property created for NEHEN is shared among the members.

NEHEN's primary focus is on administrative simplification. The initial pilot project, which started in June 1998, involved checking insurance eligibility in real time for every patient encounter to reduce both claim denial rates and claim rework effort. A pilot is now under way to integrate Medicaid into the system. Another pilot project involves authorization for specialist referrals. Developmental efforts are also under way to address claims processing, including submission, inquiry, and remittance.

### **IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES**

For the demonstration projects in this category to be successful, key implementation issues should be addressed. Specifically, the demonstrations should have adequate and stable long-range financial support and cooperation from both the public and private sectors.

### **Financial Support**

Regardless of the approach selected by a demonstration site, increased federal and state financial support would be necessary. There should also be an ongoing federal commitment to the long-term goal of making affordable coverage available to all residents.

The executive branch has a considerable ability to restructure Medicaid and SCHIP programs through Section 1115 waivers (Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured, 2001). Over 20 percent of federal Medicaid spending is in support of Section 1115 demonstrations. Those demonstrations have been used to extend coverage to groups not eligible under current law (e.g., low-income nonelderly, non-disabled adults without children); provide

targeted benefits to specific groups (e.g., access of Medicare beneficiaries to Medicaid prescription drug discounts, family planning services for low-income women not otherwise eligible for Medicaid, and coverage for people with HIV who would not otherwise qualify for Medicaid because their disease has not progressed to the point where they are considered disabled); and implement changes in managed care and other delivery systems (e.g., mandatory managed care enrollment, substate programs that modify payment and care delivery, special management programs for those dually eligible under Medicare and Medicaid) (Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured, 2001).

It is quite likely that congressional enabling authority and financial support would be needed to conduct some or all of the proposed demonstrations. The proposed demonstration projects differ from earlier efforts in three ways:

- Magnitude of change—The objective of the proposed demonstration projects is to achieve coverage for all or nearly all residents in a state. Other demonstrations to date have been important in extending coverage to certain groups of the uninsured, but modest in scope overall.
- Fundamental change in enrollment processes—The proposed demonstration projects include the
  development of an electronic clearinghouse that will remove administrative barriers to enrollment and
  improve the timeliness and efficiency of processes for eligibility verification and enrollment.<sup>1</sup>
- Not budget neutral—To date, nearly all Section 1115 waivers have been granted for budget-neutral
  demonstrations (Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured, 2001). Given the proposed scope of
  the demonstration projects, it is unrealistic to expect that they would be budget neutral.
- Ongoing flexibility to achieve goals—Approval for demonstration projects has traditionally been provided
  for detailed program policy structures that are inflexible once approved. Given the scale of the proposed
  demonstrations, it is unrealistic to expect a state to identify a priori the best combination of policies and
  approaches for achieving the demonstration goals within budget constraints. Participating states should
  have the latitude to adjust program policy structures to achieve overall coverage goals. To ensure
  accountability and facilitate evaluation, changes should be reported prospectively to DHHS.

Although it was beyond the scope of this project to provide detailed estimates of the impact of the proposed demonstration projects on expenditures, it is a virtual certainly that overall costs would increase at both the federal and state levels, and that these would be ongoing expenditures. Federal support for the electronic clearinghouse would represent one-time start-up funding (once operational, the clearinghouse could be supported by very modest user fees). Of far greater significance, the federal government would need to provide ongoing support for expanded enrollment in Medicaid and SCHIP (at the enhanced SCHIP matching rate) and/or to offset the cost of state tax credits to the uninsured for premium assistance. The federal government could provide this additional support in the form of a block grant to a state tied to a state commitment to expand coverage to a prespecified number of individuals, or through existing Medicaid funding channels accompanied by flexibility to use the federal matching dollars to assist with paying premiums for private-sector plans.

State Medicaid and SCHIP expenditures would increase as enrollment expands, and states would presumably bear some of the costs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A bill (HR 5233) to promote Internet enrollment systems in SCHIP and Medicaid was introduced in the U.S. House of Representatives on July 25, 2002. If passed, the bill would make available \$50 million to the Secretary of Health and Human Services for providing grants to states to establish Web-based enrollment systems.

of providing premium assistance to the uninsured enrolled in private insurance plans. To secure state participation, it might also be necessary for the federal government to identify a mechanism for providing additional support to states during economic downturns (i.e., counter-cyclic funding). Extension of coverage to the uninsured would likely yield many benefits to the community, including improved health status (which in some cases may reduce health care costs) and increased worker productivity. In all likelihood, there would also be some offsets to the insurance expansion program, such as less need for disproportionate share hospital payments and reduced tax write-offs for uncompensated care on the part of for-profit providers (Garson, 2000).

Steps should also be taken to ensure that the necessary information is gathered to enable evaluation of the effects of these demonstrations. Additional investments in expanding coverage would be sizable. The committee believes that the benefits to individuals and communities would also be sizable, but this belief should be substantiated through rigorous evaluation of the impact of expanded and stable coverage on (1) health status improvements; (2) the health, social, and financial stability of families; (3) timely and appropriate use of preventive, acute, and chronic care; and (4) enhanced productivity of workers and school participation of children.

### **Public- and Private-Sector Cooperation**

Given the magnitude of change involved in these demonstrations, it would be important to build a broad base of private- and public-sector support. Prior to the start of the demonstration projects, efforts should be made to secure the support of the business community at the national, state, and local levels. DHHS and the Department of Labor, working with the National Governors Association, the National Business Coalition on Health, the Business Roundtable, and the Leapfrog Group, should convene leaders from the business community and state governments to discuss the importance of the demonstration projects. Other groups that might play an important role in building a broad base of support for and providing ongoing information about the demonstrations include the National Academy for State Health Policy, the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, and the National Conference of State Legislatures.

In each demonstration site, the support of the business community and private insurers would be critical to success. Regardless of the approach selected by a state, the insurance expansions should be accomplished in a way that preserves the current levels of contributions from private employers and employees. Reaping the full benefits of the electronic clearinghouse would require the full (or nearly full) participation of all insurers. Although the tax credit approach is not an employer mandate, the success of this approach would depend on the willingness of employers, both self-insured and non-self-insured, to work voluntarily with the state to encourage the enrollment of individual employees and their families in employer-sponsored plans.

### REFERENCES

107th Congress, 2nd Session. 2002. H.R. 3009: Trade Act of 2002. Public Law No: 107-210.

Bindman, A.B., K.Grumbach, D.Osmond, M. Komaromy, K.Vranizan, N.Lurie, J.Billings, and A.Stewart. 1995. Preventable Hospitalizations and Access to Health Care. *JAMA* 274 (4):305–11.

Broaddus, M., S.Blaney, A.Dude, J.Guyer, L.Ku, and J.Peterson (Center on Budget and Policy Priorities). 2001. "Expanding Family Coverage: States' Medicaid Eligibility Policies for Working Families in the Year 2000 (Revised February 13, 2002)." Online. Available at http://www.cbpp.org/1–2–02health.pdf [accessed Sept. 3, 2002].

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. 2000. "State Children's Health Insurance Program (SCHIP) Aggregate Enrollment Statistics for the 50 States and the District of Columbia for Federal Fiscal Year (FFY) 2000." Online. Available

- at http://www.hcfa.gov/init/fy2000.pdf [accessed Oct. 16, 2001].
- Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. 2002. "The State Children's Health Insurance Program Quarterly Enrollment Report, Second Quarter Fiscal Year 2002: January 1, 2002—March 31, 2002." Online. Available at http://www.cms.hhs.gov/schip/fy02sqer.pdf [accessed Aug. 13, 2002].
- Crawford, H., Oregon Department of Human Services. 2002. "Changing the Oregon Health Plan." Online. Available at http://www.statecoverage.net/statereports/or24.pdf [accessed Sept. 4, 2002].
- Dubay, L., J.M.Haley, and G.M.Kenney. 2002. *Children's Eligibility for Medicaid and SCHIP: A View From 2000*. New Federalism: National Survey of America's Families, Vol. Number B-41. Washington, D.C.: Urban Institute.
- Dubay, L. and G.M.Kenney. 2002. Expanding Public Health Insurance to Parents: Effects on Children's Coverage Under Medicaid. Washington, D.C.: Urban Institute.
- Edwards, J.N., M.M.Doty, and C.Schoen. 2002. The Erosion of Employer-Based Health Coverage and the Threat to Workers' Health Care: Findings From the Commonwealth Fund 2002 Workplace Health Insurance Survey. New York, NY: The Commonwealth Fund.
- Fronstin, P. 2001. Sources of Health Insurance and Characteristics of the Uninsured: Analysis of the March 2001 Current Population Survey. Issue Brief 240. Washington, D.C.: Employee Benefit Research Institute.
- Fuchs, B., M.Merlis, and J.James. 2002. Expanding Health Coverage for the Uninsured: Fundamentals of the Tax Credit Option. *NHPF Background Paper*. Washington, D.C.: National Health Policy Forum.
- Gabel, J.R., K.Dhont, and J.Pickreign. 2002a. Are Tax Credits Alone the Solution to Affordable Health Insurance? Comparing Individual and Group Insurance Costs in 17 U.S. Markets. New York, NY: The Commonwealth Fund.
- Gabel, J.R., K.Dhont, H.Whitmore, and J.Pickreign. 2002b. Individual Insurance: How Much Financial Protection Does It Provide? *Health Aff* (Millwood) Web exclusive.
- Garson, A., Jr. 2000. The US Healthcare System 2010: Problems, Principles, and Potential Solutions. Circulation 101 (16):2015-6.
- Hadley, J. and J.D.Reschovsky (Center for Studying Health System Change). 2002. "Tax Credits and the Affordability of Individual Health Insurance (Issue Brief Number 53—July 2002)." Online. Available at http://www.hschange.com/CONTENT/458/ [accessed Sept. 4, 2002].
- Institute of Medicine. 2001. Coverage Matters: Insurance and Health Care. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured. 2001. "Medicaid "Mandatory" and "Optional" Eligibility and Benefits." Online. Available at http://www.kff.org/content/2001/2256/2256.pdf [accessed Sept. 4, 2002].
- Ku, L. and M.Broaddus (Center on Budget and Policy Priorities). 2000. "The Importance of Family-Based Insurance Expansions: New Research Findings About State Health Reforms." Online. Available at http://www.cbpp.org/9-5-00health-rep.pdf [accessed Sept. 5, 2002].
- Ku, L., and T.A.Coughlin. 1999. Sliding-Scale Premium Health Insurance Programs: Four States' Experiences. Inquiry 36 (4):471-80.
- Mann, C. (The Kaiser Commission on Medicaid and the Uninsured). 2002. "The New Medicaid and CHIP Waiver Initiatives." Online. Available at http://www.kff.org/content/2002/4028/4028.pdf [accessed Sept. 4, 2002].
- Meyer, J.A. and E.K.Wicks. 2001. Covering America: Real Remedies for the Uninsured. Washington DC: Economic and Social Research Institute.
- Monheit, A.C., J.P.Vistnes, and S.H.Zuvekas. 2001. Stability and Change in Health Insurance: New Estimates From the 1996 MEPS. MEPS Research Findings No. 18. AHRQ Pub. No. 02–0006. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.
- New England Healthcare EDI Network. 2002. "NEHEN Homepage." Online. Available at http://www.nehen.net [accessed July 30, 2002]. Office for Oregon Health Policy and Research. 2001. "SCHIP Funding for Employer-Sponsored In

surance: Federal Issues and Barriers Encountered. A Briefing Paper." Online. Available at http://www.ohpr.org/hrsa/Briefs/SCHIPforFHIAP.pdf [accessed Sept. 4, 2002].

- Rhode Island Department of Human Services. 2002. "RIte Care and RIShare." Online. Available at http://www.dhs.state.ri.us/dhs/famchild/shcare.htm [accessed Sept. 4, 2002].
- Sheils, J. and Y.J.Chen. 2001. *Medicare Buy-In Options: Estimating Coverage and Costs*. New York, NY: The Commonwealth Fund. Starfield, B. 1986. Primary Care in the United States. *Int J Health Serv* 16 (2):179–98.
- Starfield, B. 1986. Primary Care in the United States. *Int J Health Serv* 16 (2):1/9–98———. 1995. Access—Perceived or Real, and to What? *JAMA* 274 (4):346–7.
- U.S. Census Bureau. 2001 . "Health Insurance Coverage: 2000." Online. Available at http://www.census.gov/hhes/www/hlthin00.html [accessed July 26, 2002].
- 2002. "Health Insurance Coverage: 2001." Online. Available at http://www.census.gov/prod/2002pubs/p60-220.pdf [accessed Sept. 30, 2002].
- Youdelman, M. and J.Perkins. 2002. Providing Language Interpretation Services in Health Care Settings: Examples From the Field. New York, NY: The Commonwealth Fund.

6

# Liability: Patient-Centered and Safety-Focused, Nonjudicial Compensation

### SUMMARY DESCRIPTION

Demonstrations in this category would create injury compensation systems outside of the courtroom that are patient-centered and focused on safety, while also addressing provider concerns about rapidly rising liability insurance premiums. Specific characteristics of this non-judicial approach to malpractice reform are replacing tort liability with alternative systems for ensuring that patients who have experienced avoidable injuries receive timely, fair compensation from responsible parties; limiting financial exposure for health care providers; promoting apology and non-adversarial discussions with patients; encouraging provider organizations to report and analyze medical errors; rewarding providers that put in place effective programs for reducing medical injury; and involving patients in safety improvement efforts.

Prompt federal action to provide incentives for adopting this approach—coupled with appropriate state legislation—has the potential to produce immediately measurable benefits in terms of provider access to affordable, high-dollar liability coverage; gains in administrative efficiency once criteria for compensation are fully developed, allowing quicker payments to be made to many more injured patients; and longer-term improvements in patient safety and stabilization of insurance markets. The Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) would issue a Request for Proposals (RFP) to the states and select four to five of those that apply for demonstration projects in this category. The demonstrations would be designed to ascertain a reform's effect on the number and nature of claims filed and associated total costs, as well as to permit comparison of claim and cost information across all the demonstrations. All of these components would be part of the overall evaluation of the demonstrations. If successful, the reforms could continue indefinitely.

The committee suggests that participating states implement one of two options on a demonstration basis:

- Option 1: Provider-Based Early Payment—Under this approach, the federal government would provide
  reinsurance on a shared-cost basis to self-insured or experience-rated provider groups that voluntarily
  agreed to identify and promptly compensate patients for avoidable injuries. States would prospectively
  set limits on non-economic damages, including pain and suffering, for identifiable classes of avoidable
  injuries.
- Option 2: Statewide Administrative Resolution—Under this approach, states would grant all health care
  professionals and facilities, however organized, immunity from tort liability (under most circumstances)
  in exchange for mandatory participation in a state-sponsored, administrative system established to
  provide compensation to patients who have suffered avoidable injuries.

Both options are compatible with the Administration's recent proposal related to liability reform, which caps noneconomic damages and supports the concept of "early offers" of compensation (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2002). However, both options also differ in certain respects from the Administration's proposal and do not depend on its enactment.

### **BACKGROUND**

For the first time in nearly 20 years, the United States is facing a broad-based crisis in the availability and affordability of malpractice liability insurance for physicians, hospitals, and other health care providers. The American health care system has undergone dramatic changes since the last malpractice crisis two decades ago (Abraham and Weiler, 1994; Sage, 1997). Reforms to address the current situation should therefore take into account a number of new concerns and constraints: (1) increased sensitivity among providers and the public to substantial rates of medical error and the need to improve patient safety at a system level; (2) lower margins and reduced provider capacity resulting from private- and public-sector cost containment, which increases vulnerability to "liability shocks"; and (3) organizational and technical innovations in health care financing and delivery, including provider integration and consolidation, that have affected the dynamics of litigation as well as expanding the range of public policy responses to a liability insurance crisis.

There is widespread agreement that the current system of tort liability is a poor way to prevent and redress injury resulting from medical error (Bovbjerg et al., 2001). Most instances of negligence do not give rise to lawsuits, and most legal claims do not relate to negligent care (Localio et al., 1991). Many injured patients do not know they have suffered an injury resulting from error, and those who go through the legal process often do not even recover the cost of their continued health care (Sloan et al., 1991). A few plaintiffs and their attorneys, however, win large sums that may be disproportionate to their injuries or unrelated to the defendant's conduct. Prolonged, adversarial haggling over claims by plaintiffs' attorneys and liability insurers alienates both providers and patients, and generates legal fees and administrative expenses that consume more than half the cost of liability insurance premiums (Kakalik and Pace, 1986).

The apparent randomness and delay associated with this pattern of accountability not only prevent severely injured patients from receiving prompt, fair compensation, but destabilize liability insurance markets and attenuate the signal that liability is supposed to send health care providers regarding the need for quality improvement. Fear and distrust breed inefficient "defensive medicine," and lead to missed opportunities for information exchange and apology that might avoid lawsuits in the first place. Unfavorable economic conditions and catastrophic events external to the health care

system add to the effects of legal uncertainty on liability insurance premiums, particularly for high-dollar coverage that depends on global reinsurance markets.

The shortcomings of the current malpractice system therefore come from three directions, all of which have contributed to the present crisis: inefficient and inequitable legal processes for resolving disputes, problematic responses by clinicians to the threat and cost of liability, and volatile markets for liability insurance. Although some states face greater insurance instability than others as the result of different legal standards, public expectations, and professional cultures, no state is immune to the threat of service interruptions affecting physicians, hospitals, and other health care providers.

The current liability insurance crisis provides a compelling case for reform. However, approaches that focus narrowly on reducing the number and value of legal claims (e.g., limiting damage awards) may lower liability insurance premiums but do nothing to improve patient safety or produce prompter and fairer compensation for patients who are injured. The systemic problems noted by the Institute of Medicine (IOM) in *To Err Is Human* and *Crossing the Quality Chasm* (Institute of Medicine, 2000, 2001) strongly suggests the need to create a legal environment that both fosters high-quality patient care and relieves financial strain and administrative burden for health care providers. The committee believes that replacing tort liability with a system of patient-centered and safety-focused non-judicial compensation— linking claims resolution to organization-based error disclosure and safety improvement processes—can best accomplish these goals. Such systems would cap providers' financial exposure at reasonable levels, both directly by limiting damages and indirectly by providing affordable umbrella coverage. They would also encourage and oversee health care organizations' efforts to identify, compensate, and reduce errors in cooperation with patients. In combination, these improvements should enhance patient safety and enable a greater number of patients with valid claims to receive compensation, while simultaneously stabilizing liability insurance markets by decreasing the unpredictability associated with high-dollar, outlier cases (Studdert and Brennan, 2001a; 2001b).

Approaches intended to compensate more injured patients by using a standard of "avoidability" rather than the narrower tort standard of "negligence" raise appropriate concerns about increased cost. Rigorously testing such systems on a demonstration basis would allow policy makers to determine the total cost of compensating medical injuries outside the courtroom. Further, by gathering, analyzing, and comparing claims and cost data across participating states, policy makers would gain insight into how definitions of avoidable injury and the generosity of the compensation packages selected influence total cost. Finally, policy makers would obtain important information about the possible dollar benefits of reducing the incidence of avoidable injuries.

Through the demonstrations in this category, states would have the opportunity—and the incentive—to select one of the two nonjudicial claims resolution options outlined above. All participating states will refine the technical and scientific underpinnings of such a system through an expert or participatory process, depending upon the state's preference. States would build on well-developed, but untested proposals such as "ACEs" ("avoidable classes of events," also called "accelerated compensation events"), early offers of settlement, and scheduled ranges of allowable damages for pain and suffering. ACEs identify, in scientifically rigorous fashion, situations in which injuries that typically are preventable occur, such as giving a patient two drugs that are known to interact (Tancredi and Bovbjerg, 1991). Early offer systems protect defendants from additional liability if they reliably and promptly acknowledge problems and offer fair compensation (O'Connell, 1982). Damage schedules ascertain reasonable levels of compensation for pain and suffering on the basis of jury awards for injuries of defined severity and cap damages at those

amounts rather than imposing a one-size-fits-all limit (Bovbjerg et al., 1989).

States would need to create centralized mechanisms to ensure the identification, disclosure, and analysis of avoidable injuries, as well as voluntary, confidential reporting of "near misses." The way in which such mechanisms would be operationalized will be left up to the states, necessitating resolution of important policy issues. The federal government might play a role by helping to develop consistent definitions and data reporting standards, thereby reducing the need for each state to reinvent the wheel and allowing for comparisons across states. States also would help health care providers communicate more effectively, both internally and with patients, when errors occur by encouraging apology and the use of facilitated discussion procedures such as mediation (Cohen, 2000; Sage, 2002). Finally, states would engage in sustained efforts to educate the public with respect to the trade-off involved in replacing tort liability with administrative remedies for avoidable medical injury: faster, fairer, surer compensation but forgoing a jury trial.

Some states might choose to phase in nonjudicial approaches to compensation, beginning with selected provider organizations (e.g., hospitals, large medical groups, and closed-panel health maintenance organizations [HMOs]) that have demonstrated their willingness and ability to detect, disclose, and prevent medical errors and have entered into voluntary contractual agreements with patients that establish the terms of compensation (Havighurst, 1995; O'Connell, 1986; Sage et al., 1994). Other states might want to move more quickly by establishing comprehensive state-wide systems of administrative claims resolution with mandatory participation by all health care providers in the state (e.g., physicians, nurse practitioners, hospitals, nursing facilities).

The former approach has the advantage of building on the IOM's earlier recommendations regarding the optimal structure and conduct of high-quality health care organizations (Institute of Medicine, 2000, 2001). Specifically, this approach creates incentives for physicians and hospitals to join together to form well-managed clinical entities that bear primary financial responsibility for avoidable errors and have the medical know-how to minimize patient injury. The strength of the latter approach is that it gives all health care providers equal, immediate access to relief from the current liability crisis and does not depend upon particular organizational forms (e.g., integrated group practice) that may not be well developed in many jurisdictions.

The workers' compensation system is the most familiar example of substituting administrative claims resolution for tort liability on a state-wide basis (Fishback and Kantor, 2000; Kramer and Briffault, 1991). Experience with workers' compensation demonstrates that no fault systems can enhance predictability and improve access to compensation. It also confirms the importance of maintaining safety incentives (e.g., through self-insurance or experience rating) and establishing reasonable injury thresholds and clear categories of compensable injury that reduce waste and discourage fraud.

Non-judicial approaches to compensating unexpected medical injuries are the norm in New Zealand, Sweden, and elsewhere (Bovbjerg and Sloan, 1998; Danzon, 1985, 2000). Similar programs were debated intensively in Colorado and Utah in the mid-1990s, but were not adopted (American College of Physicians, 1995; Petersen, 1995). The committee believes the time is now ripe for successful implementation of such approaches in the United States because of two contributions by the emerging science of patient safety. First, human factors engineers have shown that non-punitive approaches encourage the detection of avoidable injuries and foster systems for continuous improvement, which suggests that resolving malpractice cases without a determination of fault will help rather than harm quality (Institute of Medicine, 2000). Second, as more health care providers accept their responsibility to disclose errors to patients, capping liability at defined amounts—an essential attribute of any affordable non-judicial system—will likely

result in more rather than fewer patients receiving compensation.

### **GOALS**

The demonstration projects in this category would have the following goals:

- 1. Improve the malpractice system for patients
- Make compensation for injury more predictable, timely, and fair.
- Promote honesty, transparency, and trust in clinician-patient relationships.
- Prevent liability concerns from compromising the availability of health care services for patients.
- Put patients and physicians, not lawyers and courtrooms, at the center of a reformed system
  - 2. Enhance patient safety
- Promote robust reporting of errors in a safe environment.
- Promote system-level responsibility for errors through organization-based financial incentives for improvement, such as self-insurance and experience rating.
- Involve patients in safety improvement efforts.
  - 3. Maintain access to liability insurance
- Improve predictability of liability costs
- Increase affordability of high-dollar liability coverage.
- Decrease the administrative costs of resolving disputes.
  - 4. Assess cost impact
- Generate definitive data regarding error rates, claims rates, compensation costs, and administrative costs under various state systems for identifying avoidable errors and related compensation formulas.
- Analyze and compare data within and across states.

### **DEMONSTRATION ATTRIBUTES**

Both liability reform options outlined earlier require the following actions by participating states, with federal grants for up-front costs and technical assistance, as well as waiver authority if necessary:

- Infrastructure—The state would develop and maintain objective indicators of avoidable errors (ACEs), relying on experts, a broader and more participatory process, or a combination of the two. The state also would develop and maintain fair, consistent methods (schedules) for calculating economic harm and reasonable compensation for pain and suffering. Both the ACEs and the schedules would need to be updated on a regular basis, with ACE categories expanding over time to encompass the large majority of avoidable injuries. There also would need to be centralized collection of data related to the state-level demonstrations. To help states in developing ACEs and damage schedules, DHHS should provide support for related grants to the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA) or the Agency for Health Care Research and Quality (AHRQ).
- Legal environment—States would need to authorize statutory or contractual modifications of tort liability
  to reflect the terms of the option they select, as well as to create clear, narrow exceptions to the
  malpractice reform (e.g., intentional harm). The state would also need to protect from legal exposure
  individuals and organizations acting in good faith to implement the demonstration approach (e.g., health
  plans and employers negotiating group contracts on behalf of enrollees). And to make the demonstration
  affordable, states would need to prevent

health insurers, disability insurers, and other parties who pay costs incurred by patients suffering compensable injuries from suing health care providers to recover those payments (i.e., barring subrogation claims). Finally, states would need to ensure that apologies and other systematic communications, such as mediated discussions between providers and patients following the occurrence of an avoidable injury, do not increase providers' financial liability or legal exposure.

- Patient safety reporting systems—States would establish oversight mechanisms to verify the detection of injuries and disclosure to patients. The specifics of these mechanisms would depend on whether the claims resolution system operates at the state-wide or institutional level (i.e., upon the demonstration option selected). These mechanisms would build upon existing state reporting requirements. States would also need to establish mechanisms for collecting and analyzing patient safety data, including voluntary, confidential reporting of near misses. Federal legislation currently under consideration by Congress would aid this process if enacted. The collection and reporting of patient safety information would need to rely on computer-based monitoring systems within health care institutions. With time and experience, these systems could be linked to decision support and knowledge management systems that would help prevent errors from occurring in the first place. Federal technical assistance would be available for these activities.
- Education—The states would be charged with educating the public about the benefits and costs of liability
  reform, which offers faster, fairer, surer compensation on the one hand but requires waiving the right to a
  court trial on the other. States would also need to work with the principal stakeholder groups (e.g.,
  consumer organizations, health care providers) to build familiarity with and trust in the public policy
  goals of the option selected, and to allay concerns about the constraints imposed by the demonstration.

### **Option 1: Provider-Based Early Payments**

### **Eligibility**

A variety of health care provider organizations could participate in such a demonstration, including hospitals, academic health centers, large medical groups, closed-panel HMOs, and skilled nursing facilities. Independent physicians might decide to affiliate with provider organizations (sometimes called "channeling") in order to participate in a demonstration and receive liability protection.

### **Participating Provider Responsibilities**

Provider organizations would first need to self-insure their liability risk, or purchase experience-rated primary coverage so that the organization benefits (or not) from how well they reduce the number of avoidable injuries. They would also need to inform patients about their participation in the demonstration, providing contractual notice of modified liability (perhaps through payers at the point of health insurance enrollment) (Moore and Hoff, 1986; O'Connell and Bryan, 2000–2001). It is likely that mandatory patient participation as a condition of treatment would best serve the goals of the demonstration for states adopting the provider-based early payment option. However, a state might choose, for legal, political, or other reasons, to allow patients to opt out of the reformed system at the time of health insurance enrollment or hospital admission (i.e., preinjury), or might modify the early payment system in special situations (e.g., emergency care).

Should a specific avoidable event (ACE) cause injury, providers would need to notify patients promptly; express regret; and tender payment for both net economic harm (medical care, lost wages, lost domestic production, with collateral source offset) and capped, scheduled noneconomic harm (pain and suffering). Provid

ers also would be permitted, but not required, to tender similar payments in other cases of avoidable medical injury that do not fit into an ACE category, thereby gaining immunity from suit. Because providers would be required to comply with external oversight and error reporting obligations, states would be able to monitor early payment practices to determine the circumstances under which providers are voluntarily tendering or not tendering early payment. In terms of patient safety, providers would need to offer patients meaningful opportunities to participate in efforts designed to reduce error (e.g., mediated discussions with patient safety committees regarding their experiences).

### **Government Responsibilities**

The state would protect participating provider organizations from tort liability in cases where payment is promptly tendered. States, either directly or through intermediary organizations, would ensure that organizations reliably inform patients in all instances of avoidable injury. The federal government would provide reinsurance or other umbrella coverage as an incentive for provider organizations to self-insure and channel coverage for affiliated physicians, with shared-risk corridors or similar safeguards against moral hazard. The federal government should consider whether additional funds should be made available in the event that the early payment system is more expensive than the current system.

In addition to the general support described above, DHHS might provide technical assistance to states establishing oversight mechanisms for captive insurance companies or risk-retention groups formed by provider organizations. Finally, DHHS would create "safe harbor" protection under the antikickback statute so that hospitals and other provider organizations can offer shared, subsidized liability coverage to affiliated physicians.

### **Option 2: Statewide Administrative Resolution**

### **Eligibility**

All licensed health care providers (professional and institutional) within a state (or large geographic area within a state) would participate. States might explore including health plans and other potentially liable parties as well.

### **Provider Responsibilities**

Providers, along with the state, would notify patients about the state's modified liability system and give them related information. No pre-injury opt-out would be available under this option. Providers also would need to set up systems to detect errors and disclose them to patients and to provide related apologies. For injuries to patients that fall within the scope of the demonstration, providers or their liability carriers would be responsible for paying amounts determined by the publicly administered adjudication system in the manner authorized by that system.

### **Government Responsibilities**

States would need to create a publicly administered adjudication system, with each state having latitude to determine how it will do so. Key elements of such a system include the following:

- Compensation criteria based on avoidability (e.g., expansion over time of established ACEs categories)
- A definition of compensation that combines net economic harm (medical care, lost wages, lost domestic production, with collateral source offset) and capped, scheduled noneconomic harm (pain and suffering)
- Injury thresholds (days of hospitalization, days of disability, total economic loss)

- An administrative system of adjudication for determining eligibility and compensation in individual cases
- A consumer and provider appeals mechanism
- A multidisciplinary expert panel, including consumer representatives to oversee the system

DHHS would provide start-up funding for the administrative adjudication system, with the understanding that there will eventually be a transition to a provider surcharge with federal matching funds. This might be done using HRSA or AHRQ grants to states in amounts sufficient to cover the operating costs of calculating payments and resolving disputes, as well as initial expenses associated with defining compensable events and developing damage schedules.

As states develop the infrastructure needed for the demonstrations, they would need to work with stakeholder groups, including consumer advocacy groups, to anticipate and avoid state constitutional challenges and other implementation delays. The states would also need to put in place a system for funding compensation payments that maintains financial incentives for safety improvement within health care organizations, possibly modeled on workers' compensation systems that segment employers according to size and structure into tiers of class-rated individual risk, commercially insured (experience-rated) risk, and self-insured risk. Pooling of individual risks might best be handled in the long run by a state fund supported by physician surcharges and administered by private entities under contract to the state. For practicality, however, demonstration sites should encourage liability carriers that currently insure individual clinicians to accept essentially all applicants, with discounts for meaningful patient safety activities.

Finally, the federal government would guarantee fiscal neutrality from the state's and its providers' perspectives to account for the possibility that a comprehensive system that identifies and compensates avoidable injury may be more expensive than the current patchwork system of tort litigation. As part of this guarantee, appropriate maintenance-of-effort and other design safeguards would need to be in place.

#### REFERENCES

Abraham, K.S., and P.C.Weiler. 1994. Enterprise Medical Liability and the Evolution of the American Health Care System. *Harv Law Rev* 108 (2):381–436.

American College of Physicians. 1995. Beyond MI-CRA: New Ideas for Liability Reform. Ann Intern Med 122 (6):466-73.

Bovbjerg, R.R., R.H.Miller, and D.W.Shapiro. 2001. Paths to Reducing Medical Injury: Professional Liability and Discipline Vs. Patient Safety-and the Need for a Third Way. *J Law Med Ethics* 29 (3–4):369–80.

Bovbjerg, R.R., and F.A.Sloan. 1998. No-Fault for Medical Injury: Theory and Evidence. *University of Cincinnati Law Review* 67 (1):53–123. Bovbjerg, R.R., F.A.Sloan, and J.F.Blumstein. 1989. Valuing Life and Limb in Tort: Scheduling "Pain and Suffering". *Northwestern University Law Review* 83:908–76.

Cohen, J.R. 2000. Apology and Organizations: Exploring an Example From Medical Practice. Fordham Urban Law Journal 27 (5):1447–82. Danzon, P.M. 1985. Medical Malpractice: Theory, Evidence and Public Policy. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

. 2000. Liability for Medical Malpractice. In Handbook of Health Economics, 1B. Amsterdam: Elsevier.

Fishback, P.V. and S.E.Kantor. 2000. A Prelude to the Welfare State: The Origins of Workers' Compensation. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Havighurst, C.C. 1995. Health Care Choices: Private Contracts As Instruments of Health Reform. Washington, D.C.: AEI Press. Institute of Medicine. 2000. To Err Is Human: Building a Safer Health System, eds. L.T.Kohn, J.

- M.Corrigan , and M.S.Donaldson. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.
- . 2001. Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington DC: National Academy Press.
- Kakalik, J.S. and N.M.Pace. 1986. Costs and Compensation Paid in Tort Litigation. No. R-3391-ICJ. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Institute.
- Kramer, O. and R.Briffault. 1991. Workers Compensation: Strengthening the Social Compact. New York, NY: Insurance Information Institute Press.
- Localio, A.R., A.G.Lawthers, T.A.Brennan, N. M.Laird, L.E.Hebert, L.M.Peterson, J.P. Newhouse, P.C.Weiler, and H.H.Hiatt. 1991. Relation Between Malpractice Claims and Adverse Events Due to Negligence. Results of the Harvard Medical Practice Study III. N Engl J Med 325 (4):245–51.
- Moore, W.H., and J.S.Hoff. 1986. H.R. 3084: a More Rational Compensation System for Medical Malpractice. *Law Contemp Probl* 49 (2):117–24.
- O'Connell, J. 1982. Offers That Can't Be Refused: Foreclosure of Personal Injury Claims by Defendants' Prompt Tender of Claimants' Net Economic Losses. *Northwestern University Law Review* 77:589–632.
- ——. 1986. Neo-No-Fault Remedies for Medical Injuries: Coordinated Statutory and Contractual Alternatives. Law Contemp Probl 49 (2):125–41.
- O'Connell, J., and P.B.Bryan. 2000–2001. More Hippocrates, Less Hypocrisy: "Early Offers" As a Means of Implementing the Institute of Medicine's Recommendations on Malpractice Law. *Journal Law Health* 15 (1):23–51.
- Petersen, S.K. 1995. No-Fault and Enterprise Liability: the View From Utah. Ann Intern Med 122 (6):462-3.
- Sage, W.M. 1997. Enterprise Liability and the Emerging Managed Health Care System. Law Contemp Probl 60 (2):159–210.
  - 2002. Putting the Patient in Patient Safety: Linking Patient Complaints and Malpractice Risk. JAMA 287 (22):3003–5.
- Sage, W.M., K.E.Hastings, and R.A.Berenson. 1994. Enterprise Liability for Medical Malpractice and Health Care Quality Improvement . Am J Law Med 20 (1–2):1–28.
- Sloan, F.A., R.R.Bovberg, and P.B.Githens. 1991. Insuring Medical Malpractice. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Studdert, D.M., and T.A.Brennan. 2001a. Toward a Workable Model of "No-Fault" Compensation for Medical Injury in the United States. *Am J Law Med* 27 (2–3):225–52.
- \_\_\_\_\_\_. 2001b. No-Fault Compensation for Medical Injuries: the Prospect for Error Prevention. JAMA 286 (2):217–23.
- Tancredi, L.R., and R.R.Bovbjerg. 1991. Rethinking Responsibility for Patient Injury: Accelerated-Compensation Events, a Malpractice and Quality Reform Ripe for a Test. *Law Contemp Probl* 54 (1–2):Spring 147–77.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2002. "Confronting the New Health Care Crisis: Improving Health Care Quality and Lowering Costs By Fixing Our Medical Liability System." Online. Available at <a href="http://aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/litrefm.pdf">http://aspe.hhs.gov/daltcp/reports/litrefm.pdf</a> [accessed Oct. 1, 2002].

### Glossary and Acronym List

### **GLOSSARY**

**Chronic condition.** A condition that requires ongoing medical care, including monitoring, treatment, and coordination

among multiple providers; limits what one can do; and is likely to last longer than 1 year. Examples

include diabetes, cancer, and cardiovascular disease (Partnership for Solutions, 2002).

Clinicians. Individual health care providers, such as physicians, nurse practitioners, nurses, physician assistants,

and others.

**Providers.** Refers to both institutional providers of health care services (e.g., health plans, health maintenance

organizations [HMOs], hospitals, nursing homes) and clinicians (e.g., physicians, nurse

practitioners, nurses, physician assistants).

Quality. The degree to which health services for individuals and populations increase the likelihood of

desired health outcomes and are consistent with current professional knowledge (Institute of

Medicine, 1990).

GLOSSARY AND ACRONYM LIST 92

**Quality aims.** Six dimensions of quality that constitute the goals of the health system (Institute of Medicine, 2001):

- Safe—avoiding injuries to patients from the care that is intended to help them.
- *Effective*—providing services based on scientific knowledge to all who could benefit and refraining from providing services to those not likely to benefit (avoiding underuse and overuse, respectively).
- *Patient-centered*—providing care that is respectful of and responsive to individual patient preferences, needs, and values and ensuring that patient values guide all clinical decisions.
  - Timely—reducing waits and sometimes harmful delays for both those who receive and those who give care.
  - Efficient—avoiding waste, including waste of equipment, supplies, ideas, and energy.
- *Equitable*—providing care that does not vary in quality because of personal characteristics such as gender, ethnicity, geographic location, and socioeconomic status.

**Quality (or perfor-**These include measures of patient perspectives on care, clinical quality, and patient outcomes:
mance) measures.

- Measures of patient perspectives include patients' assessment of and satisfaction with their access to and interactions with the care delivery system (e.g., waiting times, information received from providers, choice of providers).
- Measures of clinical quality are specific quantitative indicators designated to identify whether the care provided conforms to established treatment goals and care processes for specific clinical presentations. Clinical quality measures generally consist of a descriptive statement or indicator (e.g., the rate of beta blocker usage after heart attack, the 30-day mortality rate following coronary artery bypass graft surgery), a list of data elements that are necessary to construct and/or report the measure, detailed specifications that direct how the data elements are to be collected (including the source of data), the population on whom the measure is constructed, the timing of data collection and reporting, the analytic models used to construct the measure, and the format in which the results will be presented. Measures may also include thresholds, standards, or other benchmarks of performance (McGlynn, 2002).
  - Measures of patient outcomes include mortality, morbidity, and physical and mental functioning.

### ACRONYM LIST

ACEs avoidable classes of events or accelerated compensation events

AHRQ Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

BPHC Bureau of Primary Health Care
CHC Community Health Center

CHII Consolidated Health Informatics Initiative
CMS Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services
DHHS U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
DICOM Digital Imaging and Communications in Medicine

FFS fee-for-service FPL federal poverty level

FQHC Federally-Qualified Health Center

HIPAA Health Insurance and Portability Act of 1996

HL7 Health Level 7

HMO health maintenance organization

HRSA Health Resources and Services Administration
ICT information and communications technology
IEEE Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers

INPC Indiana Network for Patient Care

IOM Institute of Medicine

ISDI Integrated Service Development Initiative

NCPDP National Council for Prescription Drug Programs

NEHEN New England Healthcare EDI [electronic data interchange] Network

NLM National Library of Medicine

PSI Patient Safety Initiative RFP request for proposals

SCHIP State Children's Health Insurance Program

VHA Veterans Health Administration